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  INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT   

 

 

To The Shareholders and Board of Directors of G Steel Public Company Limited 

 

Opinion 
 

I have audited the consolidated financial statements of G Steel Public Company Limited and its 

subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the separate financial statements of G Steel Public Company 

Limited. (the “Company”) which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial 

position as of December 31, 2019, the related consolidated and separate statements of changes in  

equity, comprehensive income and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 

In my opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in 

all material respects, the financial position of G Steel Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries 

and of G Steel Public Company Limited as of December 31, 2019, and financial performance and 

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards 

(“TFRSs”). 
 

Basis for Opinion  
 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing (“TSAs”). My responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent of the 

Group in accordance with the Federation of Accounting Professions under the royal Patronage of 

his Majesty the King’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants together with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to my audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 

and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.        

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

my opinion. 
  



 

 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
 

As described in note 1.2 to the financial statements, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 part of 

financial position of the Group and the Company are as follows; 
 

  Million Baht 

   The Group   Company 

Risk effected to  As of December 31,  As of December 31, 

the going concern  2019  2018  2019  2018 

(1) Profit(Loss) for the years  1,457  (2,358)  3,345  (1,810) 

(2) Deficit  22,253  24,900  24,304  27,649 

(3) Current liabilities exceed          

current assets  2,154  13,691  3,467  15,265 

(4) Equity attributable to          

     owners of the Company 

     (Capital deficiency) 

(5) EBITDA 

  

7,014 

4,416 

  

172 

609 

  

4,963 

5,027 

  

(2,577) 

(256) 

 

These were affected by various factors including the asset devaluation from partial assets appraisal, 

the default payment on the debt restructuring plan, the meeting of the Company’s Shareholders has 

resolved the disapproval its business rehabilitation plan according to the Debts to Equity 

Conversion Plan by a way of allocation and offering of the newly issued ordinary shares of the 

Company according to the Debts to Equity Conversion Scheme as agreed with a new creditor, the 

fluctuation of global economics and the dumping of goods from foreign steel manufacturers. 

Subsequently during the year 2019, the Company has negotiating debt restructuring with new 

creditor by which of conversion debts-to-equity in successfully as described in note 1.3 and note 28 

to the financial statements combination with the providing credit facility for additional working 

capital as described in note 17 to the financial statements. However as of December 31, 2019, the 

Group and the Company still have current liabilities exceeding current assets of Baht 2,154 million 

and of Baht 3,467 million respectively. These factors may cause the significant doubt on going 

concern of the Group and the Company. 

 

However, my opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

  



 

 

Key Audit Matters  

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgment, were of most significance in 

my audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters 

were addressed in the context of my audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a 

whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these 

matters. In addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

section, I have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be 

communicated in my report. 

 

Key Audit Matters included Audited Procedures are as follows: 

 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

 

As describe in notes 4(h), 4(k) and 13 to the financial statements, the Group’s and the Company’s 

property, plant and equipment which are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses are significant amount. The management exercise judgment in determining the 

impairment loss due to the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment is determined 

on value in use by estimate future cash flows that the entity expects to derive from the assets which 

related to the projection of future operating performance, future plan and determination of an 

appropriate discount rate and key assumptions. Therefore, I have identified that considering the 

impairment loss of property, plant and equipment is the significant matter that requires special 

attention in the audit. 

 

My audit procedure on such matter 

 

I verified the impairment of property, plant and equipment by consider and assess the reasonable 

and supportable assumptions and approaches in preparation of the estimate of future cash inflows 

or outflows which the Group and the Company expected to derive from the continuing use of the 

property, plant and equipment. Including assess the Group and the Company’s reasonable discount 

rate which used for calculation of the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment and 

considered the adequacy of the information disclosure related to impairment of property, plant and 

equipment. 

 

Other Information  

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the 

information included in the annual report of the Group, but does not include the financial 

statements and my auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available to me after the 

date of this auditor’s report. 

 

My opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other 

information and I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with my audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, my 

responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 

statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 

When I read the annual report, if I conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, I am 

required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and the management of the 

Group. 

 

  



 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 

and Separate Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and 

separate financial statements in accordance with TFRSs, and for such internal control as 

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, management is responsible for 

assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and the Company’s 

financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements  

 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate 

financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 

and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 

assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with TSAs will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate 

financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with TSAs, I exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also:  
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 

the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and the Company to cease to 

continue as a going concern.  



 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate 

financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements. I am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 

the group audit. I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion. 

 

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 

in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 

I also provide those charged with governance with a statement that I have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, 

related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, I determine those matters 

that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of 

the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. I describe these matters in my auditor’s 

report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 

rare circumstances, I determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report because the 

adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication. 

 

 

 

(NATSARAK SAROCHANUNJEEN) 

Certified Public Accountant 

Registration No. 4563 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A.M.T. & ASSOCIATES  

Bangkok, Thailand 

February 26, 2020 



G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statements of financial position

Assets Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7, 43 464,124,155           258,184,077           39,825,158            56,909,750            

Temporary investment-trading security 4,940,906               11,495,626             4,940,906              11,495,626            

Trade accounts receivable 5, 6, 8 35,971,335             13,804,613             29,774,823            5,764,325              

Amounts receivable from related parties 5 -                         -                         3,872,050              3,871,100              

Inventories 9 2,632,038,201        4,611,490,629        1,265,428,245       662,096,219          

Other current assets 5, 6, 10 453,052,255           565,994,428           367,893,069          303,654,937          

Total current assets 3,590,126,852        5,460,969,373        1,711,734,251       1,043,791,957       

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 11 -                         -                         1,543,962,782 3,111,541,427       

Advance payment for purchases of property, plant

   and equipment 12 210,000,000 210,000,000           -                         -                         

Property, plant and equipment 13 21,859,607,733      24,384,466,002      8,810,335,193       10,545,642,379     

Intangible assets 14 9,188,016               11,539,972             2,693,946              4,405,238              

Other non-current assets 5, 6, 16 731,533,456           565,467,084           391,348,111          235,401,846          

Total non-current assets 22,810,329,205      25,171,473,058      10,748,340,032     13,896,990,890     

Total assets 26,400,456,057      30,632,442,431      12,460,074,283     14,940,782,847     

Consolidated Separate  

 financial statements

(in Baht)

 financial statements

As at 31 December As at 31 December

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statements of financial position

Liabilities and equity Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

Current liabilities

Current portion of Long-term loans from financial institution 18, 43 -                         212,503,281           -                         212,503,281          

Trade accounts payable 5, 6, 18, 20, 43 960,912,393           2,339,818,594        627,587,833          312,488,990          

Amount due to related parties 5 -                         -                         91,699,689 91,699,689

Current portion of liabilities from terminated 

   rehabilitation plan and compromise 5, 18, 26 487,934,137 659,013,001 317,810,467 478,999,830

Current portion of long-term loan from related party 5, 18, 19 314,000,000           314,000,000           314,000,000          314,000,000          

Current portion of bonds 18, 43 470,511,788           505,933,824           470,511,788          505,933,824          

Short-term loan from related parties 5, 18, 19 811,362,306           1,269,363,868        1,124,319,573       1,150,508,935       

Short-term loan from other parties 18 -                         107,424,045           -                         107,424,045          

Loan from shareholder 5 3,850,000               3,850,000               3,850,000              3,850,000              

Advances received from customers 5, 22, 44.4 130,671,595           42,665,704             110,871,828          9,983,207              

Other payables and accrued expenses 5, 6, 18, 21 1,428,344,684        7,440,181,306        1,099,897,493       6,792,119,159       

Accrued interest expenses 23 693,557,138           5,473,956,815        864,949,701          5,628,012,853       

Provisions 24 106,292,596           434,458,440           87,117,283            636,159,564          

Other current liabilities 5, 19, 25 336,961,618           348,858,799           66,349,852            65,250,408            

Total current liabilities 5,744,398,255        19,152,027,677      5,178,965,507       16,308,933,785     

Non-current liabilities

Long-term loans from financial institution 18, 43 -                         -                         -                         -                         

Liabilities from terminated rehabilitation plan and compromise 5, 18, 26 217,751,857           -                         217,751,857          -                         

Long-term loan from related party 5, 18, 19 1,934,155,494        1,117,518,130        885,131,949          1,086,448,332       

Other payables and accrued expenses 5, 18, 21 1,137,215,015        117,928,412           1,137,215,015       59,851,345            

Employee benefit obligations 27 184,065,264           143,059,052           78,379,377            62,918,427            

Other non-current liabilities 950,062                  1,388,843               -                         -                         

Total non-current liabilities 3,474,137,692        1,379,894,437        2,318,478,198       1,209,218,104       

Total liabilities 9,218,535,947        20,531,922,114      7,497,443,705       17,518,151,889     

 financial statements

Consolidated Separate  

As at 31 December

(in Baht)

 financial statements

As at 31 December

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statements of financial position

Liabilities and equity Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

Equity

Share capital 28

   Authorised share capital 158,059,755,140   48,775,743,730     158,059,755,140  48,775,743,730    

   Issued and paid-up share capital 144,643,827,160   34,250,904,820     144,643,827,160  34,250,904,820    

Warrants 30 -                         14,049,679            -                        14,049,679           

Additional (Discount) paid in capital:

    Share discount 28 (116,361,266,965)  (10,163,275,674)    (116,361,266,965) (10,163,275,674)   

    Premium on capital reduction 206,307,094          206,307,094          206,307,094         206,307,094         

Retained earnings (deficit)

    Appropriated:

       Legal reserve 29 763,976,886          763,976,886          763,976,886         763,976,886         

    Unappropriated (22,253,294,756)    (24,899,544,506)    (24,304,263,276)   (27,649,331,847)   

Other components of equity 29 14,049,679            -                         14,049,679           -                        

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 7,013,599,098       172,418,299          4,962,630,578      (2,577,369,042)     

Non-controlling interests 10,168,321,012     9,928,102,018       -                         -                         

Total equity (Capital deficiency) 17,181,920,110     10,100,520,317     4,962,630,578      (2,577,369,042)     

Total liabilities and equity 26,400,456,057      30,632,442,431      12,460,074,283     14,940,782,847     

 financial statements

(in Baht)

Consolidated

As at 31 December

Separate  

 financial statements

As at 31 December

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statements of comprehensive  income

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

Income

Revenue from sale 5, 6, 31 17,416,417,795      29,965,744,118      4,494,156,853       55,981,953            

Revenue from service  - Tolling -                         -                         274,235,241          3,870,924,615       

Reversal of bad and doubtful debts expense 36 13,554,115             -                         89,956,313            9,092,929              

Reversal of provision for a guarantee of subsidiary 24 -                         -                         242,266,277          -                         

Net foreign exchange gains 976,030,090           197,030,561           683,702,192          83,374,885            

Gain from debt restructuring 32 5,505,991,604        -                         5,505,991,604       -                         

Gain from compromise debt 86,334,435             -                         86,334,435            -                         

Gain from decreased capital of investment in subsidiary 11 -                         -                         1,130,110,336       -                         

Other incomes 118,537,891           178,555,798           33,914,617            12,761,234            

Total income 24,116,865,930      30,341,330,477      12,540,667,868     4,032,135,616       

Expenses

Cost of sale

     - Cost of goods sold 5, 6 18,225,267,129      29,635,851,220      4,757,698,323       58,786,791            

     - Idle cost 1,031,503,026        400,183,219           789,651,230          274,818,859          

     - Loss on devaluation of inventories (Reversal of) 9 20,966,163            159,314,204          93,768,892           (1,159,236)            

Total Cost of sale 19,277,736,318 30,195,348,643 5,641,118,445 332,446,414

Cost of services - Tolling -                         -                         283,876,066          4,392,032,943       

Selling expenses 33 238,841,441           365,224,430           64,466,422            3,628,946              

Administrative expenses 5, 34 940,093,555           843,319,164           377,527,407          154,573,633          

Provision for loss on purchase orders

    for undelivered raw material 24 65,727,443             40,565,153             87,117,283            -                         

Bad and doubtful debts expense 36 -                         9,586,140               -                         -                         

Loss from sale of fixed assets 13 946,468,146           -                         946,468,146          -                         

Other expenses 38 51,359,987            144,047,447           958,182,130          277,642,865          

Finance costs 40 1,139,327,842        1,101,535,144        836,843,398          682,122,679          

Total expenses 39 22,659,554,732      32,699,626,121      9,195,599,297       5,842,447,480       

Profit (loss) before income tax expense 1,457,311,198       (2,358,295,644)      3,345,068,571      (1,810,311,864)     

Income tax expense 41 -                         -                         -                         -                         

Profit (loss) for the years 1,457,311,198       (2,358,295,644)      3,345,068,571      (1,810,311,864)     

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the years -                         -                         -                         -                        

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the years 1,457,311,198       (2,358,295,644)      3,345,068,571      (1,810,311,864)     

For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December

Separate  

(in Baht)

 financial statements financial statements

Consolidated

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statements of  comprehensive income

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

Profit (loss) attributable to :

     Owners of the Company 2,646,249,750       (1,662,467,063)      3,345,068,571      (1,810,311,864)     

     Non-controlling interests (1,188,938,552)      (695,828,581)         -                        -                        

Profit (loss) for the years 1,457,311,198       (2,358,295,644)      3,345,068,571      (1,810,311,864)     

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:

   Owners of the Company 2,646,249,750       (1,662,467,063)      3,345,068,571      (1,810,311,864)     

   Non-controlling interests (1,188,938,552)      (695,828,581)         -                        -                        

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the years 1,457,311,198       (2,358,295,644)      3,345,068,571      (1,810,311,864)     

Profit (loss) per share 42

Basic profit (loss) per share 0.31                       (0.24)                      0.39                      (0.26)                     

Consolidated Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements

For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December

(in Baht)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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G Steel Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Statements of changes in equity

Other components Equity
Issued and of equity attributable to Non-

paid-up Share Premium on Legal Paid in capital  owners of controlling Total equity
Note share capital Warrants discount capital reduction reserve Unappropriated from expire warrants the Company interests (Capital deficiency)

For the Year ended 31 December 2019

Balance as at 1 January 2019 34,250,904,820        14,049,679      (10,163,275,674)      206,307,094      763,976,886    (24,899,544,506)     -                        172,418,299         9,928,102,018      10,100,520,317     

Transactions  with owners, recorded directly in equity

   Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

Acquisition of non-controlling interests without a change in control

   Issue of ordinary shares of subsidiary to non-controlling interests 11 -                         -                 -                         -                   -                  -                        -                        -                      1,429,157,546      1,429,157,546       

   Total changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries -                            -                  -                            -                     -                   -                          -                          -                        1,429,157,546       1,429,157,546       

   Contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company

   Debt-to-equity conversion 28 110,392,922,340      -                  (106,197,991,291)    -                   -                  -                        -                        4,194,931,049      -                      4,194,931,049       

   Termination of warrants 29 -                         (14,049,679)    -                         -                   -                  -                        14,049,679             -                        -                      -                        

   Total contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company 110,392,922,340      (14,049,679)    (106,197,991,291)    -                     -                   -                          14,049,679             4,194,931,049       -                        4,194,931,049       

Total transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 110,392,922,340      (14,049,679)    (106,197,991,291)    -                     -                   -                          14,049,679             4,194,931,049      1,429,157,546      5,624,088,595       

Comprehensive income (loss) for the years

    Profit (loss) for the years -                         -                 -                         -                   -                  2,646,249,750        -                        2,646,249,750      (1,188,938,552)     1,457,311,198       

    Other comprehensive income (loss) -                         -                 -                         -                   -                  -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the years -                            -                   -                            -                     -                   2,646,249,750        -                           2,646,249,750      (1,188,938,552)     1,457,311,198       

Balance as at 31 December 2019 144,643,827,160      -                   (116,361,266,965)    206,307,094      763,976,886     (22,253,294,756)     14,049,679              7,013,599,098      10,168,321,012     17,181,920,110     

Consolidated financial statements

Additional (Discount) paid in capital Retained earnings (deficit)

(in Baht)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 6



G Steel Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Statements of changes in equity

Other components Equity
Issued and of equity attributable to Non-

paid-up Share Premium on Legal Paid in capital  owners of controlling Total equity
Note share capital Warrants discount capital reduction reserve Unappropriated from expire warrants the Company interests (Capital deficiency)

Consolidated financial statements

Additional (Discount) paid in capital Retained earnings (deficit)

For the Year ended 31 December 2018

Balance as at 1 January 2018 34,250,904,820        14,049,679      (10,163,275,674)      206,307,094      763,976,886    (23,098,903,934)     -                        1,973,058,871       10,417,757,090    12,390,815,961     

Transactions  with owners, recorded directly in equity

   Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

Acquisition of non-controlling interests without a change in control

   Sale of shares in subsidiary to non-controlling interests 11 -                         -                 -                         -                   -                  (138,173,509)          -                        (138,173,509)        206,173,509          68,000,000            

   Total changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries -                         -                 -                         -                     -                   (138,173,509)          -                           (138,173,509)        206,173,509         68,000,000            

Total transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity -                           -                  -                           -                     -                   (138,173,509)          -                          (138,173,509)        206,173,509         68,000,000            

Comprehensive income (loss) for the years

    Profit (loss) for the years -                         -                 -                         -                   -                  (1,662,467,063)       -                        (1,662,467,063)     (695,828,581)        (2,358,295,644)     

    Other comprehensive income (loss) -                         -                 -                         -                   -                  -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the years -                            -                   -                            -                     -                   (1,662,467,063)       -                           (1,662,467,063)     (695,828,581)        (2,358,295,644)     

Balance as at 31 December 2018 34,250,904,820        14,049,679      (10,163,275,674)      206,307,094      763,976,886     (24,899,544,506)     -                           172,418,299         9,928,102,018       10,100,520,317     

(in Baht)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 7



G Steel Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Statements of changes in equity

Other components

Issued and of equity Total equity
paid-up Share Premium on Legal Paid in capital of the Company 

Note share capital Warrants discount capital reduction reserve Unappropriated from expire warrants (Capital deficiency)

For the Year ended 31 December 2019

Balance at 1 January 2019 34,250,904,820       14,049,679              (10,163,275,674)     206,307,094            763,976,886            (27,649,331,847)     -                            (2,577,369,042)         

Transactions  with owners, recorded directly in equity

   Contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company

   Debt-to-equity conversion 28 110,392,922,340     -                          (106,197,991,291)   -                         -                         -                          -                           4,194,931,049           

   Termination of warrants 29 -                         (14,049,679)            -                         -                         -                         -                          14,049,679                -                            

   Total contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company 110,392,922,340     (14,049,679)            (106,197,991,291)   -                          -                          -                          14,049,679                4,194,931,049           

Total transactions  with owners, recorded directly in equity 110,392,922,340     (14,049,679)            (106,197,991,291)   -                         -                         -                         14,049,679                4,194,931,049           

Comprehensive income (loss) for the years

    Income (loss) for the years -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         3,345,068,571         -                           3,345,068,571           

    Other comprehensive income (loss) -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                           -                            

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the years -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          3,345,068,571         -                            3,345,068,571           

Balance at 31 December 2019 144,643,827,160     -                          (116,361,266,965)   206,307,094            763,976,886            (24,304,263,276)     14,049,679                4,962,630,578           

Separate financial statements

Additional (Discount) paid in capital Retained earnings (deficit)

(in Baht)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 8



G Steel Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Statements of changes in equity

Other components

Issued and of equity Total equity
paid-up Share Premium on Legal Paid in capital of the Company 

share capital Warrants discount capital reduction reserve Unappropriated from expire warrants (Capital deficiency)

For the Year ended 31 December 2018

Balance at 1 January 2018 34,250,904,820       14,049,679              (10,163,275,674)     206,307,094            763,976,886            (25,839,019,983)     -                            (767,057,178)            

Transactions  with owners, recorded directly in equity -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                           -                           

Comprehensive income (loss) for the years

    Income (loss) for the years -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         (1,810,311,864)       -                           (1,810,311,864)         

    Other comprehensive income (loss) -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                          -                           -                            

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the years -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          (1,810,311,864)       -                            (1,810,311,864)         

Balance at 31 December 2018 34,250,904,820       14,049,679              (10,163,275,674)     206,307,094            763,976,886            (27,649,331,847)     -                            (2,577,369,042)         

(in Baht)

Separate financial statements

Additional (Discount) paid in capital Retained earnings (deficit)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 9



G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Statements of cash flows

2019 2018 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit (loss) for the years 1,457,311,198       (2,358,295,644)     3,345,068,571       (1,810,311,864)     

Adjustments for

Depreciation and amortisation 1,819,252,315       1,865,349,912       844,783,315          871,763,286          

Unrealized gain on exchange rate (617,072,813)        (96,321,391)          (453,232,519)        (58,325,114)          

Gain on exchange rate form debt to equity conversion (449,701,879)        -                        (449,701,879)        -                        

Loss on adjustment in value of  securities 6,137,766              927,299                 6,137,766              927,299                 

Gain from compromise debt (86,334,435)          -                        (86,334,435)          -                        

Gain from decreased capital of investment in subsidiary -                        -                        (1,130,110,336)     -                        

Gain from debt restructuring (337,037,447)        (677,203)               (337,037,447)        -                        

Gain from debt to equity conversion (5,168,954,157)     -                        (5,168,954,157)     -                        

Gain from write-off the expired legal prescription of liabilities - net (10,387,557)          (119,077,086)        -                        -                        

Loss on devaluation of inventories (Reversal of) 20,966,163            159,314,204          93,768,892            (1,159,236)            

Loss on confirmed purchase orders for raw material 65,727,443            40,565,153            87,117,283            -                        

Bad and doubtful debts expense  (Reversal of) (13,554,115)          9,586,140              (89,956,313)          (9,092,929)            

Loss on impairment of assets -                        41,603,214            -                        41,606,738            

Loss on impairment of investment in subsidiaries -                        -                        897,688,981          126,064,778          

Loss on written off of assets 950,573,153          163,549                 946,468,146          468                        

Provision for court case claim 34,822,207            99,878,465            34,822,207            99,878,465            

Provision for a gurantee of subsidiary (Reversal of) -                        -                        (242,266,277)        914,602                 

Witholding tax write-off 933                        38,896,562            933                        38,873,228            

Finance costs 1,139,327,842       1,101,535,144       836,843,398          682,122,679          

Interest income (3,170,957)            (5,983,225)            (388,373)               (386,765)               

Dividend income -                        (208,590) -                        (208,590)               

Employee benefit obligations 56,054,212            13,306,584            27,002,950            5,205,235              

(1,136,040,128)     790,563,087          (838,279,294)        (12,127,720)          

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Trade accounts receivable (22,198,069)          34,394,987            (24,041,845)          99,236,912            

Amount due from related parties -                        -                        (950)                      24,715,253            

Inventories 1,958,486,265       (660,628,983)        (697,100,918)        187,403,400          

Other current assets 87,974,712            113,562,928          (88,948,441)          172,570,011          

Other non-current assets (271,570,688)        (141,589,028)        (187,037,559)        4,343,735              

Trade accounts payable (948,380,823)        1,200,110,419       728,816,522          (34,559,085)          

Advances received from customers 88,005,892            (158,873,781)        100,888,622          (166,169,694)        

Other payable and accrued expenses (332,057,569)        (176,340,592)        61,924,475            (31,591,182)          

Other current liabilities (9,341,775)            8,944,454              2,804,094              (2,845,025)            

Employee benefit paid (4,754,000)            (595,200)               (1,248,000)            (480,000)               

Income tax paid (8,649,150)            (164,345,364)        (8,953,563)            (157,754,201)        

Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities (598,525,333)        845,202,927          (951,176,857)        82,742,404            

Consolidated Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements

For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December

(in Baht)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Statements of cash flows

2019 2018 2019 2018

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 3,170,957              5,983,225              388,373                 386,765                 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (155,404,904)        (115,739,762)        (42,936,667)          (34,798,762)          

Purchase of intangible assets (1,617,100)            (3,402,311)            (116,100)               (557,000)               

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 19,911,079            -                        19,911,079            -                        

Proceeds from disposal of temporary investment 416,954                 22,945                   416,954                 22,945                   

Proceeds from disposal of investment in subsidiary -                        68,000,000            -                        -                        

Proceeds from decreased capital of investment in subsidiary -                        -                        1,800,000,000       -                        

Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities (133,523,014)        (45,135,903)          1,777,663,639       (34,946,052)          

Cash flows from financing activities

Receive from non-controling interests from increase capital of subsidiary 1,429,157,546 -                        -                        -                        

Finance costs paid (460,832,915)        (534,305,036)        (177,519,998)        (2,284,600)            

Repayment of liabilities from terminated rehabilitation plan and compromise (62,663,021)          (6,568,141)            (60,058,875)          -                        

Proceeds(Repayment)of long-term loans from financial institution (106,251,641)        -                        (106,251,641)        -                        

Proceeds(Repayment) of short-term loans from related parties (826,582,703)        (229,928,932)        (379,880,338)        -                        

Proceeds(Repayment) of short-term loans from other parties -                        (54,731)                 -                        (54,731)                 

Proceeds(Repayment)from long-term loans from related parties 966,587,810          (361,319,200)        (119,860,522)        -                        

Payment for financial lease liabilities (501,600)               (501,600)               -                        -                        

Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities 938,913,476          (1,132,677,640)     (843,571,374)        (2,339,331)            

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 206,865,129          (332,610,616)        (17,084,592)          45,457,021            

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 258,184,077          590,829,674          56,909,750            11,452,729            

Effect from exchange rate changes on balances 

   held in foreign currencies (925,051)               (34,981)                 -                        -                        

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 464,124,155          258,184,077          39,825,158            56,909,750            

(in Baht)

Consolidated Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements

For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Statements of cash flows

2019 2018 2019 2018

Non-cash transactions

From write-off the expired legal prescription of liabilities

Increase (decrease) in other current assets 47,262                   (4,240,853)            -                        -                        

Increase (decrease) in other non - current assets -                        (17,397,414)          -                        -                        

Decrease in trade accounts payable 16,754,450            12,531,371            -                        -                        

Decrease in other payables and accrued expenses 6,414,155              92,680,271            -                        -                        

Decrease in accrued interest expenses -                        2,122,100              -                        -                        

Decrease in liabilities from terminated rehabilitation plan and compromise -                        16,000,382            -                        -                        

Decrease in other current liabilities -                        17,381,229            -                        -                        

From debt-to-equity conversion

Decrease in liabilities from terminated rehabilitation plan and compromise 183,095,340          -                        183,095,340          -                        

Decrease in short-term loan from other parties 31,900,000            -                        31,900,000            -                        

Decrease in other payables and accrued expenses 3,979,935,710       -                        3,979,935,710       -                        

Decrease in accrued interest expenses 4,842,228,437       -                        4,842,228,437       -                        

Decrease in provision for court case claim 326,725,720          -                        326,725,720          -                        

Transfer short-term loan from related party to  

     liabilities from terminated rehabilitation plan and compromise 30,000,000            -                        30,000,000            -                        

Transfer employee benefit obligations to other payables and accrued expenses 7,725,000              -                        7,725,000              -                        

Transfer  trade account payables to short-term loans from related party 399,141,817          -                        399,141,817          -                        

Transfer trade accounts payable to other payables and accrued expenses -                        162,542,934          -                        230,542,934          

Transfer advances received from customers to trade accounts payable -                        1,780,672              -                        1,780,672              

Transfer other current assets to amounts receivable from related parties -                        -                         -                        3,871,100              

(in Baht)

 financial statements  financial statements

For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December

Consolidated Separate  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on February 

26, 2020. 

 
1 General information, material uncertainty related to going concern the debt restructuring 

and the Company’s requesting for entering into business rehabilitation plan 
 

1.1 General information 
 

G Steel Public Company Limited, the “Company”, is incorporated in Thailand and has its registered 

office as follows: 
 

Head office : 88, Paso Tower, 18th Floor, Silom Road, Suriyawong, Bangrak, Bangkok 

   

Factory : 55 Moo 5, SSP Industrial Estate, Tambol Nonglalog, Amphur Bankhai, 

Rayong 
 

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand (the “SET”) on 25 January 2006 
 

The Company’s major shareholders are as follows: 

   
  (%) 
   Shareholding proportion 
  As at 30 December 2019 

ASIA CREDIT OPPORTUNITIES I (MAURITIUS) LIMITED  49.99 

M-POWER TT LTD.  15.80 

SUPERIOR OVERSEAS (THAILAND) COMPANY  LIMITED.  7.00 

NEW WORLD INTERMETAL CO.,LTD  1.96 

D-SINCHAI COMPANY LIMITED.  1.96 
 

The principal activities of the Company are the manufacturing and distribution of hot rolled coil steel 

products. 
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Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 
 

   

Country of 

The Group 

Ownership interest 

Name of the entity Type of business incorporation (%) 

   As of  As of 

   2019 2018 

Direct subsidiaries     

Siam Professional Holdings Co., Ltd.  Investment  Thailand 99.99 99.99 

  (“SPH”) holdings company    

     

GS Securities Holdings Co., Ltd.  Special-purpose Thailand 99.99 99.99 

  (“GS Securities”)  restructuring entity    

     

G J Steel Public Co., Ltd. (“G J Steel”) Manufacture and  Thailand 9.45 17.28 

  (held by the Company 8.24% distribution of hot     

  (31 December 2018 : 15.08%) rolled coil steel    

  and GS Securities 1.21% products    

  (31 December 2018 : 2.20%))     

     

GS Notes Holding Co., Ltd.* Special-purpose Thailand - - 

  (“GS Notes”) restructuring entity    

     

GS Notes Holdings 2 Co., Ltd. * Special-purpose Thailand - - 

  (“GS Notes 2”)  restructuring entity    

     

Indirect subsidiaries     

     

Oriental Access Co., Ltd. (“OAC”)  Consulting service  Thailand 99.97 99.97 

  (held by SPH 99.97%) and investing    

     
 

* Two subsidiaries, GS Notes and GS Notes 2 were registered to dissolve the Companies with the 

Ministry of Commerce on 22 September 2017 as approved by the special resolution of the shareholders 

at the extra ordinary shareholders’ meeting on 20 September 2017. and are under liquidation process. 
 

The Company and its subsidiaries shareholding in G J Steel as at 31 December 2019 was 9.45% (31 

December 2018: 17.28% Shareholding), and the Company consolidates G J Steel because the 

Company retains the power to govern G J Steel through its appointed representatives. 
 

The Company and its subsidiaries are hereafter referred to as “the Group”. 
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1.2 Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
 

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, part of financial position of the Group and the Company are as 

follows : 
 

  Million Baht 

  The Group   Company 

Risk effected to  As at 31 December  As at 31 December 

the going concern  2019  2018  2019  2018 

(1) Profit (Loss) for the years  1,457  (2,358)  3,345  (1,810) 
(2) Deficit  22,253  24,900  24,304  27,649 
(3) Current liabilities exceed         

current assets  2,154  13,691  3,467  15,265 
(4) Equity attributable to          

owners of the Company 

(Capital Deficiency) 

 
7,014  172  4,963  (2,577) 

(5) EBITDA 
 4,416  609  5,027  (256) 

 

 

These were affected by various factors including the asset devaluation from partial assets appraisal, the 

default payment on the debt restructuring plan, the meeting of the Company’s Shareholders has resolved 

the disapproval its business rehabilitation plan according to the Debts to Equity Conversion Plan by a 

way of allocation and offering of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company according to the 

Debts to Equity Conversion Scheme as agreed with a new creditor, the fluctuation of global economics 

and the dumping of goods from foreign steel manufacturers. Subsequently during the year 2019, the 

Company has negotiating debt restructuring with new creditor by which of conversion debts-to-equity in 

successfully as described in note 1.3 and note 28 to the financial statements combination with the 

providing credit facility for additional working capital as described in note 17 to the financial 

statements. However as of December 31, 2019, the Group and the Company still have current liabilities 

exceeding current assets of Baht 2,154 million and of Baht 3,467 million respectively. These factors 

may cause the significant doubt on going concern of the Group and the Company. However, the 

management believes that the preparation of the financial statements on going concern basis is justified . 

This is due to the Group and the Company have plans as described in a) to e). 
 

However, as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 G J Steel was no factors that may cause significant doubt 

on going concern since G J Steel has accomplished its plan by negotiating debt restructuring with major 

creditors by repaying partial debt and conversion of debts-to-equity successfully in year 2017 and 

obtained credit facility for additional working capital as described in Note 17 to the financial statements. 

Furthermore, the capital restructuring plan as approved by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting No. 

1/2019 on 14 January 2019 combined with increase in additional paid-up capital registered with the 

Ministry of Commerce on 3 May 2019 from the allocation of new ordinary shares to the existing 

shareholders of G J Steel in the proportion to their respective shareholdings (Rights Offering) as 

described in Note 28 to the financial statements. G J Steel still has various plans to increase the 

profitability in future as described in b) and e). 
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a)  Source of funding 
 

The Group and the Company has implementing various funding plans to support the operations. This 

includes. 
 

1. Increasing of the cash flow through sale by manufacturing and selling the hot rolled coil 

2. Reach agreements with several companies to in support financing of Imported scrap,     

Pig Iron and domestic scrap 

3. Negotiating the credit facilities with the financial institutions and other source of funds 

4. Accelerating the debt collection from its debtor 

5. Selling through the method of advance payment 

 

b)  The production 
 

The Company and G J Steel has the production during the off-peak period (which has lower demand 

for electricity and hence lower tariff rate). 
 

In year 2018, G J Steel increase production to nearly full capacity for off-peak and in the 2nd half of 

year 2018, G J Steel did a test run to extend the 24 hours production capacity for 6 days a week in 

order to ensure that the machinery is a good condition for running the 24 hours production capacity 

in next opportunity, in order to reduce production unit cost. In addition, the Company has adjustment 

plan in respect of various projects aiming to reduce production cost in order to be competitive with 

the competitors and the importers. Various projects in the form of energy reduction, increase 

efficiency as well as minimize loss in the production process, etc., are under progress. 
 

The Company starts doing tolling service for G J Steel which begins since mid of November 2017 

until 31 January 2019. After that, the Company temporary stop production from February to April 

2019. During the said period, the Company proceed sourcing for working capital for production and 

can be to resumed production in early May 2019. 
 

c)  Cooperation with trading partners 
 

The Group and the Company had reached agreement with many long and good relation customers. 

After agree on debt restructuring, many major customers commit to purchase products from The 

Group and the Company. This enables the Group and the Company to effectively manage the 

production on a regular basis. 
 
 

d)  Credit facilities for operation 
 

The Company and G J Steel get collaboration from various raw material suppliers both local and 

oversea with Supplier Credit in term of Collateral Management Agreement (“CMA”). In addition the 

Company and G J Steel also get another source of Credit facilities as described in note 17 and note 

19 to the financial statements. 
 

The Company and G J Steel have used the supplier credit facilities as working capital for many years 

to purchase of scrap which is the main raw material of the production. 
 

 

In April 2019, the Company receives credit facility for operation from a foreign company as 

described in Note 17 to the financial statements. 
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e)  The Governmental support 
 

The Group and the Company have cooperated with the other hot-rolled flat steel producers 

(collectively called “the domestic industry”), filed the petitions for trade remedies to the Thai 

government, led by Ministry of Commerce, as consequences to serious injuries caused by unfair 

trade practice in the forms of dumping import hot-rolled steel flat products and import surges to 

Thailand that also have dampened the stability of Thailand’s economy. Up to the present, Ministry of 

Commerce has made several determinations and notifications of antidumping measures and 

safeguard measures in order to help the domestic industry to stand and compete with the import 

goods on a fair trade basis and to adjust themselves to further stand for increasing competition with 

the import goods in the domestic market as follows:  

 

Antidumping Measures (5-year term)   

     
 Import Goods Origin AD Duty Rate Effective 

1 Hot-rolled steel flat 

products in coil and not in 

coil 

14 countries Various rate 0 up to 128.11% of 

C.I.F. value 

23 May 2015 to 

22 May 2020 

2 Hot-rolled steel flat 

products in coil and not in 

coil 

China and 

Malaysia 

China 30.91% of C.I.F. value 

Malaysia  23.57 - 42.51% of C.I.F. 

value 

23 Jun 2017 to  

22 Jun 2022  

3 Hot-rolled steel flat 

products in coil and not in 

coil 

Brazil, Iran and 

Turkey 

Brazil 34.40% of C.I.F. value 

Iran 7.25 - 38.27% of C.I.F. value 

Turkey 6.88 - 38.23% of C.I.F. value 

16 May 2017 to 

15 May 2022  

4 Boron-added steel hot  

rolled flat products in coil 

and not in coil 

China 14.28 - 19.47% of C.I.F. value 13 Dec 2018 to  

12 Dec 2023 * 

 

* The domestic industry filed petition to Department of Foreign Trade along with the evident 

information concerned requesting for continuation review of the imposition of antidumping measure 

for the next 5 years. The Department later issued on 30 November 2017 (published on the royal 

gazette on 13 December 2017) the “Notification for Initiation of Necessity Review for Continuation 

of the Antidumping Measure on Boron-added Steel Hot Rolled Flat Products Originated from the 

People’s Republic of China”, as the start of the antidumping measure continuation review procedure, 

in which several interested parties were participating. And the existing antidumping duties have been 

imposed continuously for within another one year after the previous expiry date 25 December 2017. 

And then the antidumping continuation review procedure was finished when Thailand’s 

Antidumping and Countervailing Committee issued the “Notification of Determination for the 

Necessity of Continuation of the Antidumping Measure”, dated 11 December 2018, as published on 

the royal gazette on 12 December 2018 that determine to impose the antidumping duties, at the rate 

unchanged, on Boron-added Steel Hot Rolled Flat Products Originated from the People’s Republic 

of China for the next 5 years, with effect from 13 December 2018 through 12 December 2023. 
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Safeguard Measures (3-year term)   

     

 Import Goods Origin SG Duty Rate Effective 

1 

Other-alloy steel hot-

rolled flat products in 

coil and not in coil 

any countries 

(except the 

developing 

countries that 

account for less 

than 3% of share 

in total import 

volume to 

Thailand) 

Imported 27 Feb 2016 - 26 Feb 2017 

41.67% of C.I.F. value 

Imported 27 Feb 2017 - 26 Feb 2018 

40.42% of C.I.F. value 

Imported 27 Feb 2018 - 26 Feb 2019 

39.21% of C.I.F. value 

27 Feb 2016 to 

26 Feb 2019* 

2 

Non-alloy steel hot-

rolled flat products in 

coil and not in coil 

any countries 

(except the 

developing 

countries that 

account for less 

than 3% of share 

in total import 

volume to 

Thailand) 

Imported 7 Jun 2017 - 6 Jun 2018 

21.00% of C.I.F. value 

Imported 7 Jun 2018 - 6 Jun 2019 

20.87% of C.I.F. value 

Imported 7 Jun 2019 - 6 Jun 2020 

20.74% of C.I.F. value 

7 Jun 2017 to 

6 Jun 2020   

 

*The Safeguard Measure on Other-Alloy Steel Hot-Rolled Flat Products has ended on 26 February 2019. 

 

f) Local demand of Hot - Rolled Steel Flat Products (Source: Iron and Steel Institute of 

Thailand) 
 

Hot Rolled Steel  

 (million metric ton) 

Year 2018 

(1 Year) 

Year 2019 

(1 Year) 

Increase / 

(Decrease) 

Production 2.63 3.20 (0.57) 

Import 4.04 3.96 0.08 

Export 0.008 0.074 (0.066) 

Consumption 6.66 7.09 (0.43) 
 

For the trend of the steel industry, World Steel Association forecasts that the demand of ASEAN 

steel consumption in the year 2020 will increase by 1.8% per annum. For Thailand, local demand for 

steel consumption is expected to increase around 0.7% per annum following the demand from local 

downstream industry. 
 

Therefore, the financial statements of The Group and the Company have been prepared on going 

concern basis with the assumption that the operation plans as mentioned above will be successfully 

implemented. 
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1.3 Creditors Restructuring 
 

New Creditors Restructuring 
 

The Company 
 

Previously, the Company has five Major Trade Creditors with aggregated claims of USD 167 

million (Baht 5,999 million) as at 31 December 2016 which the Company has defaulted on the 

compromise agreement. 
 

On 31 January 2017 and 16 February 2017, the Company received the notice of assignment to 

debtor from such five Major Trade Creditors and other two creditors including all amount payable 

under the contracts to new foreign company (hereinafter referred to as “New Creditor”) and the 

Company reclassified the said creditor to other payable. 
 

On 15 March 2017, the New Creditor sent a letter to the Company to confirm an outstanding 

claims as at 28 February 2017 of USD 226 million (USD 128 million of principal and USD 98 

million of accrued interest).  
 

The Company has the plan of the debt restructuring with the New Creditor together with debts-to-

equity scheme under to the allocation and offering of the newly issued ordinary shares of the 

Company. 
 

Therefore, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company on 30 August 2017, 

disapproved the debt to equity conversion scheme and major investor cannot precede the debt 

restructuring of the Company. 
 

On 7 August 2019, the Company enters into Memorandum of Understanding with the New 

Creditor group, significant issues are 
 

1. The New Creditor wish to provide a waiver on the interest of USD 124 million representing the 

interest portion of the Trade Claims up to 30 September 2019 to the Company on a condition that 

the repayment of a certain amount of the outstanding principal forming part of the principal portion 

of the Trade Claims shall be made by way of a debt to equity conversion within the Completion 

Date. If the D/E Conversion does not occur within the Completion Date, then the Waiver shall 

terminate, and all interest shall continue to accrue as if there had been no Waiver granted.  
 

2. The Company wishes to repay the Conversion Debt to the New Creditor by way of a debt to equity 

conversion. After the D/E conversion, the New Creditor will hold 49.99 percent of the total paid-up 

share capital of the Company. The final Conversion Debt and the final conversion price shall (a) be 

determined by the financial advisor(s) of the New Creditor and (b) be finalized and agreed between 

the New Creditor and the Company. 
 

3. Any remaining portion of the outstanding principal forming part of the principal portion of the 

Trade Claims, which has not been converted into equity shall remain on the Company’s balance 

sheet. The New Creditor wish to restructure this Remaining Conversion Debt into a 9-year tenor 

debt, with 3-year grace period on cash payments of principal and interest, charging an interest of 

MLR - 2.00% p.a., with amortization schedules and excess cash flow sweep as to be agreed 

between the New Creditor and the Company. 
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On 28 November 2019, the Company entered into a Debt Restructuring Agreement and a Debt 

Amendment Agreement with the above creditor group refer to certain indicative terms of the 

transactions in the Memorandum of Understanding dated 7 August 2019, significant issues are as 

follow : 
 

1. The Company acknowledges and agrees that, as of 29 November 2019, the Company is indebted 

to the Creditor in the amount of USD 252.57 million (consisting of principal of USD 127.88 

million with the interest of USD 124.69 million). 

2. The Company and the creditor have jointly determined and agreed that the total amount of the 

Conversion Debt shall be USD 88.8 million. The total amount of the Outstanding Interest USD 

124.69 million shall be waived. 

3. The remaining portion of the outstanding principal USD 39.08 million which has not been 

converted into equity, the Company shall repay to the Creditor in one bullet payment on the 

Final Repayment Date (the date falling the 9th anniversary of the date of the Agreement ) with 3-

year grace period on cash payments of interest, charging an interest of LIBOR + 2.10% p.a. 
 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with Department of 

Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019.( as described in note 28 to the 

financial statements). 
 

As at 31 December 2019, the outstanding debt of the New Creditor is USD 37.64 million (Baht 

1,141.53 million).The principal is recorded in non-current liabilities under account other payables of 

USD 37.50 million (Baht 1,137.22 million) and interest is recorded under accrued interest of USD 

0.14 million (Baht 4.31 million). 
 

The movement of liabilities under debt restructuring for the year ended 31 December 2019 is as 

follow: 

 Note 
New Creditor  Other 

Creditors 
 

Total 

  (in million Baht) 
As at 31 December 2018  -  -       - 
Transfer from Other payables and accrued expenses  3,888  868  4,756 

Transfer from Liabilities from terminated rehabilitation   

plan and compromise 
  

- 
  

666 
 

666 
Transfer from accrued interest  4,503  638  5,141 
Total liabilities as at 2 December 2019  8,391  2,172  10,563 
Less Debt-to-equity conversion 28 (2,748)  (1,447)  (4,195) 
Less Gain from the Debt-to-equity conversion 32 (4,503)  (666)  (5,169) 
Balance of liabilities as at 2 December 2019  1,140  59  1,199 
Effect of exchange rate  (3)  -  (3) 

Balance of liabilities under debt restructuring  

As at 31 December 2019 
 

 
1,137 

  
59 

  
1,196 
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1.4 The Company’s requesting for entering into business rehabilitation plan 
 

On 13 November 2017, the Board of Directors meeting approved the submission of the petition 

requesting for entering into business rehabilitation plan. This is for the Company to negotiate as well 

as finding solution with creditors and can proceed necessary actions in order to continue its business as 

normal. The Company, then, submits the petition requesting for entering into business rehabilitation 

plan to the Central Bankruptcy Court on 14 November 2017 and the Court will have preliminary 

hearing during year 2018. 
 

Subsequently, on 8 December 2017, while waiting for the court approval of the rehabilitation plan in 

order to have working capital and continual operation, the Company submits the petition requesting for 

the approval of emergency working capital in the form of loan from other related party amounting 

USD 65 million which the court did not approve. 

 

However, to temporarily alleviate the financial crisis for the Company and to reserve and maintain its 

assets for business operations as well as to provide opportunity and a period of time for the Company 

to find solutions and conclusion with the creditor without legal execution by creditors for debt 

repayment. So after the Central Bankruptcy Court has accepted the petition requesting for entering into 

business rehabilitation, the Company then get protection from civil legal execution and the suspension 

of services by utilities provider under the term and condition by law. Also, the Company is forbidden 

to repay debt or create indebtedness or any actions that will create encumbrance of its assets except 

necessary actions for normal business operation.  
 

Later, on 24 December 2018, the Central Bankruptcy Court is of the view that as at 14 November 

2017, the date the Company had filed the petition requesting for entering into business rehabilitation 

plan, the financial position of the interim financial statement for the 3rd quarter of year 2017 ended 30 

September 2017 as reviewed by the auditor showed that total assets was more than total liabilities of 

Baht 373 million. Under section 90/3 of the Bankruptcy Act, B.E. 2483, in force at the date of filing 

the rehabilitation petition, the Company is not insolvent, as a result the rehabilitation cannot be 

granted. Therefore, the Court hereby ordered the petition to be dismissed. 

 

2 Basis of preparation of the financial statements  
 

(a) Statement of compliance 
 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards (TFRS); 

guidelines promulgated by the Thailand Federation of Accounting Professions (“TFAC”); and 

applicable rules and regulations of the Thai Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 

During the year, the Company have adopted accounting standards, financial reporting standards, 

accounting standard interpretations and financial reporting standard interpretations which issued and 

revised by the TFAC which are effective for financial statement year beginning on or after 1 January 

2019. However, the adoptions of said financial reporting standards in the current year does not have 

material effect on the financial statements. 

 

In addition to the above new and revised TFRS, during the year, the TFAC has issued a number of 

other new and revised accounting standards, financial reporting standards, accounting standard 

interpretations and financial reporting standard interpretation which are effective for financial 

statements beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and have not been adopted in the preparation of these 

financial statements. Those new and revised TFRS that are relevant to the Company’s operations are 

disclosed to the financial statement in Note 3. 

 

An English language version of the financial statements has been prepared from the statutory financial 

statements that were issued in Thai language. In case of conflict of difference in understanding, the 

financial statements in Thai language shall prevail. 
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(b) Basis of measurement 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as stated in the 

accounting policies. 

 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
 

The financial statements are presented in Thai Baht, which is the Company’s functional currency. All 

financial information presented in Thai Baht has been rounded to the nearest million unless otherwise 

stated. 
  

(d) Use of estimates and judgments 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with TFRS requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of 

assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial 

statements is included in the following notes:  

 

Note 8 and 10 Allowance for doubtful accounts and allowance for impairment of advance for 

purchases of goods and service 

Note 9 Allowance for devaluation of inventories 

Note 11 Allowance for impairment of investments in subsidiaries 

Note 12 Appraisal valuations and allowance for impairment of advance payment for purchase 

of property, plant and equipment 

Note 13 Appraisal valuations and allowance for impairment of property, plant and equipment 

Note 14 Appraisal valuations and allowance for impairment of intangible asset 

Note 13 Appraisal valuations and allowance for impairment of suspended  construction in 

 progress 

Note 24 Provision 

Note 27 Measurement of defined benefit obligations 

Note 43 Appraisal valuations of financial instruments 

Note 45 Litigation 
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3 Financial reporting standards which are not effective for the current year 

The Federation of Accounting Professions has issued the new accounting standard, financial reporting 

standards, accounting standard interpretations and financial reporting standard interpretations, which is 

effective for financial statements period beginning on or after January 1, 2020 as follows: 

 

Accounting Standard  

TAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements   

TAS 2 Inventories   

TAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows   

TAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors  

TAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period   

TAS 12 Income Taxes  

TAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment   

TAS 19 Employee Benefits  

TAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance  

TAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates   

TAS 23 Borrowing Costs  

TAS 24 Related Party Disclosures   

TAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans   

TAS 27 Separate Financial Statements   

TAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  

TAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies   

TAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation  

TAS 33 Earnings per Share   

TAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting   

TAS 36 Impairment of Assets   

TAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets   

TAS 38 Intangible Assets   

TAS  40 Investment Property   

TAS  41 Agriculture   

  

Financial Reporting Standard  

TFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards  

TFRS 2 Share - based Payment   

TFRS 3 Business Combinations  

TFRS 4 Insurance Contract  

TFRS 5 Non - current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations  

TFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources   

TFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures  

TFRS 8 Operating Segments   

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments  

TFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements   

TFRS 11 Joint Arrangements  

TFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities   

TFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement   

TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

TFRS 16 Leases  

  

  



 

G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries                   

Notes to financial statements                             

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

 

26 

Accounting Standard Interpretations  

TSIC 10 Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to Operating Activities  

TSIC 25 Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or its Shareholders  

TSIC 29 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures   

TSIC 32 Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs   

  

Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations  

TFRIC 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar Liabilities  

TFRIC 5 Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning,   

 Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds   

TFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under TAS 29   

 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies   

TFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment   

TFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements   

TFRIC 14 TAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,   

 Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction   

TFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation  

TFRIC 17 Distributions of Non - Cash Assets to Owners   

TFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments  

TFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine   

TFRIC 21 Levies   

TFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration  

TFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments  

 

The management of the Group and the Company has assessed TAS, TFRS, TSIC and TFRIC which 

are effective for financial statement year beginning on or after January 1, 2020 as follows: 

 

1) TAS 1, TAS 2, TAS 7, TAS 8, TAS 10, TAS 12 , TAS 16, TAS 19 , TAS 21, TAS 24, TAS 27, 

TAS 33, TAS 34, TAS 36, TAS 37, TAS 38, TFRS 8, TFRS 10, TFRS 13, TFRS 15 and TFRIC 

22 will not have material impact on the financial statements when they are applied. 

 

2) The management of the Group and the Company is currently evaluating the impact of TAS 32, 

TFRS 7, TFRS 9, TFRS 16 and TFRIC 19 to the financial statements when they are adopted. 

 

3) The other TAS, TFRS, TSIC and TFRIC which have not been stated in No.1) and 2) are not 

relevant to the Group and the Company business, therefore they do not have impact on the 

financial statement  when they are applied. 
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4 Significant accounting policies 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 

financial statements except for the change in the accounting policies due to the adoption of the Thai 

Financial Reporting Standard No. 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. 
 

4 (a) Basis of consolidation 
  

 

The consolidated financial statements relate to the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as 

“the Group”) 

 

Business combinations 
 

The Group applies the acquisition method for all business combinations other than those with entities 

under common control. 
 

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 

from its activities. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that 

currently are exercisable. The acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the 

acquirer. Judgment is applied in determining the acquisition date and determining whether control is 

transferred from one party to another. 
 

Goodwill is measured as the fair value of the consideration transferred including the recognised 

amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquire, less the net recognised amount (generally fair 

value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acquisition 

date.  

 

Consideration transferred includes the fair values of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred by the 

Group to the previous owners of the acquire, and equity interests issued by the Group. Consideration 

transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration and share-based payment 

awards of the acquire that are replaced mandatorily in the business combination. If a business 

combination results in the termination of pre-existing relationships between the Group and the acquire, 

then the lower of the termination amount, as contained in the agreement, and the value of the off-

market element is deducted from the consideration transferred and recognised in other expenses.  

 

A contingent liability of the acquire is assumed in a business combination only if such a liability 

represents a present obligation and arises from a past event, and its fair value can be measured reliably. 

 
The Group measures any non-controlling interest at its proportionate interest in the identifiable net 

assets of the acquire.  

 
Transaction costs that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination, such as legal fees, 

and other professional and consulting fees are expensed as incurred.  
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Subsidiaries 

 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, 

directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 

from its activities. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 

statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.   

 
The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to align them with the 

policies adopted by the Group. Losses applicable to non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are 

allocated to non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a 

deficit balance. 

 
Loss of control 

 
Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-

controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or 

deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in 

the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. 

Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial 

asset depending on the level of influence retained. 

 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income or expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized gains arising 

from transactions with associates and jointly-controlled entities are eliminated against the investment 

to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way 

as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment 
 

4 (b) Foreign currencies 

 

Foreign currency transactions 
 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the dates of the 

transactions.   
 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to 

the functional currency at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences 

arising on translation are recognized in profit or loss. 
 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at cost in foreign currencies are translated to the 

functional currency using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.  
 

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are generally recognized in profit or loss. 
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4 (c) Cash and cash equivalents 

  

Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of cash flows comprise cash balances, call deposits and 

high liquidity short-term investments. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand are a component 

of financing activities for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 

 

4 (d)Temporary investment 

 
Investment in trading security is stated at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the value 

of security are included in statement of comprehensive income. 

 

The weighted average method is used for computation of the cost of investment 

 
4 (e) Trade and other accounts receivable 

 

Trade and other accounts receivable are stated at their invoice value less allowance for doubtful 

accounts. 
 

The allowance for doubtful accounts is assessed primarily on analysis of payment histories and future 

expectations of customer payments. Bad debts are written off when incurred. 

 

4 (f) Inventories 
 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 

Cost is calculated using the weighted average method cost principle, and comprises all costs of 

purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 

location and condition. In the case of finished goods and work-in-progress, cost includes an appropriate 

share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. 

 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 

costs to complete and to make the sale. 
 

An allowance is made for all deteriorated, damaged, obsolete and slow-moving inventories.  
 

The Company recognises an asset and corresponding liability in respect of consignment inventories 

once the Company obtains the rights and responsibilities of legal and economic ownership. 
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4 (g) Investments in subsidiaries 

 
Investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements of the Company are accounted for using 

the cost method. 

 

Disposal of investments 
 

On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 

is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

If the Group disposes of part of its holding of a particular investment, the deemed cost of the part sold 

is determined using the weighted average method applied to the carrying value of the total holding of 

the investment. 
 

4 (h) Property, plant and equipment 
 

Owned assets 
 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  
 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-

constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable 

to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and 

removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and capitalised borrowing costs. 

Cost also may include transfers from other comprehensive income of any gain or loss on qualifying 

cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. Purchased software 

that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 
 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 

for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.  
 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing 

the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are 

recognised net within other income in profit or loss. 

 

Leased assets 
 

Leases in terms of which the Group substantially assumes all the risk and rewards of ownership are 

classified as finance leases. Property, plant and equipment acquired by way of finance leases is 

capitalised at the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments at the 

inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Lease payments are 

apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 

rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to the 

profit or loss. 
 

Cost for changing components will realized as a part of book value of property, plant and equipment if 

it has contain possibility that the Group will receive economic benefit in the future from this 

transaction and can measure cost of the transaction with reliable. Component which has been changed 

will be amortize per book value cost that usually happen for maintenance of property, plant and 

equipment will be realize in profit or loss when occur. 
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Subsequent costs 
 

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 

amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow 

to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 

derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in 

profit or loss as incurred. 

 

Depreciation 

 

Depreciation is calculated based on the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other 

amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. 
 

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 

component of an item of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 

Land improvements 5- 20 years 

Buildings 5 - 50 years 

Machinery and equipment 5 - 30 years 

Furniture - fixtures and Office equipment  2 - 5 years 

Vehicles     5 years 

  
 

No depreciation is provided on freehold land or assets under construction. 
 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and 

adjusted if appropriate. 

 

4 (h) Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets represent the cost of computer software and a production license. These intangible 

assets that are acquired by the Company and have finite useful live are measured at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  
 

Subsequent expenditure  
 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in 

the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally 

generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  
 

Amortisation 
 

Amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its 

residual value.  
 

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 

intangible assets, from the date that they are available for use, since this most closely reflects the 

expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. The estimated 

useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 
 

Computer software licences 10 years 

Production licences 25 years 
 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and 

adjusted if appropriate. 
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4 (i) Deferred costs of rolls  

 

Deferred costs of rolls are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation. 

Amortisation is based on consumption. 
 

4 (j) Impairment 
 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable 

amounts are estimated. 
 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 

its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss unless it reverses a previous 

revaluation credited to equity, in which case it is charged to equity. 
 

Calculation of recoverable amount 
 

The recoverable amount of non-financial assets is the greater of the asset’s value in use and fair value 

less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely 

independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 

unit to which the asset belongs. 
 

Reversals of impairment 
 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset is reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable 

amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in 

profit or loss.  
 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods in respect of non-financial assets are assessed at each 

reporting date for any indications that the losses have decreased or no longer exits. An impairment loss 

is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 

impairment loss had been recognised.  
 

4 (k) Interest-bearing liabilities 
 

Interest-bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction charges.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing liabilities are stated at amortised cost with any 

difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the 

borrowings on an effective interest basis.  
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4 (l) Trade and other accounts payable 

 

Trade and other accounts payable are stated at cost. 
 

 

4 (m) Employee benefits 

 

Defined contribution plans 
 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 

contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 

amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an 

employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by 

employees.  
 

Defined benefit plans 
 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The 

Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each 

plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service 

in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Any 

unrecognised past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The discount rate is 

the yield at the reporting date of the government bonds that have maturity dates approximating the 

terms of the Company’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which the 

benefits are expected to be paid.  
 

The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the 

calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the recognised asset is limited to the total of any 

unrecognised past service costs and the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any 

future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. In order to calculate the 

present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements that 

apply to any plan in the Company. An economic benefit is available to the Company if it is realisable 

during the life of the plan, or on settlement of the plan liabilities. 
 

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service 

by employees is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the average period until the 

benefits become vested. To the extent that the benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss. 
 

The Group recognises all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans in other 

comprehensive income and all expenses related to defined benefit plans in profit or loss. 
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4 (n) Provisions 
 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 

flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 

 

Provision for onerous contracts 

 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group 

from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting the Company’s obligations under the 

contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating 

the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, 

the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract. 

 

4 (o) Revenue 

 

Sale of goods  

 

Revenue is recognized in profit and loss at the point in time when control of goods is transferred to the 

customer, generally on delivery of the goods, except for sale transaction related to “ Contract for special 

product” which are recognized as revenue by reference of the stage of completion. 
 

Tolling service 

 
Revenue from service- tolling hire of work are recognised as revenue when goods are delivered or invoices 

are issued. 

 
Interest income 
 

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues.   

 

From the company Has adopted Thai Financial Reporting Standard No. 15 Revenue from contracts made 

with customers. There is no significant effect to the Group's financial statements 

 

4 (p) Finance costs 
 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions and 

contingent consideration, losses on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, dividends on 

preference shares classified as liabilities, fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss, impairment losses recognised on financial assets (other than trade receivables), and losses on 

hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 

qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
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4 (q) Lease payments 
 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the 

term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the 

total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 
 

Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the 

remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.  

 

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease  

 

At inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a 

lease. A specific asset is the subject of a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use 

of that specified asset. An arrangement conveys the right to use the asset if the arrangement conveys to 

the Company the right to control the use of the underlying asset.  
 

At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Company separates payments and other 

consideration required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on 

the basis of their relative fair values. If the Company concludes for a finance lease that it is 

impracticable to separate the payments reliably, an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount 

equal to the fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are 

made and an imputed finance charge on the liability is recognised using the Company’s incremental 

borrowing rate. 
 

4 (r) Income tax 
 

Income tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are 

recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or items 

recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 
 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using 

tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 

respect of previous years. 
 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax 

is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial 

recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects 

neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and 

jointly-controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. 
 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which 

the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 

assets and liabilities. 
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Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences 

when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

 

In determining the amount of current tax, the Company takes into account the impact of uncertain tax 

positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Company believes that its accruals 

for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including 

interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions 

and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available 

that causes the Company to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; 

such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 

taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a 

net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.   

 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 

each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 

will be realised. 

 

4 (s) Earnings (loss) per share 
 

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic 

earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders 

of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, 

adjusted for own shares held. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is determined by adjusting the profit 

(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which 

comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees. 

 

4 (t) Segment reporting 

 

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEO (the chief operating decision maker) include 

items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  
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5 Related parties 
 

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group and the 

Company if the Group and the Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or joint 

control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating 

decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the Company and the party are subject to common 

control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities. 

 

Relationships with related parties were as follows: 
 

 Country of    

 incorporation   

Name of entities / nationality Type of business Nature of relationships 

    

SPH Thailand Investment Subsidiary, common directors, 

  holdings company 99.99% shareholding 
    

G J Steel Thailand Manufacture and sale  Subsidiary, common directors,  

  of hot rolled coil steel 9.45% shareholding by the 

  products Company and its subsidiaries 

   (2018: 17.28%) 
    

OAC Thailand Consulting service  Indirect subsidiary, common  

  and investing directors 
    

    

GS Securities Thailand Special-purpose Subsidiary, common directors, 

  restructuring entity 99.99% shareholding 
 

  

    

GS Notes Thailand Special-purpose Subsidiary, common directors, 

  restructuring entity 99.99% shareholding 

(registered the dissolution of the 

company on 22 September 2017) 
    

GS Notes 2 Thailand Special-purpose Subsidiary, common directors, 

  restructuring entity 99.99% shareholding 

(registered the dissolution of the 

company on 22 September 2017) 
    

Asia Credit Opportunities 

   I (Mauritius) Limited 

     (“ACO I”)       

Mauritius Special-purpose for 

investment  

Major shareholder which is a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of SSG 

Capital Partners III, L.P. (“SSG 

III”) 
    

Link Capital I   

   (Mauritius) Limited  

     (“Link Capital I”) 

 

SSG Capital Management                             

(Mauritius) Limited 

     (“SSG  Capital              

Management”)  

Mauritius 

 

 

 

Mauritius 

 

 

 

Special-purpose for 

investment  

 

 

Collective Investment 

Scheme Manager and 

holds an investment 

advisor (restricted) 

license 

 

Related party which is a wholly-

owned subsidiary of SSG Capital 

Partners III, L.P. (“SSG III”) 

 

Related party which is a wholly-

owned subsidiary of SSG Capital 

Holdings Limited 
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 Country of    

 incorporation   

Name of entities / nationality Type of business Nature of relationships 

    

Synergy Strategic  

  Solutions Management 

   DMCC (“Synergy”) 

United 

Arab 

Emirates 

Business advisory 

 

Common directors with  the 

Company’s and the Company’s 

advisory 

    

    

Sukhumvit Inter  Thailand Trading of raw  Common Shareholder with  

  Development Co., Ltd.  water the Company 

    

Million Miles Co., Ltd. Thailand Transportation Director related to major 
   shareholder of the Company 

    

Great Siam Steel Works 

 Co., Ltd. 

Thailand Trading of rolled steel Common directors with  

G J Steel 
    

Advance Metal  Thailand Trading of steel Director related to major 

 Fabrications Co., Ltd.   shareholder of the Company 
    

SSP Place Co., Ltd. Thailand Office rental Common directors with  
    G J Steel 

    

Asia Metal PCL. Thailand Manufacture and sale 
of steel   

Common Shareholder and  
directors with the Company   

    

Arnoma Hotel Bangkok  Thailand Hotel, food and  Common directors with  

 Co., Ltd.  beverage the Company and common 
   Executive with G J Steel 

    

Grand Asia Steel 

Processing Center  

Thailand Factory construction 

service 

Subsidiary of related party  

with whom the Company 

Co.,Ltd. (Formerly    

Asia Metal Fabrication    

Co., Ltd.)    

    

Panich Sawad Co.,Ltd. Thailand Sale of steel Director related to major 

   shareholder of the Company 

    

Felix River Kwai Resort        Thailand Hotel, food and  Common directors with  

 (Kanchanaburi) Co.,Ltd. 
 beverage G J Steel 

    

Superior Overseas Thailand Management Related party of  

 (Thailand) Co., Ltd. 
 Advisory the shareholder of the Company 
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 Country of    

 incorporation   

Name of entities / nationality Type of business Nature of relationships 

    

Mahachai Steel Center  Thailand Sale of steel Related party of  

 Co., Ltd.   the shareholder of the Company 
    

Metal Inter Co., Ltd. Thailand Sale of steel Related party of  

   the shareholder of the Company 
    

M & L Steel Co., Ltd. Thailand Sale of steel Related party of  

   the shareholder of the Company 

   (registered the dissolution of 

the company on 23 April 2018) 
    

The Steel Public Co.,Ltd. Thailand Manufacture and 

sale  of steel  

Related party of  

the shareholder of the Company 
    

Liberty Steel Siam Co.,Ltd Thailand Sale of steel Related party of  

the shareholder of the Company 
    

    

Mrs. Naengnoi Trivuth Thailand - Relative of subsidiary’s 

director 

    

Mr. Veerachai 

   Suteerachai 

Thailand - Director of related Company 

    

Key management      Thailand - Persons having authority and  

  personnel   responsibility for planning, 
   activities of the entity, directly  

   or indirectly, including any 

director (whether executive 

   or otherwise) of the Group 
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The pricing policies for particular types of transactions are explained further below: 
 

Transactions Pricing policies   

Sale of finished goods Agreed-upon basis based on market price 

Sales of raw material and other Cost plus margin and agreed price 

Revenue from service-tolling Contractual rate 

Operating and labor management  Contractual prices based on contract rate  

service income   and actual hours 

Interest income Contractual rate 

Purchase of finished goods Agreed-upon basis based on market price 

Purchase of raw material Cost plus margin and agreed price 

Purchase of raw water  Contractual prices 

Rental and service expenses Contractual prices 

Business advisory services Contractual prices 

Sales agent fee Contractual rate 

Finance costs Contractual rate 
 

Significant transactions for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 with related parties were as 

follows: 
 

 Consolidated   Separate 
 financial 

statements 

 financial statements 

Year ended 31 December 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 ( in million Baht) 

Subsidiaries        
Sale of raw material and finished goods -  -  36  670 

Revenue from hire of work -  -  274  3,871 

Purchase of raw material and finished goods -  -  309  273 

Financial costs -  -    45  59 

        

Related parties        

Sale raw material and finished goods 286  977  912  - 

Purchase of raw material and finished goods -  624  -  608 

Rental and service expenses 11  12  6  8 
Business advisory services 97  -  83  - 

Finance costs 1,012  954  708  515 

        

Key management personnel        

Key management personnel compensation        

Salary and bonus 43  46  16  17 

Meeting allowance and other benefits 8  8  4  4 

Total key management personal 

compensation 

 

51 

  

54 

  

20 

  

21 
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Balances as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 with related parties were as follows: 
  

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

          

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

Trade accounts receivable 8        

Subsidiary         

G J Steel  -  -  -  6 

Total  -  -  -  6 

        

Account Receivable - Related Party        

Receivable from operating service  

income                                                       

       

         

Subsidiary         

OAC  -  -  1,053  1,129 

Less allowance for doubtful account                                 -  -  (1,053)  (1,129) 

Net  -  -  -  - 

         

Receivable from guarantee obligation         

Subsidiary         

OAC  -  -  1,313  1,313 

Less allowance for doubtful account  -  -  (1,313)  (1,313) 

Net  -  -  -  - 
         

Account receivable from decreased 

capital of investment in subsidiary 

  

- 

  

- 

  

- 

  

- 
         

Advances         

Subsidiary         

GS Securities  -  -  4  4 

Total  -  -  4  4 
         

Received in advance         

Other related party         

Mahachai Steel Center Co., Ltd.  81  81  73  73 
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   Separate 

   financial statements 

       

  Note 2019  2018 
      

   (in million Baht) 

Advance payment for purchases of  12    

   property, plant and equipment      

Other related parties      

Grand Asia Steel Processing Center Co.,Ltd.  

(Formerly Asia Metal Fabrication Co., Ltd.)   8  8 

Less allowance for impairment asset   (8)  (8) 

Net   -  - 

      

Other non - current assets      

Loans to and interest receivable from related parties      

Subsidiaries        

Loans to related parties        

OAC     2,547  2,547 

SPH     7  7 

     2,554  2,554 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts     (2,554)  (2,554) 

Net     -  - 

      
 

Accrued Interest Income from related parties       

OAC    209  209 

SPH    1  1 

    210  210 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts    (210)  (210) 

Net    -  - 
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Movements of loans to related parties for year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018  was as follows: 
 

  Consolidated and 

  Separate 

  financial statements 

  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

Loans to related parties     

As at 1 January   2,554  2,554 

Increase (Decrease)  -  - 

As at 31 December   2,554  2,554 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

         

         

Deposit - other related parties          

Sukhumvit Inter Development Co., Ltd.  2  2  2  2 

SSP Place Co., Ltd.  2  1  1  1 

Total  4  3  3  3 

         

Trade accounts payable 
 

Other related party 

20  

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

Mahachai Steel Center Co., Ltd  196  200  196  200 

        

 

Current portion of long-term loan 

 from related party  

Other related party 19,5(d) 

       

ACO I  314  314  314  314 
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  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

Advance received from customer         

Other related party         

Asia Metal PCL.  1  1  1  1 
         

Other payables and accrued expenses  21        

Other related parties         

Mr.Veerachai Suteerachai  -  78  -  78 

Arnoma Hotel Bangkok Co., Ltd.  3  3  3  3 

Great Siam Steel Works Co.,Ltd.  1  1  1  1 

SSP Place Co., Ltd.  20  22  19  21 

Mahachai Steel Center Co., Ltd.  39  38  39  38 

Superior Overseas (Thailand) Co., Ltd 

ACOI 

 - 

1,300 

 479 

4,334 

 - 

1,300 

 479 

4,334 

Synergy 44  -  43  - 

SSG Capital Management 38  -  38  - 

Total 1,445  4,955  1,443  4,954 
         

Liabilities from terminated rehabilitation 

plan and compromise 

 

 26 
       

Other related person         
Mr.Veerachai Suteerachai  32  -  32  - 
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  Consolidated   Separate  

 Note financial statements  financial statements 

         

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

Amount due to related party         

Subsidiaries         
         

GS Securities  -  -  92  92 

         

Accrued interest expense 23        

Subsidiaries         

G J Steel   -  -  -  19 

GS Securities  -  -  314  273 
         

Other related parties         

Mrs. Naengnoi Trivuth  8  13  8  13 

Mr.Veerachai Suteerachai  9  6  9  6 

Mahachai Steel Center Co., Ltd.  92  51  92  51 

Superior Overseas (Thailand) Co., Ltd.  -  260  -  260 

Link Capital I  61  34  36  - 

ACOI 139  4,558  139  4,558 

Total     309     4,922  598  5,180 
         

Machinery and construction payables         

Other related party         

Grand Asia Steel Processing Center Co.,Ltd. 

(Formerly Asia Metal Fabrication Co., Ltd.) 
 

2  2  2  2 
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  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

         

Short-term loans from related parties 19        

Subsidiaries         

G J Steel  -  -  -  94 

GS Securities  -  -  313  1,027 

  -  -  313  1,121 

         

Other related parties         

Mrs. Naengnoi Trivuth  -  30  -  30 

Link capital 1  811  1,239  811  - 

Total  811  1,269  1,124  1,151 
 

Movements of short-term loans from related parties for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 

were as follows: 
 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

Short-term loans from related parties        

As at 1 January 1,269  1,506  1,151  1,151 

Increase 811  -  811  - 

Decrease (1,269)  (237)  (838)  - 

As at 31 December 811  1,269  1,124  1,151 
 

Short-term loans from related person and related parties 
 

Related person 
 

On 28 March 2012, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Mrs. Naengnoi Trivuth in the 

amount of Baht 30 million, which bears interest at the rate of 12% per annum. Under the terms of this 

loan, the Company pledged 500 million shares of G J Steel (Equivalent to 50 million shares after the 

change in the par value of shares) held by the Company as collateral for the benefit of the lender. 
 

On 6 March 2019, the said creditor has filed a case to the South Civil Court requests the Company to repay 

outstanding debts totaling Baht 41.79 Million, (Principal of Baht 30 Million, and interest rate at 12.0% per 

annum of principal till the filing date of Baht 11.79 Million.)  
 

On 24 April 2019, the Company has entered in to the memorandum of compromise with that person 

regarding installment payment in order to use as a negotiation framework for compromising in the 

court.  
 

On 6 June 2019, Bangkok South Civil Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which 

define the Company to pay debt to the said person principal Baht 30 million and interest Baht 5 

million, interest Baht 5 million will be paid within 30 December 2019 and principal pay in 36 monthly 

installments at the amount of Baht 0.83 million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 

until final installment at the end of April 2024. 

 

On 18 December 2019, the company has already paid interest of 5 million baht. 
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Related Parties 
 

Loan from GS Securities as of 31 December 2019, amount of Baht 313 million (31 December 2018: 

Baht 1,027 million) are upon demand promissory note bears interest at the rate of 1.25% per annum. 

(31 December 2018: rate of 1.25% per annum) 
 

During the 4th quarter of 2019, GS Securities pays Baht 1,800 million (as described in note 11 to the 

financial statements) from capital reduction to the Company meanwhile the Company repays loan both 

short term and long term to GS Securities amounted to Baht 1,800 million. Therefore, the remaining 

balance of short term loan from GS Securities as at 31 December 2019 is Baht 313 million 
 

In year 2017 The Company has entered to short-term loan agreement from G J Steel in the credit 

facilities of Baht 94 million by which the principal and interest are to be repaid within the period of 6 

months with interest rate at 12.5% p.a.  
 
 

On 22 September 2017, the Company had made the memorandum of amendment to revise repayment 

within 15 November 2017. 
 

Later on 14 January 2019, the Company had made the memorandum of amendment to revise 

repayment within 15 May 2019. 
 

In April 2019, the Company repays all principal including interest up to 30 April 2019 
 

Long-term loans from related parties 
 

 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 
  

       

  (in million Baht) 

Long-term loans from related parties         

Subsidiary         

GS Securities (See Note 3(a) and 3(e))  -  -  -  1,086 

         

Other Related party         

Link capital 1 19 1,934  1,118  885  - 

Total  1,934  1,118  885  1,086 
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Loans from shareholders 
 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 

        

 2019  2018  2019  2018 
 

       

 (in million Baht) 

Loans from Shareholder 1 4  4  4  4 
 

Movements of Loans from shareholders for year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 
 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 
        

 (in million Baht) 

Loans from shareholders        

As at 1 January  4  4  4  4 

Decrease -  -  -  - 

As at 31 December  4  4  4  4 

 

   

Consolidated  

  

Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

Liabilities from terminated 

rehabilitation plan an 

compromise 
 

26 

       

Related person and Related parties         

Mr.Veerachai Suteerachai  16  -  16  - 

Mrs. Naengnoi Trivuth  30  -  30  - 

Superior Overseas  146  -  146  - 

Total  192  -  192  - 
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Other significant agreements with related parties 
 

5(a)  On 15 January 2013, the Company borrowed an amount of Baht 683 million, bearing interest at 

3% per annum, by entering into a loan agreement with GS Securities with the first repayment on 

30 December 2013 and will pay every last working day of each year until the principal is repaid 

in full. The principal is schedule to be repaid within 30 December 2017. 
 

On 26 December 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment to 

within 30 December 2019. 
 

On 28 December 2018, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment to 

within 30 December 2021. 
 

On 21 February 2013, G J Steel partially redeemed its debentures from GS Securities for a net 

amount of Baht 403 million and in the meantime the Company borrowed from GS Securities 

amounting to Baht 403 million and then provided a loan to OAC for an amount of Baht 403 

million in order for OAC to repay debt to its financial institution creditor, with interest at 8% 

per annum with the first repayment on 30 December 2013 and will pay every last working day 

of each year until the principal is repaid in full. The principal is scheduled to be repaid within  

30 December 2017.  
 

On 30 May 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to revise interest rate from 8% per 

annum to 3.25 % per annum since 1 June 2016. 
 

On 26 December 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment to 

within 30 December 2019. 
 

On 28 December 2018, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment to 

within 30 December 2021. 
 

During the 4th quarter of 2019, GS Securities pays Baht 1,800 million as described in note 11 to 

the financial statements from capital reduction to the Company meanwhile the Company repays 

loan both short term and long term to GS Securities amounted to Baht 1,800 million. Therefore, 

the remaining balance of long term loan from GS Securities as at 31 December 2019 is fully 

paid. 
 

5(b)  In year 2013, G J Steel entered into an agreement with OAC in which OAC accepts liabilities 

arising from the compromise agreement with Master Steel Company Limited amounting to Baht 

17.91 million in exchange for the transfer of 35.82 million shares of the Company held by OAC 

at the agreed price of Baht 0.50 per share to Master Steel Company Limited. 
 

In addition, G J Steel settled a labour case with a former employee at the Central Labour Court. 

Under this agreement, G J Steel agreed to transfer the Company’s shares of 33 million shares which 

held by OAC to the former employee at an agreed price of Baht 0.45 per share, amounting to Baht 

14.85 million and OAC agreed to guarantee the share price at Baht 0.45 per share in 90 days from 

the transferred share date (“guarantee period”). 
 

Therefore, G J Steel entered into a memorandum with OAC to accept the liabilities arising from the 

compromised debt agreement in amounting of Baht 32.76 million. The said debt shall be mature on 

30 June 2014. On 5 June 2015, G J Steel paid to OAC for the amount of Baht 29.54 million which 

the outstanding debts remained at Baht 3.22 million. 
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5(c)  On 13 January 2014, OAC deposited 102.3 million shares of the Company with Deposit Office, 

Legal Execution Department as a guarantor under the compromise OAC agreed G J Steel to 

transfer additional 102.3 million shares of the Company held by OAC at Baht 0.10 per share (the 

market price at the end of guarantee period) to the employee. 
 

And the same date, G J Steel entered into an memorandum with OAC to accept additional 

liabilities of Baht 10.23 million. This said liabilities dued within 30 June 2014. At present this 

liabilities is in the process of negotiations to extend the repayment schedule. 
 

5(d)  On 17 February 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the Company’s execution of 

financial support agreements in the aggregate amount of Baht 4,610 million, comprising a long-

term loan in the amount of Baht 400 million the period of 5 years which bears interest at 12% 

per annum repayment in 48 installments. Bank guarantee facilities in the aggregate amount of 

Baht 210 million and trade credit facilities for purchase of raw material and spare parts for 

production in the amount of Baht 4,000 million with a Supporting Customer. To reciprocate the 

support, the Company has appointed the supporting customer to be the distributor for the hot 

rolled coil steel products produced by the Company and the Company is entitled to certain 

percentage of sales for the period of 5 years. Moreover, the supporting customer and a group of 

other customers have agreed to purchase all of the hot rolled coil steel products which the 

Company is able to produce for a period of 2 years. Under the conditions of financial support 

agreements, the Company pledged G J Steel’s shares in the amount of 12,000 million shares and 

the Heavy Gauge Shearing Line as collateral in favour of Supporting Customer. On 2 May 2014, 

the Company already registered the mortgage with the central registration office, Department of 

Industrial Works. 
 

On 17 February 2014, the loan of Baht 400 million was drawn down by the Company. 
 

On 29 February 2016, the Company entered into additional short - term secured loan agreement 

of Baht 30 million with the above related person, bears interest at the rate of 12% per annum, 

repayment in monthly installment of Baht 1 million commencing in January 2017 and guarantee 

by assets of a related person of the Company. 
 

On 27 March 2017, the Company had made the memorandum of amendment to revise 

repayment period to be 38 equal monthly installment of Baht 8 million commencing in 

September 2017. 
 

On 22 November 2017, there was a Board of Director’s meeting to approve in principle the 

termination of financial support agreement with Mahachai Steel Center Co.,Ltd. dated 17 February 

2014. This is to comply with the Company submission for rehabilitation plan with the Central 

Bankruptcy Court on 14 November 2017.  
 

On 17 December 2018, the said related party transferred the loan dated 17 February 2014 and 29 

February 2016 which had outstanding balance of Baht 304 million and Baht 10 million 

respectively including all rights and commitments to the New Creditor. 
 

5(e)  On 28 February 2014, GS Securities entered into a mortgage agreement of 2,000 million shares 

of G J Steel held by GS Securities and the supporting customers (Pledgee) to secure the 

repayment of loans the Company has with the Pledgee. 
 

On 26 May 2015, GJ Steel’s par value has been changed from Baht 0.69 per share to Baht 6.90 

per share. This cause a reduction to the said 2,000 million shares to be 200 million shares. 
 

Subsequently, during 5-9 March 2018 and during 12-16 March 2018, the supporting customer 

(Pledgee) has enforced the pledged share totaling 200 million shares. 
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5(f)  On 7 May 2014, OAC enters into a Transfer of assets for debt repayment contract with Shareholder 

2 of the Company agreeing to partially pay the debts by transferring ownership of assets value 

Baht 303 million which composes of 4,125 million of GJS shares, 274 million units of GJS-W2, 

413 million units of GJS-W4 and 209 million of the Company shares. Besides, at the same date, 

the Company and Shareholder 2 agreed to extend the payment of debts to 30 June 2016, 

provided that OAC has complied to debt payment in according to the Transfer of assets for debt 

repayment contract. OAC transfers the aforementioned assets to Shareholder 2 on 18 June 2014. 

Thus the Company classifies the outstanding balance of loans to non-current liabilities since the 

2nd quarter of 2014. 

Then the Lenders of OAC’s loan complaint case to OAC and the Company as guarantor to 

repay the outstanding debt of OAC’s loan and OAC has other obligations with third parties. 

Based on the current financial position of OAC, OAC was unable to meet its obligations. The 

Company was guarantor of OAC’s loan and as its parent company has obligations making it 

jointly liable for OAC’s obligations. 
 

Later on 29 May 2015, the Southern Bangkok Civil Court have made a judgment to the 

Company to pay the above shareholder amounted to Baht 592 million including interest 7.5% 

p.a. of Principal at Baht 392 million since 8 May 2015. Later the Company had enter into a 

memorandum with the shareholder that the Company will instalment within 9 months Since 10 

August 2015 and the Shareholder will release OAC’s obligations. Therefore, the Company 

transfer provision for guarantee subsidiary amount of Baht 522 million to other payable and 

accrued expenses and accrued interest. 

On 4 May 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment period to 

within 28 February 2017. 

On 28 February 2017, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment period 

of shareholder 2 to within 31 August 2018.  

 

On 31 July 2019, the Company enters into a compromise agreement with Shareholder 2. The 

Company will repay debt by 

 

1. Partially convert principal amounting Baht 332 million into ordinary share of the Company. 

Shareholder 2 agrees to waive all accrued interest up to 02 December 2019 as well as interest 

until the date of newly issued shares. 

 

2. Pay by installment for the Remaining debt Bath 146 million within 9 years from the date of 

shareholder 2 is issued new shares. Interest will be calculated on remaining principal Baht 59 

million with the rate of MLR-2.00% per annum. The Company will received grace period for 3 

years and start repay principal and interest from the 4th year. However, the Company has to pay 

all principal and interest within the 9th years.   

 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-

Equity Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with 

Department of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019. (as described 

in note 28 to the financial statements) 
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5 (g) On 14 November 2017 the Company entered into Tolling Agreement with G Steel whereby the 

Company (the metallic owner) shall supply the primary metallic and delivery to the plant and G 

Steel (the operator) shall process and convert metallic to Hot Roll Coils (HRC) extend to deliver 

such HRC to the Company’s customers in according to the Company’s sale order. Tolling 

agreement is valid one year from the contract date and automatically renew for another year if 

there is no notice of termination prior to expiration of 90 days. Its service fee shall be charged 

based on contractual prices. Later on 17 December 2018, GJ Steel made a notice of cancellation 

of the contract in advance. With the agreement effective until 31 January 2019. 

 

6 Transactions with business alliances 
 

Since its inception, the Group has had significant business transactions with its business 

alliances. Business alliances are companies with whom the Company formerly had shareholders 

and/or directors in common or had directors who have relationships with the Company’s 

directors. The business transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis with commercial 

terms agreed upon in the ordinary course of business between the Group and the business 

alliances. Below is a summary of those transactions. 
 

Transactions  Pricing policies   

Purchase of raw material  Agreed-upon basis based on market price 

Transportation expenses and other services  Agreed-upon basis and contractual price 

Rental and service expenses  Contractual prices 

Financial Cost  Contractual prices 

   
 

 
  

7 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

Cash at bank - current accounts 
 -  -  -  - 

Cash at bank - saving accounts  464  258  40  57 

Total  464  258  40  57 

 

 The currency denomination of cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as  

follows: 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB) 450  253  39  56 

United States Dollar (USD) 14  5  1  1 

Total 464  258  40  57 
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8  Trade accounts receivable 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 
  

       

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

Related parties 5 -  -  -  6 

Business alliances 6 363  363  363  363 

Other parties  628  678  270  247 

  991  1,041  633  616 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (955)  (1,027)  (603)  (610) 

Net  36  14  30  6 

         

Bad and doubtful debts         
         

expense (Reversal of) for the year: 36 (7)  (1)  7  (1) 
 

     Aging analyses for trade accounts receivable were as follows: 
 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 
 

   
 

   

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 ( in million Baht) 

Related parties        

Overdue:        
Less than 3 months -  -  -  6 

Total -  -  -  6 
        

 

Business alliances        

Overdue:        

   Over 12 months 363  363  363  363 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (363)  (363)  (363)  (363) 

Net -  -  -  - 
        
        

Other parties        

Overdue:        

   Less than 3 months 36  14  30  - 

   Over 12 months 592  664  240  247 

 628  678  270  247 
        

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (592)  (664)  (240)  (247) 
        

Net 36  14  30  - 

        

Total 36  14  30  6 
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Customer credit terms 
 

The normal credit terms granted by the Company are by cash and not over 2 - 3 working days and G J Steel 

by cash and not over 7 working days for domestic sales, and letters of credit at sight for export sales. 
  

As such, full provision for receivables of Non-Performing customer have been set by the Group and the 

Company. 
 

No sales transactions for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 with the customers with whom 

the Group and the Company have set aside provisions but are still engaged in business as a means of 

debt collection. 
 

The Company 
 

According to the Company filed a complaint against a domestic customer (the “Non-Performing 

Customer”) for the alleged breach of dis-honored cheque. Currently, which the company has already fully 

set up allo wance for doubtful accounts. the Civil Court made its final award and ordered that the      

Non-Performing Customer pay Baht 146 million with interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum. Under the 

repayment agreement, the Non-Performing Customer had to make the payments to the Company within 

July 2013. Currently, the Company not yet received repayment. Therefore, the Company record fully 

allowance for doubtful account. 
 

The Company follows up for the debt payment with the Non-Performing Customer and also has outside 

lawyer checked property of the Non-Performing Customer for legal enforcement. However, no property 

founded for seize and/or sequester to be enforced. Therefore, on 28 September 2018, the Company filed a 

petition to the Central Bankruptcy Court requesting the Non-Performing Customer to be bankrupt. 
 

On 17 June 2019, the Central Bankruptcy Court has judgment that the Non-Performing Customer was 

bankrupt 

 

G J Steel 
 

In year 2013, G J Steel filed complaints against the Non-performing domestic Customers with Civil 

Court for breach of sale and purchase agreements. 
 

On 21 October 2013 the Civil Court ordered the Customer 1 to pay the amount of Baht 423 million and 

interest at 7.5% p.a. of the principal of Baht 352 million since filing date until the settlement date. 

However the Customer 1 could not paid as per the judgment debt. On 17 November 2016, the 

Customer 1 had a registration for dissolution. G J Steel has been sent the first notice of debt repayment 

on 29 June 2018 and the second notice of debt repayment on 7 August 2018. Later on 24 August 2018 

G J Steel filed the a lawsuit to the Customer 1 against the Central Bankruptcy Court to ask the court to 

order and seize the Customer 1’s asset and request the Customer 1 is bankruptcy. On 1 November 2018 

the Court had ordered to seize the Customer 1’s asset, which on 28 December 2018, G J Steel has 

already filed an application for payment of debt and the Official Receiver has ordered an appointment 

to inspect the application of payment on 25 February 2019 and make the first appointment with 

creditors on 28 May 2019. It appears that Customer no.1 did not come to the creditors meeting as per 

the official receiver appointment and the officers who submit application for debt repayment has voted 

requesting the court ruled the debtor to be bankrupt. Currently, it is pending for judgement that 

Customer no.1 is bankrupt from Bankruptcy court. Currently, the verdict is pending with the Central 

Bankruptcy Court that Customer 1 is bankrupt. 
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On 3 March 2014, G J Steel had made the compromise agreement with Customer 2 to pay the amount 

of Baht 78 million (principal amount of Baht 65 million and interest amount of Baht 13 million) by 

installation payment commencing on 25 March 2014 to 25 August 2016. However, the Customer 2 was 

defaulted the payments. However from year 2015 to the present G J Steel traced the land of the 

Customer 2 with Land Department, and not found their property. On 27 October 2017, G J Steel filed a 

lawsuit to Customer 2 against the Bankruptcy Court to ask Customer 2 to pay the debts to G J Steel in 

the amount of Baht 78 million and interest at 7.5% p.a. of the principal from the date of 25 March 

2014. On 18 December 2017, the Court has ordered to seize the Customer 2’s asset. On 24 January 

2018, G J Steel has filed a request for payment with the Official Receiver and the official debt 

investigation was completed on 8 May 2018, and the Customer 2 did not come to the meeting of the 

creditor as informed by the Official Receiver. And the creditors who filed an application for payment 

of debt have voted to request the Court to adjudge the debtor to be bankrupt. Subsequently, on 17 April 

2019, the Central Bankruptcy Court has the judgment that the second customer was bankrupt. 
 

On 28 May 2019, G J Steel Board of Directors meeting has approved for write-off trade account 

receivable - Customer 2 and allowance for doubtful account of Baht 65 million according to the Court 

ordered this trade account receivable - Customer 2 to be bankrupt. 
 

The currency denomination of accounts receivable as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 was as follows: 
 

  

Consolidated  

  

Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 
 

       

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 ( in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB) 897  940  539  515 

United States Dollar (USD) 94  101  94  101 

Total 991  1,041  633  616 

 

9  Inventories 
 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 
        

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 ( in million Baht) 

Finished goods 880  1,225  534  1 

Raw materials 862  1,774  444  267 

Spare parts 874  1,138  411  417 

Consumables 73  85  73  85 

Others 268  693  9  4 

 2,957  4,915  1,471  774 

Less Allowance for devaluation        

      of inventories (233)  (212)  (114)  (20) 

Less Allowance for raw material left (92)  (92)  (92)  (92) 

Net 2,632  4,611  1,265  662 
 

Carrying value of inventories        

   pledged to secure liabilities -  327  -  - 
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company entered into the guarantee agreement by pledging the 

machinery spare parts which owned by the Company in the amount of Baht 36 million to secure the 

amount of Baht 36 million loan to one lender. On 4 June 2019, the Company had already redeem that 

collateral. 

 

Lost on raw materials 

 

In the 3rd quarter of 2017, the Company has raw materials (scrap steel) left which may be considered 

misappropriate, fraud or stolen. Estimated preliminary damage cost is approximate Baht 88 million of 

which the Company set fully provision Later, in the 4th quarter of 2017, the Company prepared yearly 

stock count of its goods and raw materials as at 31 December 2017 and found that quantity of the 

Company’s raw materials (scarp) has lost from the stock total amount of Baht 92 million. Therefore, the 

Company set up increasing allowance for loss on raw materials amounting to Baht 4 million in the 4th 

quarter of 2017. Presently, the matter is under the investigation process of police officers in order to 

conclude the final offence and damage. And will further file a legal lawsuit. However, the Company’s 

management assured that the Company does not have any more damage.  
 

On 1 and 6 November 2017, the Company had to pay USD 2 million (approximate Baht 68 million) to a 

supporter but raw material (scarp steel) has not been transferred as usually from control yard which the 

Company has recorded as advance payment for raw material at transaction date. At the present, the 

Company is in the recalling process. 
 

10  Other current assets 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

Other receivables  6  15  6  15 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts  -  (7)  -  (7) 

     6  8  6  8 

         

Advance for purchases of goods         

  and service 9 203  189  134  128 

Less allowance for impairment  (11)  (11)  -  - 

    192  178  134  128 

         

Suspense value added tax  78  133  69  133 

Revenue Department Receivable  147  188  147  20 

Others  30  59  12  15 

  255  380  228  168 

Net  453  566  368  304 
 

Bad and doubtful debts          

   expense (Reversal of) for the year:  -  (89)  -  - 
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On 13 September 2019 GJ Steel filed a lawsuit against a local company representative to the Southern 

Bangkok Criminal Court due to the defendant counterfeited the bank account in such sale and 

purchase documents of a foreign company which is a manufacturer of electrode for an amount of Baht 

2.3 million together with the interest 7.5% p.a. from the date the defendant had committed the offense. 

Currently this matter is under Court proceedings and the Court has started the order of reconciliation 

session on 13 November 2019. But the parties cannot agree The court therefore ordered the 

investigation of the data on the 9 March 2020. 
 

The currency denomination of other current assets as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 
 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 

        

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

        

 ( in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB) 308  442  256  216 

United States Dollar (USD) 105  116  96  80 

Others 51  26  16  15 

 464  584  368  311 

Less doubtful and allowance for impairment  (11)  (18)  -  (7) 

Total 453  566  368  304 
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11  Investments in subsidiaries 
 

 Investments in subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 
 

 Separate financial statements 

 Ownership interest  Paid-up capital  Cost  Impairment  At cost - net 

                    

 2019  2018  2019  2018  2019  2018  2019  2018  2019  2018 

                    

 (%)  (in million Baht)  (in million Baht) 

Subsidiaries                    

Ordinary shares:                    

SPH 99.99  99.99  341  341  341  341  (341)  (341)  -  - 

G J Steel 8.24  15.08  96,104  96,104  3,776  3,776  (2,680)  (1,783)  1,096  1,993 

GS Securities 99.99  99.99  692  2,492  446  1,608  -  (491)  446  1,117 

GS Notes* 99.99  99.99  2,722  2,722  1  1  -  -  1  1 

GS Notes 2* 99.99  99.99  473  473  1  1  -  -  1  1 

                    

Total         4,565  5,727  (3,021)  (2,615)  1,544  3,112 
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*  Two subsidiaries, GS Notes and GS Notes 2 were registered to dissolve the Companies with the 

Ministry of Commerce on 22 September 2017 as approved by the special resolution of the 

shareholders at the extra ordinary shareholders’ meeting on 20 September 2017.  
 

The Company does not write-off those investments due to they are not yet complete of the liquidation. 
 

The movement of investments in subsidiaries during year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as 

follow: 

 

 

 Separate financial statements 

 2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

Cost method    

At 1 January  5,727  5,727 

Deductions (1,162)  - 

At 31 December 4,565  5,727 

    

Impairment    

At 1 January  (2,615)  (2,489) 

Reversal of impairment 491  - 

Increase (897)  (126) 

At 31 December  (3,021)  (2,615) 

    

Net 1,544  3,112 
 

 

G J Steel 
 

On 7 May 2014, OAC enters into a transfer of assets for debt repayment contract with Shareholder of 

the Company to agree for partial debt repayment against with the transferring ownership of G J Steel 

shares of 4,125 million shares and G J Steel warrants of 687 million units which were held by OAC. 

In September 2014, the Company had transferred ownership of G J Steel shares of 1,500 million 

shares to other non-related company, resulting to G Steel held 20.79% shareholding in G J Steel. 
 

Later in June and July 2017, the Company sold the shares held in G J Steel of 100 million shares as a 

result the Company shareholding in G J Steel reduced to 20.05% before the share capital increase as a 

result of this transaction, the Company recorded loss on the disposal of sale of shares in the statement 

of comprehensive income of Baht 125 million. 
 

As at 31 December 2017, the Company and GS Securities hold 18.72% in G J Steel. 
 

Later in March 2018, the Company’s financial supporter compulsory pledge shares held in G J Steel of 

200 million shares by GS Securities to guarantee G J Steel to repay the Company liabilities. After the 

forced sale of shares, as at 31 December 2018 the percentage of shareholding in the Company of the 

Company and GS Securities is 17.28 %. 
 

As at 31 December 2019, the market price of ordinary shares of G J Steel was Baht 0.13 per share (31 

December 2018: Baht 0.12 per share), equivalent to a valuation of the investment of Baht 273 million 

(31 December 2018: Baht 252 million). 
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As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s investment in G J Steel at cost amounted to Baht 3,776 million 

(31 December 2018: Baht 3,776 million) where as the book value of G J Steel shareholders’ equity 

proportion in the percentage that the Company held according to its financial statement as at 31 

December 2019 amounted to Baht 1,096 million (31 December 2018 : Baht 2,119 million). 
 

GS Securities 
 

On 4 September 2019, GS Securities registered the capital decrease with Department of Business 

Development, hence the share capital reduced from Baht 2,491.9 million (Ordinary share 249.19 million 

shares at par Baht 10 per share) to Baht 691.9 million (Ordinary share 69.19 million shares at par Baht 10 

per share). From the said transaction, the Company recorded the decrease of investment in GS Securities in 

portion, recognized gain from decrease capital in investment in subsidiary amounted to Baht 1,130.11 

million, recorded account receivable from decreased capital in investment in subsidiary amounted to Baht 

1,800 million in the separate financial statements.  
 

During the 4th quarter of 2019, GS Securities pays Baht 1,800 million from capital reduction to the 

Company meanwhile the Company repays loan both short term and long term to GS Securities 

amounted to Baht 1,800 million.(as described in note 5 to the financial statements). 

 

G J Steel’s shares and G J Steel’s warrants as collateral for the benefit 
 

The Company 
 

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 the Company pledged its G J Steel’s shares and G J Steel’s 

warrants as collateral for the benefit of creditors as follows: 
 

 Separate financial statements 

 
   

 2019  2018 

    

 Number of shares (in million share) 

G J Steel’s shares    

Short-term loan from other party 60  60 

Short-term loan from related party 50  50 

Working capital lines of credit with related party 1,900  1,900 

Working capital lines of credit with    

a Supporting customer no.3 -  18 

    

Total 2,010  2,028 
 

On 1 May 2014, the Company entered into a loan agreement in the amount of Baht 36 million with 

the supporter company to replace the financial support agreement dated 16 January 2013, the 

interest shall be at 7.75% per annum from the signing date. The principal together with the interest 

shall be paid monthly and to be completed within 2 years. And for securing of the loan, the 

Company had pledged 102 million of the G J Steel share (Equivalent to 10 million shares after the 

change in the par value of shares) as collateral for the repayment of the loan. 
 

On 29 April 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment period within 

30 April 2017. 
 

On 28 April 2017, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment period within 

30 April 2018. 
 

On 12 March 2019, the supporter company has filed a case to the South Civil Court requests the 

Company to repay outstanding debts totaling Baht 27.78 million; (principal of Baht 25.52 million, 

and interest rate at 7.75% per annum of principal till the filing date of Baht 2.26 million.)  
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On 24 April 2019, the Company has entered into the memorandum of compromise. with that person 

regarding installment payment in order to use as a negotiation framework for compromising in the 

court. 
 

Subsequently, on 4 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which 

define the Company to pay only principal Baht 25.52 million in 36 monthly installments at the 

amount of Baht 0.71 million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 until final 

installment at the end of April 2024. 
 

On 12 September 2014, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a lender in the amount of 

Baht 10 million, which bears interest 8% per annum and to be dued on 30 January 2015. Under the 

terms of this loan, the Company pledged 500 million shares of G J Steel (Equivalent to 50 million 

shares after the change in the par value of shares) held by the Company as collateral for the benefit 

of the lender. Later the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment period 

within 30 June 2016. 
 

On 23 June 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment period within 

30 June 2017. 
 

On 30 June 2017, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment period within 

30 June 2018. 
 

On 26 February 2019, the above lender has filed a case to the South Civil Court requests the 

Company to repay outstanding debts totaling Baht 13.57 Million; divided into principal of Baht 10 

Million, and interest rate at 8.0% per annum of principal till the filing date of Baht 3.57 Million.  
 

On 24 April 2019, the Company has entered into the memorandum of compromise with that 

company regarding installment payment in order to use as a negotiation framework for 

compromising in the court. 
 

on 5 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which define the 

Company to pay only principal Baht 10 million in 36 monthly installments at the amount of Baht 

0.28 million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 until final installment at the end 

of April 2024 

 

Subsequently, on 31 July 2019 the Company entered into a compromise agreement to convert 

principal Baht 10 million into ordinary share of the Company with the same price for major creditors 

and the Company will propose to the 2nd /2019 EGM of the Company for approval of debt to equity 

conversion program. However, if the debt to equity conversion is not success, the Company will pay 

in 36 monthly installments at the amount of   Baht 0.28 million each. First installment will be at the 

end of May 2021 until final installment at the end of April 2024. 

 

And in the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 2/2019 on 11 October 2019, the 

meeting has approved the Debt to Equity Conversion Scheme by the allocation and offering of the 

newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company with the same offering price to other creditors totaling 

8 creditors in order to repay the debt which will be converted to the equity. The Company will 

complete this within the 4th quarter of 2019.    

 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with Department of 

Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019. (as described in note 28 to the 

financial statements) 
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GS Securities 
 

On 28 February 2014, GS Securities entered into an agreement to pledge 2,000 million G J Steel shares 

(Equivalent to 200 million shares after the change in the par value of shares) held by GS Securities to 

supporting customer of the Company (Pledgee) as collateral for loan repayment of the Company.  

Subsequently, the said shares has been forced sold for debt settlement with pledgee in March 2018 

totaling 200 million shares. After the aforementioned forced sold, as at 31 March 2018, the Company 

and GS Securities has the percentage of shareholding in G J Steel equal to 17.28%. 
 

On July 27, 2015, GS Securities entered into an agreement to pledge 3,200 million G J Steel shares 

(Equivalent to 320 million shares after the change in the par value of shares) held by GS Securities to 

supporting customer no.3 of the Company and G J Steel (Pledgee) as replaced collateral for debt 

repayment of the Company and G J Steel. 
 

Later on November 2017, the Company repay debt to the said supporter no.3 has forced sold the said 

share totaling 13 million shares, therefore, as at December 31, 2017 there was 307 million shares 

remain. And the Company did the letter cancelling the collateral borrowing agreement dated 20 February 

2018 already. 

 

12 Advance payment for purchases of property, plant and equipment 
 

  Consolidated  Separate 

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

  2019  2018  2019  2018 
         

  (in million Baht) 

Advance payment for :         

Land  210  210  -  - 

Hot rolled coil expansion project  1,308  1,308  1308  1,308 

Coil conditioning line project  692  692  692  692 

Others  -  55  -  - 

  2,210  2,265  2,000  2,000 

Less allowance for loss on impairment  (2,000)  (2,055)  (2,000)   (2,000) 

Net  210  210  -  - 

 

G J Steel 
 

On 29 September 2015 G J Steel and the land seller agreed to mortgaged the 5 land title deeds which 

are presented as past of advances for purchases of property, plant and equipment amounted to Bath 

210 million as collateral to Revenue Department, as security of tax instalment for both of the 

Company and G J Steel amounted to Baht 330 million (G J Steel Baht 206 million) (as described in 

Note 21 to the financial statements). 
 

On 28 May 2019, G J Steel Board of Directors meeting has approved for write-off the advance for 

purchase of machinery and allowance for impairment of Baht 54 million because G J Steel entered to 

Settlement Agreement and Release Agreement in which it agree to release all liabilities and 

commitments under all existing agreements, resulting to G J Steel cannot claim any right on such 

advance for purchase machinery. 
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13  Property, plant and equipment 
 

The movement of property, plant and equipment during the year ended 31 December 2019and 2018 is as follow : 
 

 
 

  Consolidated financial statements 

    Building  Machinery  Office    Assets under    
    and   and  equipment    construction   
  Land  improvement  equipment  furniture  Vehicles  and 

installation 
 Total 

  (in million Baht) 
Cost               
As at 31 December 2018  1,602  9,485  39,246  338  14  15,432  66,117 
Additions  -  -  47  14  -  93  154 
Disposals / Write off  -  -  (1,944)  (4)  (3)  (3,637)  (5,588) 
Transfers  -  -  27  1  -  (28)  - 
As at 31 December 2019  1,602  9,485  37,376  349  11  11,860  60,683 
               
Accumulated depreciation               
As at 31 December 2018  43  5,567  21,338  291  11  -  27,250 
Depreciation charge for the year  5  128  1,563  13  1  -  1,710 
Disposals / Write off  -  -  (294)  (4)  (3)  -  (301) 
As at 31 December 2019  48  5,695  22,607  300  9  -  28,659 
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  Consolidated financial statements 

    Building  Machinery  Office    Assets under    

    and   and  equipment    construction   

  Land  improvement  equipment  furniture  Vehicles  and installation  Total 

  (in million Baht) 
Allowance for loss on 

impairment  
              

As at 31 December 2018  329  1,147  3,075  6  -  9,925  14,482 
Disposals / Write off  -  -  (980)  -  -  (3,338)  (4,318) 
As at 31 December 2019  329  1,147  2,095  6  -  6,587  10,164 
               

Net book value               
As at 31 December 2018  1,230  2,771  14,833  41  3  5,507  24,385 
               

As at 31 December 2019  1,225  2,643  12,674  43  2  5,273  21,860 
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  Separate financial statements 
    Building  Machinery  Office    Assets under    
    and   and  equipment    construction   
  Land  improvement  equipment  furniture  Vehicles  and 

installation 
 Total 

  (in million Baht) 
Cost               
As at 31 December 2018  736  3,238  21,314  159  9  8,616  34,072 
Additions   -  -  36  5  -  1  42 
Disposals / Write off  -  -  (1,926)  -  (3)  (3,637)  (5,566) 
As at 31 December 2019  736  3,238  19,424  164  6  4,980  28,549 
               

Accumulated depreciation               
As at 31 December 2018  -  1,297  11,203  142  9  -  12,654 
Depreciation charge for the year 

 
 -  36  772  4  -  -  812 

Disposals / Write off  -  -  (280)  -  (3)  -  (283) 
As at 31 December 2019  -  1,333  11,698  146  6  -  13,183 
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  Separate financial statements 
    Building  Machinery  Office    Assets under    
    and   and  equipment    construction   
  Land  improvement  equipment  furniture  Vehicles  and installation  Total 

  (in million Baht) 

Allowance for loss on 

impairment  
              

As at 31 December 2018  306  1,071  2,686  6  -  6,804  10,872 
Disposals / Write off  -  -  (980)  -    (3,338)  (4,317) 
As at 31 December 2019  306  1,071  1,706  6  -  3,466  6,555 
               

Net book value          -     
As at 31 December 2018  430  870  7,422  11  -  1,812  10,546 
               

As at 31 December 2019  430  834  6,020  12  -  1,514  8,810 
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Assets under construction and installation 
 

Details of assets under construction and installation as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 
 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 

        

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

        

 (in million Baht) 

Hot rolled coil expansion 513  1,541  513  1,541 

Coil conditioning line 4,430  6,273  4,430  6,273 

Galvanizing line  5,038  5,038  -  - 

Reversing Mill line 1,525  1,525  -  - 

Others 354  1,055  37  802 

Total 11,860  15,432  4,980  8,616 
 

Impairment evaluation 
 

The Company 
 

In determination of assets impairment, the management of the Company has verified various factors 

and concluded that there is no factor indicated the value of land, buildings and equipment as at 31 

December 2019 and 2018 may be impaired. However, for the sake of certainty, December 2019, the 

management of the Company has retained an independent appraisers to evaluate the value of the land, 

buildings and equipment as of 31 December 2019 of the Company. Together with the assessing value 

in use of the assets by the Company’s management, with the discounted rate (before tax) of 11.74% 

p.a. in year 2019 and 11.16% p.a. in year 2018, as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 there are no factor 

indicated that the book value of the land, buildings and equipment may be impaired.  
 

For a part of assets under construction and installation at cost of Baht 1,385 million which the 

Company has policy to terminate the project due to capital investment problem detailed as follows : 
 

- Refer to the privilege received from the Board of Investment (BOI) under promotional certificate 

no.1579 (2)/2548 dated 29 June 2005, the Company got waived of import duty tax of machineries 

approved by the committee (BOI) and has to complete and start operation within 36 months from 

the certificate issued date. Nevertheless, the Company has capital investment problem during that 

period and the Company has continually requested for extension and the latest request is to 

extend from 29 June 2017 to be 29 June 2019. However, at present, the Company has not 

received approval from BOI yet. If the Company does not receive the said approval from BOI, 

this may lead to the revocation of the privilege and the Company may have import duty tax, VAT 

and penalty burden around Baht 850 million to pay to the Custom Department and Revenue 

Department. Therefore, to alleviate the aforementioned burden, the Company then has policy to 

sell the said assets (BOI) to Free Zone in order to received exemption of the said tax burden. The 

Company also hires the independent appraiser to appraise the fair value net of cost to sell of the 

asset under construction, the result of the appraisal indicate that the allowance for loss on 

impairment increase from Baht 349 million to Baht 1,347 million. The Company records 

impairment of the said assets amounting Baht 998 million in the 4th quarter of 2017.  

 

- Subsequently, during February, March and May 2019, the Company has sold the aforementioned 

assets, with loss from the sale of assets in the amount of Baht 41.61 million which the Company 

has recorded allowance for impairment in the amount equal to the loss in 2018. 
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Subsequently, the Company’s Board of Director meeting on 18 November 2019 approved to re-

exporting of the 4 machines under BOI which remains from the process of re-export at the beginning 

of year 2019 from the Kingdom, i.e. Skin Pass, Slitting Coil, Cut to Length, and Heavy Gauge since it 

is not supported by the extension or included in the former Investment Promotion Certificate. As the 

machine is considered to be used for coil center business, which is not under the investment promotion 

from the BOI. The Company has sold the aforementioned 4 assets to Free Zone and recorded the loss 

from the sale of assets in the amount of Baht 946 million in year 2019. 

 

G J Steel 
 

In determination of assets impairment, the management of G J Steel has verified various factors and 

concluded that there is no factor indicated the value of property, plant and equipment as at 31 

December 2019 and 2018 may be impaired. And in December 2019, the management of G J Steel has 

retained an independent appraiser to evaluate the value of the land, buildings and equipment as at 31 

December 2019 together with the assessing value in use of the assets by G J Steel’s management with 

the discounted rate (before tax) of 8.22% p.a. in year 2019 and 10.50% p.a.in year 2018. It concluded 

that as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 there is no factor indicated that the book value of the land, 

buildings and equipment may be impaired. 
 

Mortgage transaction  
 

The Company 
 

Security for short-term loan from a financial institution  
 

The Company had mortgaged machinery which are Skin pass Mill as collateral for short-term loan 

from a financial institution not over Baht 510 million. (as described in note 17 to the financial 

statements) 
 

On 20 August 2019 the said financial institution released the collateral to the Company and the 

Company already redeemed the collateral with the central registration office, Department of Industrial 

Works on 24 September 2019. 
 

Security for tax liabilities  
 

The Company had mortgaged machinery (Pickle and Oil Line) with a net book value of baht 1,503 

million as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018:Baht 3,326 million) with the Revenue 

Department to secure tax liabilities amounting to baht 599 million. (as described in note 21 to the 

financial statements) 

 
Security for working capital line with a foreign company  

 

The Company had mortgaged property, plant and equipment with a net book value of Baht 7,308 

million as at 31 December 2019 as collateral for working capital lines of credit. (as described in note 

17.to the financial statements) 
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G J Steel 
 

Liabilities from terminated the rehabilitation plan and loan from a foreign company 
 

As at 31 December 2019, G J Steel’s property, plant and equipment, with a net book value of Baht 

7,695 million, were mortgaged under the rehabilitation plan (31 December 2018:Baht 8,451 million) 
 

G J Steel filed a lawsuit to Southern Bangkok Civil Court against three defendants, in their capacities 

of bondholder trustee and security agent, to release the lien and security interests on G J Steel’s 

property, plant and equipment which were held by them to secure payment of the bond issued by G J 

Steel in the past, which had been fully paid. On 28 October 2013, the Southern Bangkok Civil Court 

ruled in favour of G J Steel ordering the defendants to release the mortgaged assets. One of the 

defendants negotiated for make compromise agreement with G J Steel to release of the mortgaged 

assets and appealed to Southern Bangkok Civil Court to compromise the case. 
 

Later on 6 May 2014, the Appeals Court has ruled the compromise agreement between G J Steel and 

one defendant that the defendant shall release the mortgaged collateral to G J Steel. At present G J 

Steel is in the process of redemption the collateral. 
 

Currently, two defendants of them have released the mortgaged assets. 
 

As described in Note 17 to the financial statement on 6 January 2017, G J Steel’s Board of Directors 

meeting had approved the mortgaged most of land, plant and machinery for second ranking secure 

from facility of long-term loan from a foreign company for facility amount of USD 71 million in 

mortgage amount of Baht 4,022 million. Later on 13 November 2017, the Company’s Board of 

Directors meeting has approved to increase the total mortgage amount to Baht 6,619 million. 
 

Security for tax liabilities 
 

On 14 May 2013, G J Steel’s Board of Directors approved to mortgage its machinery (Pickle and oil 

line), with a net book value of Baht 659 million as at 31 December 2019 ( 31 December 2018 : Baht 

695 million), as security in the facilities amount of Baht 1,043 million with the Revenue Department 

for its tax liabilities and G J Steel registered this mortgage transaction with the Central Office for 

Machinery Registration, Department of Industrial Works on 10 October 2013. 
 

On 9 July 2015, the G J Steel’s Board of Directors approved the letter to the Revenue Department to 

approve the instalment including. Accept for additional collateral and on 29 September 2015, G J Steel 

has already registered the mortgage of land together with buildings with the Revenue Department (as 

describe in note 12 to the financial statements). 
 

Security for joint credit facility with the Company from a local bank. 
 

On November 13, 2014, the G J Steel’s Board of Directors approved to mortgage its machineries of  

G J Steel (Recoil Temper Mill (RTM) and the Acid Regeneration Plant (ARP)) with a net book value 

of Baht 605 million as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018 : Baht 650 million) to secure the 

joint credit facility in total amount of Baht 602 million between G J Steel and the company from a 

local bank. On 3 March 2015, the G J Steel has mortgaged the machineries with The Central Office 

Equipment DIW.in amount of Baht 480 million. Subsequently, on 20 August 2019 the said financial 

institution released the collateral to the Company and the Company already redeemed the collateral 

with the central registration office, Department of Industrial Works on 24 September 2019. 
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14  Intangible assets 
 

  Consolidated financial statements 

  Computer     

  software  Production   

  licence  licence  Total 

  (in million Baht) 

Cost       

As at 31 December 2018  224  41  265 

Increase  1  -  1 

       

As at 31 December 2019  225  41  266 

       

Accumulated amortisation       

As at 31 December 2018  212  34  246 

Amortisation charge for the year  4  -    4 

       

As at 31 December 2019  216  34  250 

       

Allowance loss on impairment       

As at 31 December 2018  -  7  7 

Increase (decrease)  -  -  - 

       

As at 31 December 2019  -  7  7 

       

Net book value       

As at 31 December 2018  12  -  12 

       

As at 31 December 2019  9  -  9 
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 Separate 

 financial  

 statements 

 Software 

 (in million Baht) 

Cost  

As at 31 December 2018 18 

Increase - 

  

As at 31 December 2019 18 

  

Accumulated amortisation  

As at 31 December 2018 14 

Amortisation charge for the year 2 

  

As at 31 December 2019 16 

  

Net book value  

As at 31 December 2018 4 

  

As at 31 December 2019 2 
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15  Deferred tax  

 

Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences and unused tax losses that have not been 

recognised in the financial statements were as follows:   
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

Deductible temporary differences         

• Allowance for doubtful accounts          

  - trade accounts receivable  191  205  121  122 

• Allowance for devaluation of          

  - inventories  47  42  23  4 

• Allowance for doubtful accounts           

  - other current assets  476  492  474  490 

• Allowance for impairment losses on         

  Investment  715  641  604  523 

• Allowance for impairment losses on          

  property, plant and equipment  2,033  2,896  1,311  2,174 
• Allowance for impairment losses on          

  Intangible assets  2  1  -  - 

• Allowance for doubtful account           

  - amount receivable from related party  112  112  -  - 

• Allowance for doubtful account           

  - loan to subsidiaries  553  553  553  553 

• Allowance for impairment          

  - other non-current assets  811  822  400  400 

• Depreciation gap  1,452  1,323  929  894 

• Provision for guarantee subsidiary  -  48  -  48 

• Provision for court case claim  28  86  -  86 

• Provision for deferred difference          

  from debt restructuring  -  20  -  20 

• Employee benefits obligations  37  29  16  13 

• Provision loss from purchase order  21  8  17  - 

  6,478  7,278  4,448  5,327 

Loss carry forward  1,035  1,192  395  515 
 

Total  
 

7,513  
 

8,470  
 

4,843  
 

5,842 
 

The tax losses expire in year 2019 to year 2023. The deductible temporary differences do not expire 

under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in the financial statements 

of the Group and the Company in respect of these items because it is not certain that future taxable 

profit will be generated against which the Group and the Company can utilise the benefits there from.  
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16  Other non-current assets  
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

 Note        

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

   

Suspended construction in progress  2,086  2,086  -  - 

Less allowance for impairment  (2,053)  (2,053)  -  - 

  33  33  -  - 

         

Deposit-related party 5 4  3  3  3 

Other deposits  6  42  6  9 

Cash Guarantee for electricity 

usage  

109 

 

33 

 

109 

 

- 

Cash Guarantee for purchase    

natural Gas  

 

98  

 

-  

 

53  

 

- 

Deferred cost of rolls  432  408  201  209 

Rolls in transit  4  19  4  - 

Others  46  27  15  14 

Total  732  565  391  235 
 

G J Steel 
 

Suspended construction in progress 
 

Suspended construction in progress represented the Direct Reduced Iron plant (“DRI Facility”). The 

management of G J Steel decided to suspend this project in 1999. The carrying value of this 

investment was written down to its independently appraised forced sale value based on the market 

price of steel scrap of Baht 44 million. On 29 July, 2014 the Board of investment (“BOI”) had ordered 

the revocation of privilege in the production of Direct Reduced Iron. However there is no burden of 

import duty on machinery and raw materials. 
 

In year 2015, the management has reconsidered the estimated recoverable amount of assets that the 

recoverable amount is lower than the net book value in the amount of Baht 11 million which was 

recorded as loss on impairment in the statement of income. 
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17  Working capital facilities for operation 
 

The Group and the Company has working capital facilities from various sources as follow: 
 

17.1 G J Steel get collaboration from various raw material suppliers oversea with supplier Credit in term of 

Collateral Management Agreement (“CMA”), G J Steel gets CMA from 2 oversea raw material 

suppliers amounting to USD 30 - 120 million. 
 

G J Steel have used this kind of supplier credit for many years as working capital for imported and 

usage of scrap which is the main raw material of the production. 
 

17.2 On 9 February 2015, the Company and G J Steel had entered into enter the Facilities Agreement with 

a local bank as following details: 
 

17.2.1 Original loans and the existing accrued interest, has been restructured as follow: 
 

- Loan amounting Baht 237.80 million. 
 

- Trust receipt (T/R) amounting approximately Baht 200 million. 
 

- Accrued interest expenses recorded in the system of the Company is approximately Baht 

176 million. The Bank is in the process of adjusting the said accrued interest down by 

calculated default interest rate from 15% to 8% per annum. 

The Company has to pay all loans as specified the agreement. 
 

17.2.2 New facilities in the amount of Baht 602 million as follow : 
 

17.2.2.1 Letter of Credit (L/C) in the amount of Baht 350 million which is the joint credit 

facilities between the Company and G J Steel. 
 

17.2.2.2 Letter of guarantee (LG) in the amount of Baht 252 million for G J Steel.  
 

The Company and G J Steel will provide securities under the aforementioned facilities as below: 
 

- The Company will increase the mortgaged amount of the existing mortgaged machine 

from formerly Baht 475.6 million to the new mortgage of Baht 510 million. 
 

- G J Steel will mortgage the machinery in 2 items; the Recoil Temper Mill (RTM) and the 

Acid Regeneration Plant (ARP) for the mortgaged amount of Baht 480 million.  
 

 

The Company and G J Steel negotiate to revise some condition of the contract, which has been 

agreed by the bank and enter into new contract on 25 February 2016 as the following matter:  
 

1. Re-scheduling monthly installments by extension loan repayment for another year, the end of 

the repayment schedule would be ended in August 2017. Moreover, the bank is allowing to sell 

some amount of pledged shares being collateral under the Facilities Agreement in order to 

decrease the debts and interests amount. 
 

2. Canceled the Letter of Credit Facility (L/C as sight) which unutilized.  
 

3. Reducing the interest rate 1% from the primary rate. The reducing interest amount will be 

accrued through the repayment period and such accrued interest payment will be forgiven after 

full repayment. 
 

4. Request for an approval of a waiver of default status and a consent to allow G J Steel to be able 

to mortgage some of its assets. 
 

Later, the Company paid some loan request for re-scheduling monthly installments by extension loan 

repayment. 
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As at 31 December 2018, G J Steel has utilized the bank guarantee in amounting of Baht 145 million. 

As at 31 December 2018, the company’s loans are as follow : 
 

- Loan amounting Baht 118.15 million 

- Trust receipt amounting Baht 44.36 million 
 

On 19 June 2019, the Company sent proposal letter for debt settlement to the bank for their 

consideration. 

 

On 22 July 2019 the Bank sent letter to the Company which agrees in principle to the debt settlement as 

proposed by the Company. 
 

On 19 August 2019, the Company repaid the principal of the loan amounted to Baht 106.25 million 

(50% of total principal), this is from the negotiation with the bank and have mutual agreement. The 

Company has to pay only principal by 50% of total principal Baht 212.50 million, therefore ,the 

remaining principle of Baht 106.25 million , provision for defend from debt restructuring of Baht 

77.75 million and accrued interest of Baht 152.97 million will be forgiven which the Company 

recorded as gain from the debt restructuring in the statement of comprehensive income in the year 

2019.  
 

On 20 August 2019 the said financial institution released the collateral to the Company and G J Steel 

and the Company already redeemed the collateral with the central registration office, Department of 

Industrial Works on 24 September 2019. 
 

17.3 G J Steel’s Board of Directors Meeting has resolved as follows :  
 

On 6 January 2017, had approved G J Steel to enter into a long-term loan agreements in the facilities 

amount not exceeding of USD 111 million not only to solve the default long outstanding debt since in 

year 2012 but also to spend for working capital. 
 

On 6 November 2017 had approved G J Steel to enter the loan agreements in the period not over 2 years 

which revised the existing facilities loan from original contract to the total loan facility  not exceeding 

USD 121 million in the purpose of increasing working capital for operation and purchasing of raw 

material, and increasing the capacity of G J Steel. 
 

On 26 February 2019 had approved G J Steel to enter into additional short-term loan agreement of 

USD 20 million which the total loan facility not exceeding USD 141 million in the purpose of 

working capital. 
 

On 29 April 2019 had approved to ratify for entering the additional loan agreement which the total 

loan facility not exceeding USD 145 million. 
 

Currently G J Steel has total facilities loan in amount of USD 75 million which consisted of: 

 

 USD million 

The first loan facility 30 

The second loan facility 45 

Total 75 
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Details of credit facilities in accordance with the above meeting resolution can be summarized details 

as follows: 

 

17.3.1 On 22 January 2017, G J Steel (borrower) has entered the long term loan agreement in 

the facilities amount of USD 71 million with Link Capital I (Mauritius) Limited (lender) 

with the fixed interest rate at 12 p.a., in a period of 5 years and collateral with second 

ranking in mortgage most of land, plant and machinery. The loan facilities are separately 

in 2 groups as described below. 
 

17.3.1.1 The first loan facility of USD 41 million for the purpose of repayment of new 

creditor and includes all reimbursement expenses from lender such as due 

diligence expenses and other expenses related the processes to ensure the long 

term loan agreement completed. On 1 February 2017, G J Steel had drawn down 

the loan of USD 41 million in order to repayment principal and interest payable 

to new creditor. 
 

Later on 7 March 2018 there was an amendment of the loan agreement for the 

first loan facility and the second loan facility on that G J Steel may prepay the 

loan before the first anniversary of the first draw down in which G J Steel must 

give the lender not less than 30 days’ written notice of the prepayment, or after 

the first anniversary of the first draw down. After repaid of the first loan facility, 

the outstanding available of the first loan facility allow to transfer and increase 

in the second loan facility. By the way, the time frame that can proceed to 

increase the second loan facility must be done no later than 7 June 2018 for the 

purpose of working capital (Non-Tolling) and no later than 28 February 2019 

for the purpose of Non-Tolling Standby Letter of Credit for Metallic Purchase 

Contract. 
 

On 28 March 2018 and 4 April 2018, G J Steel had repaid the first loan facility 

in total amount of USD 11 million and it transfers and increases in the second 

loan facility for the purpose of Non-Tolling Standby Letter of Credit for 

Metallic Purchase Contract. 
 

Presently, the first loan facility has the credit line of USD 30 million. 
 

17.3.1.2. The second loan facility of USD 30 million for the purpose of working capital 

and capital expenditure. On 10 October 2017, G J Steel had drawn down the 

loan of USD 5 million. Subsequent on 19 December 2017, the new loan had an 

additional the purpose of draw down as described in Note 17.4.2 Moreover, as 

described in Note 17.4.1.1 there was an amendment of the loan agreement for 

the prepayment of  the loan before the first anniversary of the first draw down 

in which G J Steel must give the lender not less than 30 days’ written notice of 

the prepayment, or after the first anniversary of the first draw down. 
 

 

On 1 April 2019, G J Steel has entered the amendment loan agreements by increasing the 

second loan facility of another USD 4 million for the purpose of as a guarantee of 

Standby Letter of Credit for bank guarantee to Provincial Electricity Authority of 

Thailand from a local bank. Then on 29 April 2019, G J Steel Board of Directors meeting 

had approved to ratify for such amendment loan agreements. 
 

At 31 December 2019, G J Steel has drawdown the second loan facility in the purpose of 

Non-Tolling Standby Letter of Credit and Metallics Purchase Contract of USD 13.1 

million and utilized the bank guarantee for Provincial Electricity Authority of Thailand of 

USD 4.7 million. 
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17.3.2 For another credit facility of USD 40 million on 6 November 2017, G J Steel Board of 

Directors meeting had approved for entering the loan agreements in the period not over 2 

years which revised the existing facilities to USD 50 million for the purpose of 

increasing working capital for operation and purchasing of raw material, and increasing 

the capacity of G J Steel with the interest rate in between 2% - 12% p.a. depend on the 

loan facilities. On 13 November 2017 and 19 December 2017, G J Steel entered to amend 

the loan agreement from original contract as mentioned in Note 17.4.1 to revise the total 

loan facility not exceeding USD 121 million by applied the same collateral as mentioned 

in Note 17.4.1 with the followings:  
 

17.3.2.1. Second loan facility reduced to USD 25 million (and later as mentioned in Note 

17.4.2.3 after G J Steel repaid the fourth loan of USD 5 million, the second 

loan facility has revert to USD 30 million) and additional the purpose of 

drawdown for Metallic Purchase Contract and for Non-Tolling Standby Letter 

of Credit. 
 

17.3.2.2. Third loan facility of USD 50 million as short-term period of one year, interest 

rate of 12% p.a. for the purpose of supporting to tolling with G Steel, Metallic 

Purchase Contract and Tolling Standby Letter of Credit. During in November 

2017, the Company had drawdown the loan of USD 40 million and during year 

2018 until 24 July 2019, GJ Steel has fully repaid the third loan facility and has 

completely repaid credit facility of Tolling Standby Letter of Credit. 
 

17.3.2.3. Fourth loan facility of USD 5 million as short-term period of three-month, 

interest rate of 12% p.a. for the purpose of purchase of raw material. If there is a 

fully repaid of fourth loan facility, then the fourth loan facility shall be closed 

and divert to the second loan facility. On 20 December 2017, the Company had 

drawdown the loan of USD 5 million. 
 

Later on there was a fully repaid of fourth loan facility on 9 March 2018, as a 

result the fourth loan facility had been closed and divert to the second loan 

facility. 
 

17.3.3 On 26 February 2019, G J Steel’s Board of Directors meeting had approved for entering 

the additional loan agreements (Fifth loan facility) of USD 20 million for the purpose of 

repayment of liabilities under Standby Letter of Credit and working capital, interest rate 

12% p.a. and full repayment is schedule in 3 months. On 28 February 2019, G J Steel had 

drawdown the loan of USD 20 million. 
 

Subsequently, on 7 and 10 May 2019, G J Steel has repaid the principle loan of fifth loan 

facility in full amount. 

  



 

G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries                   

Notes to financial statements                             

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

 

78 

17.4 On March 30, 2017, the Company has entered to short-term loan agreement to G J Steel in the credit 

facilities of Baht 94 million by which the principal and interest are to be repaid within the period of 

6 months with interest rate at 12.5% p.a. On 22 September 2017, the Company agreed to extend 

repayment period for principal and interest within 15 November 2017.  
 

On 14 November 2017, the Company has filed a petition for business rehabilitation with the Central 

Bankruptcy Court to prevent the Company from falling into bankruptcy due to the Company has 

been in default since the economic crisis in 2008 and there is a risk of being sued or bankrupt by 

judgment of the creditor. The Central Bankruptcy Court accepted the petition for business 

rehabilitation on 15 November 2017. Later on 24 December 2018 the Court ordered the dismissal of 

the request for rehabilitation of the Company. At present, the Company is in the process of 

procuring external sources of funds. the Company therefore wishes to extend the term of the new 

loan to 15 May 2019. Subsequently, on 14 January 2019, G J Steel agreed to extend the repayment 

period with interest within 15 May 2019. For such financial assistance to the Company by extending 

the term of the original loan is according to the resolution of G J Steel Board of Directors meeting 

on 14 January 2019 and 29 April the G J Steel annual shareholder’s meeting has approved for such 

financial assistance transaction to the Company. By the way, as at 31 December 2018, the 

management believes that the Company will be able to repay the loan back to G J Steel. Therefore, 

G J Steel does not consider the allowance for doubtful accounts. However, G J Steel still ceases to 

recognize interest income since 15 November 2017, where by G J Steel will recognize interest 

income only when G J Steel receives interest payments from the Company. 
 

Subsequently, on 26 and 30 April 2019, the Company repays all principal including interest up to  

30 April 2019. 
 

17.5 On 2 April 2019, the Company entered into loan Agreement with Link Capital I for the amount of 

USD 70 million which consist of two tranches of facility as below: 
 

17.5.1 Facility A, a non-revolving working capital facility USD 30 million with a front-end fee of 

3% of the drawdown amount, which such front end fee will be deducted from the loan 

proceeds of utilization. Interest rate is charged at 12% per annum payable at each quarter 

end. The loan repayment schedule is 30% at the fifth anniversary of the agreement date and 

the remaining 70% on final maturity date. The Company gradually utilized the loan in April 

2019 for full amount. 

17.5.2 Facility B, a standby letter of credit facility USD 40 million. Such standby letter of credit is 

being issued to secure the payment obligations of the Company for imported raw materials 

from suppliers or is being issued as collateral for any bank or financial institution issuing or 

providing any bank guarantee to secure the obligations of the Company for utilities usages . 

Fees with respect to facility B are  
 

1. commitment fee 3% per annum on the undrawn available commitment under 

facility B 

2. utilisation fee 8% per annum on the aggregate undrawn face amount of all 

outstanding standby letters of credit procured by the Lender 
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The Company’s Board of Director meeting on 17 July 2019 approves the obtaining of the short term 

loan in the amount of up to USD 14.10 million from the Lender.  On 22 July 2019, the Company 

entered into Amendment and Restatement Agreement with Link Capital I (Mauritius) Limited, 

summary details are as follow; 

1. Change loan amount from USD 70 million  
 

2. Add Facility C, a short term non-revolving loan USD 14.1 million, with a front-end fee of 

3% of the drawdown amount, which such front end fee will be deducted from the loan 

proceeds of utilization. Interest rate is charged at 12% per annum payable at each quarter 

end.  The loan repayment schedule is bullet repayment which is nine months from the 

Amendment and Restatement date. 

The Company utilizes the loan from Facility C full amount in 24 July 2019. Securities for the 

aforementioned agreement are mortgaged of land, building and machinery of the Company in the 

mortgaged amount of Baht 5,564 million and also personal assets of Company’s director and third 

party. 

 

On 20 December 2019, the Company entered into the Second Amendment and Restatement 

Agreement with Link Capital I, summary details are as follow; 

1. Remove the claimed SBLC from the Events of Default 

2. Add the clause to treat the claimed SBLC as a Deemed Loan under Facility B, the deemed loan 

will be charged until it is fully repaid at 3% credit backstop administration fee (onetime fee) and 

12% p.a. interest rate + 3% p.a. default interest rate, payable in quarterly basis, on the last day of 

each quarter. 
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18  Interest-bearing liabilities 

 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

Current        

Short-term loans from        

 financial institutions        

   Secured -  213  -  213 

        

Current portion of long-term loan        

  from related parties         

Secured 314  314  314  314 

        

Bonds         

   Unsecured 471  506  471  506 

        

Trade account payables        

   Secured 367  398  196  204 

   Unsecured 42  47  42  47 

 409  445  238  251 

        

Other payables and accrued expenses         

   Secured 96  -  -  - 

   Unsecured 252  5,935  239  5,922 

 348  5,935  239  5,922 

        

Liabilities under rehabilitation plan        

   Unsecured 455  234  285  234 

    

        

Other current liabilities         

   Unsecured 3  3  3  3 

 

Short-term loans from related parties         

   Secured 811  1,269  811  30 

   Unsecured -  -  313  1,121 

 811  1,269  1,124  1,151 

Short-term loans from other parties        

   Secured -  50  -  50 

   Unsecured -  57  -  57 

 -  107  -  107 

        

Total Current 2,811  9,026  2,674  8,701 
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 Consolidated  Separate 

 financial statements  financial statements 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

Non-current        

Other payables and accrued expenses        

  Unsecured 1,137  -  1,137  - 

Liabilities under rehabilitation plan        

   Unsecured 146  -  146  - 

Long-term loan from related party         

  Secured 1,934  1,118  885  - 

  Unsecured -  -  -  1,086 

        

Total Non-Current 3,217  1,118  2,168  1,086 

        

Total 6,028  10,144  4,842  9,787 

 

The periods to maturity of interest-bearing liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as 

follows: 

 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 financial statements  financial statements 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

Within one year 2,811  9,026  2,674  8,701 

After one year but within five years 3,217  1,118  2,168  1,086 

Total 6,028  10,144  4,842  9,787 
 

 

Short-term loans from financial institution 
 

On 25 February 2016, the Company had entered into new contract to extension loan repayment for 

another year, to be dued in August 2017 (as described in note 17 to the financial statement). 
 

   Consolidate and Separate  

   financial statements 
    

   2019  2018 

   ( in million Baht)  
Liabilities under trust receipts    
(Bear interest at MLR% per annum).   -  95 

Less current portion   -  (95) 

Net   -  - 

      

Liabilities from bank guarantee of  

the electronic capacity charge      

(Bear interest at MLR% per annum).   -  118 

Less current portion   -  (118) 

Net   -  - 

      

Current portion of long-term loans from financial 

institution   

 

-  

 

213 
      

Long-term loans from financial institution-net   -  - 
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As described in note 13 to the financial statements, Property, plant and equipment, Security for short-

term loan from a financial institution. 

 
 

Short-term loan from other parties 
 

Loan from an individual 
 

• Case 1 
 

On 9 December 2010, the Company entered into a loan agreement with an individual No. 1 in the 

amount of Baht 15 million, which bears interest at the rate of 15% per annum. Under the terms of this 

loan, the Company pledged 500 million units of its G J Steel second tranche of warrants as collateral 

for the benefit of the lender. The Company shall repay the principal and interest to the said individual 

within 30 June 2014. Later, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment period 

within 30 June 2016. On 23 June 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the 

repayment within 30 June 2017. On 30 June 2017, the Company had made the memorandum to 

extend the repayment within 30 June 2018 
 

On 6 March 2019, an individual No.1 filed a case to the South Civil Court requests the Company to 

repay outstanding debts totaling Baht 33.55 Million; divided into principal of Baht 15 Million, and 

interest rate at 15% per annum of principal till the filing date of Baht 18.55 Million. 
  

On 24 April 2019, the Company has entered into the memorandum of compromise. with that person 

regarding installment payment in order to use as a negotiation framework for compromising in the 

court. 
 

On 6 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which define the 

Company to pay only principal Baht 15 million in 36 monthly installments at the amount of Baht 0.42 

million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 until final installment at the end of 

April 2024. 
 

Subsequently, on 31 July 2019 the Company entered into a compromise agreement to convert 

principal Baht 15 million into ordinary share of the Company with the same price for major creditors 

and the Company will propose to the 2nd /2019 EGM of the Company for approval of debt to equity 

conversion program. However, if the debt to equity conversion is not success, the Company will pay 

in 36 monthly installments at the amount of   Baht 0.42 million each. First installment will be at the 

end of May 2021 until final installment at the end of April 2024. 
 

And in the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 2/2019 on 11 October 2019, the 

meeting has approved the Debt to Equity Conversion Scheme by the allocation and offering of the 

newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company with the same offering price to other creditors totaling 

8 creditors in order to repay the debt which will be converted to the equity. The Company will 

complete this within the 4th quarter of 2019.    

 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with Department of 

Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019. (as described in note 28 to the 

financial statements) 
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• Case 2 
 

On 12 September 2014, the Company entered into a loan agreement with an individual No. 2 in the 

amount of Baht 10 million, which bears interest 8% per annum and to be dued on 30 January 2015. 

Under the terms of this loan, the Company pledged 500 million shares of G J Steel (Equivalent to 50 

million shares after the change in the par value of shares) held by the Company as collateral for the 

benefit of the lender. Later the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment period 

within 30 June 2016. On 23 June 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the 

repayment within 30 June 2017. On 30 June 2017, the Company had made the memorandum to 

extend the repayment within 30 June 2018 
 

On 26 February 2019, an individual No.2 has filed a case to the South Civil Court requests the 

Company to repay outstanding debts totaling Baht 13.57 million; divided into principal of Baht 10 

Million, and interest rate at 8% per annum of principal till the filing date of Baht 3.57 million.  
 

On 24 April 2019, the Company has entered into the memorandum of compromise. with that person 

regarding installment payment in order to use as a negotiation framework for compromising in the 

court. 

 

Subsequently, on 5 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which 

define the Company to pay only principal Baht 10 million in 36 monthly installments at the amount of 

Baht 0.28 million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 until final installment at the 

end of April 2024. 

 

Subsequently, on 31 July 2019 the Company entered into a compromise agreement to convert 

principal Baht 10 million into ordinary share of the Company with the same price for major creditors 

and the Company will propose to the 2nd /2019 EGM of the Company for approval of debt to equity 

conversion program. However, if the debt to equity conversion is not success, the Company will pay 

in 36 monthly installments at the amount of   Baht 0.28 million each. First installment will be at the 

end of May 2021 until final installment at the end of April 2024. 
 

And in the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 2/2019 on 11 October 2019, the 

meeting has approved the Debt to Equity Conversion Scheme by the allocation and offering of the 

newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company with the same offering price to other creditors totaling 

8 creditors in order to repay the debt which will be converted to the equity. The Company will 

complete this within the 4th quarter of 2019.   
 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with Department of 

Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019 (as described in note 28 to the 

financial statements) 

• Case 3 
 

On 6 November 2014, the Company entered into the loan agreement with an individual No. 3 in the 

amount of Baht 6 million, which bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum. The Company shall repay 

the principal and interest to the said individual within 5 May 2015. Later, the Company had made the 

memorandum to extend the repayment period within 30 June 2016. On 23 June 2016, the Company 

had made the memorandum to extend the repayment within 30 June 2017. On 30 June 2017, the 

Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment within 30 June 2018. 
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On 26 February 2019, a debt creditor has filed a case to the South Civil Court requests the Company 

to repay outstanding debts totaling Baht 8.07 million; divided into principal of Baht 6 Million, and 

interest rate at 8% per annum of principal till the filing date of Baht 2.07 million.  

 

On 24 April 2019, the Company has entered into the memorandum of compromise. with that person 

regarding installment payment in order to use as a negotiation framework for compromising in the 

Court. 

 

On 5 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which define the 

Company to pay only principal Baht 6 million in 36 monthly installments at the amount of Baht 0.17 

million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 until final installment at the end of 

April 2024. 

 

Subsequently, on 31 July 2019 the Company entered into a compromise agreement to convert 

principal Baht 6 million into ordinary share of the Company with the same price for major creditors 

and the Company will propose to the 2nd /2019 EGM of the Company for approval of debt to equity 

conversion program. However, if the debt to equity conversion is not success, the Company will pay 

in 36 monthly installments at the amount of   Baht 0.17 million each. First installment will be at the 

end of May 2021 until final installment at the end of April 2024. 
 

And in the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 2/2019 on 11 October 2019, the 

meeting has approved the Debt to Equity Conversion Scheme by the allocation and offering of the 

newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company with the same offering price to other creditors totaling 

8 creditors in order to repay the debt which will be converted to the equity. The Company will 

complete this within the 4th quarter of 2019.  

 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with Department of 

Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019. (as described in note 28 to the 

financial statements) 

• Case 4 
 

On 16 November 2015, the Company entered into a loan agreement with another party for an amount 

up to Baht 30 million with interest rate at 8% per annum. The Company gradually receives the loan 

and the loan will be due in 1 year from the withdrawn date of each amount. The 1st loan will be paid 

on 11 November 2016. 
 

On 16 November 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment will be due 

in 2 years from the withdrawn date of each amount. The 1st loan will be paid on 11 November 2017. 
 

On 9 March 2016, the Company enters into another loan agreement with another party for an amount 

up to Baht 20.9 million with interest rate at 8% per annum. The Company gradually receives the loan 

and the loan will be due in 1 year from the withdrawn date of each amount. Under this loan agreement, 

the Company will provide a certain 3 land deeds as the collateral for the lender. 
 

On 16 November 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment to be 

within 16 November 2017. 
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The above other party, apart from a creditor of loan Baht 50.9 million, it also bought debt under 

rehabilitation plan from a creditor amounted to Baht 75.54 million and from another creditor amounted 

to Baht 31.34 million. So, total debt the Company owed to this party was Baht 157.79 million.   
 

On 30 March 2019, the Company entered into a compromise agreement with a creditor. The Company 

agree to repay debt as per the loan agreement, liabilities under rehabilitation plan and liabilities as per 

the Court judgment only principal amounted to Baht 157.79 million as follows;  

 

- Fist payment Baht 20 million within 31 May 2019  

- Second payment Baht 30 million within 31 December 2019  

- Remaining portion the Company has to pay in 60 monthly installments at the amount of Baht 1.80 

million each. First installment will be at the end of July 2020 onward. 

 

Subsequently, on 31 July 2019, the Company entered into a compromise agreement to repay debt Baht 

30 million within 31 December 2019 and convert the remaining principal Baht 107.79 million into 

ordinary share of the Company with the same price for major creditors and the Company will propose 

to the 2nd /2019 EGM of the Company for approval of debt to equity conversion program. However, if 

the debt to equity conversion is not success, the Company will repay as per the previous compromise 

agreement. 
 
And in the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 2/2019 on 11 October 2019, the 

meeting has approved the Debt to Equity Conversion Scheme by the allocation and offering of the 

newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company with the same offering price to other creditors totaling 

8 creditors in order to repay the debt which will be converted to the equity. The Company will 

complete this within the 4th quarter of 2019.    
 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with Department of 

Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019. (as described in note 28 to the 

financial statements) 

 
Loan from the Supporter  
 

On 16 January 2013, the Company entered into a financial assistance agreement with a company (“the 

Supporter”). The Supporter agreed to provide financial assistance for an amount not more than Baht 

50 million as an advance from customers. The Company agreed that after the Company resumes the 

production, the Company will provide a discount of Baht 300 per ton of HRC by deducting this 

discount from the advance amount until the full amount is repaid. The Company agreed to provide 

800 million shares of G J Steel as collateral for this first advance. In year 2013, the Supporter has 

already made the first advance of Baht 36 million. However, the company has not yet deliver share of 

G J Steel amounted 800 million shares to the supporter and the company cannot provide and deliver 

goods in according to the supporter’s order. On 1 May 2014, the Company enters into a loan 

agreement amounting Baht 36 million with the Supporter in order to replace the financial support 

agreement dated 16 January 2013. Interest rate is 7.75% per annum calculate from the date of the loan 

agreement. Principal and interest will be paid to the lender every month until full and finish within 2 

years and the Company pledges 102 million shares of G J Steel (Equivalent to 10.2 million shares 

after the change in the par value of shares) as collateral to the lender.  
 

On 29 April 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment period within 

30 April 2017. 
 

On 28 April 2017, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment period within 

30 April 2018. 
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On 12 March 2019, the above lender has filed a case to the South Civil Court requests the Company 

to repay outstanding debts totaling Baht 27.78 Million divided into principal of Baht 25.52 Million, 

and interest rate at 7.75% per annum of principal till the filing date of Baht 2.26 Million.  

 

On 24 April 2019, the Company has entered into the memorandum of compromise. with that 

Company regarding installment payment in order to use as a negotiation framework for 

compromising in the court. 
 

Subsequently, on 4 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which 

define the Company to pay only principal Baht 25.52 million in 36 monthly installments at the 

amount of Baht 0.31 million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 until final 

installment at the end of April 2024 
 

 

As at 31 December 2019, the Company has one short term loan contract with a supporter totaling 

amount Baht 26 million (31 December 2018 : Baht 26 million) 
 

The payment to the Lenders of OAC’s loan by the Company 
 

On 21 February 2013, G J Steel partially redeemed its debentures from GS Securities for a net amount 

of Baht 403 million and in the meantime the Company borrowed from GS Securities amounting to 

Baht 403 million and then provided a loan to OAC for an amount of Baht 403 million in order for 

OAC to repay debt to its financial institution creditor. The loan to OAC carries interest at 8% per 

annum with the first repayment scheduled on 30 December 2013 and subsequently on every last 

working day of each year until the principal is repaid in full. The principal is scheduled to be repaid 

within 30 December 2017. 
 

On 30 May 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to revise interest rate from 8% per annum 

to 3.25 % per annum since 1 June 2016. 

On 26 December 2016, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment to within 30 

December 2019 
 

On 28 December 2018, the Company had made the memorandum to extend the repayment to within 30 

December 2021. 
 

During the 4th quarter of 2019, GS Securities pays Baht 1,800 million from capital reduction to the 

Company meanwhile the Company repays loan both short term and long term to GS Securities 

amounted to Baht 1,800 million. Therefore, the remaining balance of long term loan from GS 

Securities as at 31 December 2019 is fully paid. 

 

Bonds 
 

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 the balance of the Company’s bonds is amounting to 

USD 15.51 million, with 3% interest rate per annum, and no collateral which mature in October 2015. 

Which on 9 January 2012, The Company had been received notice from bond holder’s representative 

that due to unable to pay the bonds’ interest on 30 December 2011, caused the Company default to the 

bonds. 
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However, till present, the Company had not been call to redeem the bonds. The movement during the 

year are as follow; 
 

  

Consolidated and Separate 

 financial statements 

 2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

  

Balance - beginning of the year 506  510 

Effect of exchange rate (35)  (4) 

Balance - end of the year 471  506 

Less Current portion of bonds (471)  (506) 

Total of bonds - net of current portion -  - 

 

19  Loans from related parties 
 

 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

Link Capital I   

G J Steel   

Loan 1st USD 30 million  17.3.1 910  979  -  - 

Loan 2nd USD 5 million 17.3.1 152  163    -  - 

Loan 3rd  17.3.2   -   1,239    -   - 

  (31 December 2018: USD 38 million)         

Loan 4th  17.3.2 -  -    -  - 

Loan 5th  17.3.3 -  -    -  - 

         

G Steel         

Loan A USD 30 million  17.5.1 910  -  910  - 

Loan B USD 12.84 million 17.5.2 389  -  389   

Loan C USD 14.10 million 17.5.2 428  -  428  - 

  2,789  2,381  1,727  - 

         

G Steel         

GS Securities Holdings Co., Ltd. 5  -  -  313  2,113 

 5 -  -    94 

Mrs. Naengnoi Trivuth 5 -  -    -  30 

ACOI 5 314  314  314  314 

Total  3,103  2,695  2,354  2,551 
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  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial 

statements 

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

Shot-term loan from related party 17.3.2, 817  1,269  1,130  1,151 

 17.3.3,17.3.5,17.5.2        

Deduct Deferred cost of financing loan  (6)  -  (6)  - 

Total 5 811  1,269  1,124  1,151 

         

Long-term loan from related party 5,17.3.1,17.5.1 2,286  1,456  1,224  1,400 

Deduct Deferred cost of financing loan  (38)  (24)  (25)  - 

  2,248  1,432  1,199  1,400 

 
        

Deduct  Current -Portion of long - 

term loan from related parties 

 

5 

 

(314) 

  

(314) 
  

(314) 
  

(314) 

Total 5 1,934  1,118  885  1,086 

 

The movement of loan from related party for year ended 31 December 2019 was as follow; 

 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 

financial statements  financial 

statements 

 (in million Baht) 

At 31 December 2018  2,695  2,427 

Additional Receive loan during the year 2,408  1,784 

Deduct Paid principle (1,864)  (1,800) 

Effect of exchange rate during the year (136)    (57) 

Total loan from related party 3,103  2,354 

Deduct Deferred cost of financing loan (44)     (31) 

Loan from related party - Net    

At 31 December 2019  3,059   2,323 
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The currency denomination of loan from related party as at 31 December 2019 were as follows: 

 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  (in million Baht) 

United States Bath  314  627 

United States Dollars (USD)  2,789  1,727 

Total 
 

3,103  2,354 

 

On 2 April 2019, the Company entered into loan Agreement with Link Capital I (Mauritius) Limited 

for the amount of USD 70 million which consist of two tranches of facility as below: 
 

1.  Facility A, a non-revolving working capital facility USD 30 million with a front-end fee of 

3% of the drawdown amount, which such front end fee will be deducted from the loan 

proceeds of utilization. Interest rate is charged at 12% per annum payable at each quarter end. 

The loan repayment schedule is 30% at the fourth anniversary of the agreement date and the 

remaining 70% on final maturity date. The Company gradually utilized the loan in April 2019 

for full amount. 
 

2.  Facility B, a standby letter of credit facility USD 40 million. Such standby letter of credit is 

being issued to secure the payment obligations of the Company for imported raw materials 

from suppliers or is being issued as collateral for any bank or financial institution issuing or 

providing any bank guarantee to secure the obligations of the Company for utilities usages . 

Fees with respect to facility B are  
 

2.1  commitment fee 3% per annum on the undrawn available commitment 

under facility B 

2.2  utilisation fee 8% per annum on the aggregate undrawn face amount of all 

outstanding standby letters of credit procured by the Lender 
 

The Company’s Board of Director meeting on 17 July 2019 approves the obtaining of the short-term 

loan in the amount of up to USD 14.10 million from the Lender. On 22 July 2019, the Company 

entered into Amendment and Restatement Agreement with Link Capital I (Mauritius) Limited, 

summary details are as follow; 

Change loan amount from USD 70 million to USD 84.10 million by Add Facility C, a short 

term non-revolving loan USD 14.10 million, with a front-end fee of 3% of the drawdown 

amount, which such front end fee will be deducted from the loan proceeds of utilization. 

Interest rate is charged at 12% per annum payable at each quarter end. The loan repayment 

schedule is bullet repayment which is nine months from the Amendment and Restatement 

date. 

The Company utilizes the loan from Facility C amounted to USD 5 million on 24 July 2019 and 

USD 9.10 million on July 2019.Securities for the aforementioned agreement are mortgaged of land, 

building and machinery of the Company in the mortgaged amount of Baht 7,308 million and also 

personal assets of Company’s director and third party. 
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On 20 December 2019, the Company entered into the Second Amendment and Restatement 

Agreement with Link Capital I (Mauritius) Limited, summary details are as follow; 

1. Remove the claimed SBLC from the Events of Default 

2. Add the clause to treat the claimed SBLC as a Deemed Loan under Facility B, the deemed 

loan will be charged until it is fully repaid at 3% credit backstop administration fee (onetime 

fee) and 12% p.a. interest rate + 3% p.a. default interest rate, payable in quarterly basis, on 

the last day of each quarter. 

On 20 and 23 December 2019, the Company received three Form of Election Notice from SSG, the 

claimed amount of SBLC USD 12.84 million has been paid to the raw material suppliers by SSG. 

The Company then classified this amount to be short term loan from related party in the financial 

statement for the year ended date 31 December 2019.  

 

20  Trade accounts payable 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

 Note        

  2019  2018  2019  2018 
         

  (in million Baht) 

Related parties 5 196  200  196  200 

Business alliances 4 4  5  4  5 

Other parties  761  2,135  428  107 

  961  2,340  628  312 
 

The Company has agreements to purchase raw materials from various suppliers. The Company had 

taken delivery of raw materials under consignment agreement and the accrual as at 31 December 

2019 are amounted to Baht 196 million and has to pay interest at the rate at 3.26% to 3.38% per 

annum on the accrual balance on the credit facility (LC). (31 December 2018 : Baht 203 million, 

interest rate at 3.12% to 3.38% per annum) 

. 

As at 31 December 2019 G J Steel had agreements to purchase raw materials from various suppliers. 

G J Steel had taken delivery of raw materials under consignment agreements totaling Baht 313 million 

and pays interest from 3.00% to 6.00% per annum on the payables balance  
 

The currency denomination of trade accounts payable as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as 

follows: 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 
   

Thai Baht (THB)  243  1,228  151  170 

United States Dollars (USD)  671  1,078  444  108 

Others  47  34  33  34 

Total  961  2,340  628  312 
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21  Other payables and accrued expenses 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

 Note        

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

Current         

Related parties 5 308  4,955  306  4,954 

Business alliances 4 26  22  26  22 

Tax installments payable  312  548  254  374 

Electricity payable and          

  energy service payable  351  338  255  223 

Others  431  1,577  259  1,219 

  1,428  7,440  1,100  6,792 

         

Non-Current         

Related parties 5 1,137  -  1,137  - 

Tax installments payable   -  118  -  60 

  1,137  118  1,137  60 
         

Total  2,565  7,558  2,237  6,852 
 

The currency denomination of other payables and accrued expenses as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 

were as follows: 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

   

Thai Baht (THB)  1,312  3,220  1,007  2,597 

United States Dollars (USD)  1,250  4,327  1,230  4,255 

Others  3  11  -  - 

Total  2,565  7,558  2,237  6,852 

 

Tax installments payable 
 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group and the Company have outstanding balance of tax installment 

payable amounting to Baht 312 million and Baht 254 million, respectively (included the additional 

surcharge up to 31 December 2019 amounting to Baht 304 million and Baht 88 million, respectively) 

By the Group and the company presented as current liabilities amounted to Baht 312 million and Baht 

254 million under this repayment schedule, the Company and G J Steel mortgaged their 1 plot of land 

and construction, pickle and oil line as collateral together with the guaranteed by a company. 
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As at 31 December 2019 the company and G J Steel have to pay the above tax installments as follow: 
 

The Company: to pay the tax in 17 installments at the amount of Baht 14.96 million each until May 

2021. 
 

G J Steel: to pay the tax in 4 installments at the amount of Baht 14.52 million each until April 2020. 
 

Other payable 
 

On 18 April 2019, the Company as receivable per the adjudication has entered into a debt repayment 

agreement with a creditor. The term and condition for the repayment of debt amounted to Baht 77.5 

million are as follow; 

- Pay with cheque dated 19 April 2019 amounting Baht 2 million 

- Pay within May 2019 amounting Baht 8 million 

- The remaining Baht 67.5 million will pay in 25 monthly installments at the amount of Baht 

2.7 million each. First installment will be at the end of June 2019 until final installment at 

the end of June 2021. 
 

It the Company paid all above instalments, without events of default the creditor agree to release all 

debts in the court case to the Company. 
 

From the above agreement, the Company recorded reversal of provision from debt restructuring 

amounted to Baht 24.24 million in the 3rd quarter of 2019. The Company reclassified the said creditor 

to be liabilities from terminated rehabilitation plan and compromise. 

 

On 5 August 2019, the Company enters into a Memorandum of Understanding with an electricity 

supply company. The Company has outstanding debts of Baht 156.14 million and the penalty for late 

payment of Baht 24.93 million. The Company agrees to pay debt in the amount of Baht 156.14 million 

in 33 monthly installments, details are as below; 
 

- 12 installments at the amount of Baht 3 million each from December 2019 to May 2020 
 

- 14 installments at the amount of Baht 5 million each from June 2020 to December 2020 
 

- 6 installments at the amount of Baht 7 million each from January 2021 to March 2021 
 

- Final installments at the amount of Baht 8.14 million in April 2021 
 

If the Company can make outstanding payment without events of default in any other installments 

according to this MOU, the creditor agrees that the penalty for late payment Baht 24.93 million shall 

not be charged. 
 

On 10 January 2020, the Company entered into Memorandum of temporary suspension of installment 

payment with the aforementioned creditor of which a temporary extension of time to make the 1st 

installment payment and the rest of them for 7 months commencing from 15 December 2019. The first 

installment Baht 3 million will be divided into 2 amounts for Baht 1.5 million each and will be repay 

on 15 June and 15 July 2020. The rest of installments will be repaid as follow; 
 

 2nd - 12th at the amount of Baht 3 million each from July to December 2020   

 13th - 26th at the amount of Baht 5 million each from January to July 2021 

 27th - 32nd at the amount of Baht 7 million each from August to October 2021  

 33th  at the amount of Baht 8.14 million in November 2021 
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22  Advances received from customers 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 
  

       

  (in million Baht) 

   

Subsidiaries and related parties 5 1  1  1  1 

Other parties  130  42  110  9 

Total  131  43  111  10 
 

 

Advances received from customers of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 

were denominated entirely in Thai Baht. 

 

23  Accrued interest expenses 
 

  Consolidated  Separate 

  financial statements  financial statements 
         

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  ( in million Baht) 

         

Bonds  150  144  150  144 

Financial institutions  -  133  -  133 

Compromise agreement  243  4,986  142  4,893 

Others   616  211  573  458 

Total -  5 1,009  5,474  865  5,628 
          

The currency denomination of accrued interest expenses as 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as 

follows: 
 

 

 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 financial statements  financial statements 
        

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

        

 ( in million Baht) 

  

Thai Baht (THB) 650  684  599  925 

United States Dollars (USD) 321  4,760  242  4,679 

Others 38  30  24  24 

Total 1,009  5,474  865  5,628 
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24  Provisions  
 

   

   Consolidated financial statements 

       Deferred    

   Purchase orders    difference    

   for undelivered  Court  from debt    

   raw material  case claim  restructuring   Total 

   (See Note 44.3)  (See Note 45)      

   (in million Baht) 

As at 31 December 2018   40  292  102   434 

Provisions made   87  45  -   132 

Provisions decreased   (21)  (10)  (102)   (133) 

Provisions decreased from debt-to-equity conversion   -  (327)  -   (327) 

As at 31 December 2019   106  -  -   106 

           

As at 31 December 2018           

Current   40  292  102   434 

Non-Current   -  -  -   - 

Total   40  292  102   434 

           

As at 31 December 2019           

Current   106  -  -   106 

Non-Current   -  -  -   - 

Total   106  -  -   106   
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  Separate financial statements 

      Deferred     

      difference     

  Purchase orders  Court  from debt  Guarantee   

  for undelivered  case claim  restructuring  subsidiary  Total 

  raw material         

  (See Note 44.3)  (See Note 45)       

  (in million Baht) 

As at 31 December 2018  -  292  102  242  636 

Provisions made  87  45  -  -  132 

Provisions decreased  -  (10)  (102)  (242)  (354) 

Provisions decreased from debt-to-equity conversion  -  (327)  -  -  (327) 

As at 31 December 2019   87  -  -  -  87 

           

As at 31 December 2018  -         

Current  -  292  102  242  636 

Non-Current  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  -  292  102  242  636 

           

As at 31 December 2019           

Current  87  -  -  -  87 

Non-Current  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  87  -  -  -  87 
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Provision for guarantee subsidiaries 
 

Based on the financial position of OAC, OAC was unable to meet its obligations. The Company as its 

parent company has obligations making it jointly liable for OAC’s obligations. Accordingly, the 

Company has recorded its assessment of the obligation as provision for guarantee to subsidiary in the 

amount of Baht 242 million in the separate financial statement. 
 

Subsequently the said transaction was complete. This transaction is from loan from bank to use for the 

acquisition of GJ Steel. However, the Company cannot create new debt within one year, therefore, the 

Company borrow via OAC. After completely repay debt to bank, it deems appropriate to write off the 

provision for guarantee subsidiary from the financial statement and realized as revenue from the 

reversal in the statement of comprehensive income for the 3rd quarter of 2019.   

 

25  Other current liabilities 
 

  Consolidated  Separate 

  financial statements  financial statements 

         

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

         

  (in million Baht) 

   

Tax-related liabilities  272  285  13  14 

Machinery and construction payables  54  57  43  45 

Others   11  7  10  6 

Total  337  349  66  65 
 

The currency denomination of other current liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as 

follows: 
 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 financial statements  financial statements 

        

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

        

 (in million Baht) 

  

Thai Baht (THB) 303  312  43  41 

United States Dollars (USD) 32  34  23  24 

Others 2  3  -  - 

Total 337  349  66  65 
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26  Liabilities from terminated rehabilitation plan and compromise  
 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 financial statements  financial statements 

        

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

        

 (in million Baht) 

  

Balance - beginning of the year 659  683  479  479 

Transfer from short - term loan from  

other parties 

 

107 

  

- 

  

107 

  

- 

Transfer from short term from related parties 30  -  30  - 

Transfer from other payables and  

accrued expenses 

 

587 

  

- 

  

587 

  

- 

Less Convert debt into equity during the year (579)  -  (579)  - 

Less Repayment and adjust exchange        

 rate during the year (99)  (24)  (89)  - 

Balance - end of the year 705  659  535  479 

Less Current portion of liabilities included        

 under the liabilities from terminated        

   rehabilitation plan and compromise  (488)  (659)  (318)  (479) 

Total liabilities which were included         

  under the rehabilitation and compromise        4 
      plan - net of current portion 217  -  217  - 
 

The currency denomination of Liabilities from terminated rehabilitation plan and compromise which 

were included the liabilities from terminated rehabilitation plan as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 

were as follows: 
 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 financial statements  financial statements 

        

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

        

 (in million Baht) 

  

Thai Baht (THB)  610  557  535  479 

United States Dollars (USD)  84  90  -  - 

Others  11  12  -  - 

Total  705  659  535  479 
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The Company  

 

On 30 March 2019, the Company entered into a compromise agreement with a creditor. The 

Company agree to repay debt as per the loan agreement, liabilities under rehabilitation plan and 

liabilities as per the Court judgment only principal amounted to Baht 157.79 million as follows;  

- Fist payment Baht 20 million within 31 May 2019  

- Second payment Baht 30 million within 31 December 2019  

- Remaining portion the Company has to pay in 60 monthly installments at the amount of   

Baht 1.80 million each. First installment will be at the end of July 2020 onward. 

 

From the aforementioned agreement, the Company has recorded the reversal of accrued interest to 

be gain from compromise amounted to Baht 44.40 million.  

 

On 31 July 2019, the Company entered into a compromise agreement to repay debt Baht 30 

million within 31 December 2019 and convert the remaining principal Baht 107.79 million into 

ordinary share of the Company with the same price for major creditors and the Company will 

propose to the 2nd /2019 EGM of the Company for approval of debt to equity conversion 

program. However, if the debt to equity conversion is not success, the Company will pay in 60 

monthly installments at the amount of   Baht 1.80 million each. First installment will be at the end 

of July 2020 onward. 
 

And in the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 2/2019 on 11 October 2019, 

the meeting has approved the Debt to Equity Conversion Scheme by the allocation and offering of 

the newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company with the same offering price to other creditors 

totaling 8 creditors in order to repay the debt which will be converted to the equity. The Company 

will complete this within the 4th quarter of 2019. 
 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-

Equity Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with 

Department of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019 (as described 

to the financial statement in Note 1.3 and 28). 
 

On 30 March 2019, the Company entered into a compromise agreement with a creditor. The 

Company agrees to repay debt only principal amounted to Baht 117.55 million as follows; 

- Fist payment Baht 10 million within 31 December 2019 

- Remaining portion the Company has to pay in 60 monthly installments at the amount 

of Baht 1.79 million each. First installment will be at the end of July 2020 onward 
 

From the above agreement The Company recorded a reversal of accrued interest which was 

recorded as a gain from a compromise of Baht 15.98 million. 

 

On 31July 2019 The Company entered into a compromise agreement to repay debt Baht 10 

million within 31 December 2019 and convert the remaining principal Baht 107.55 million into 

ordinary share of the Company with the same price for major creditors and the Company will 

propose to the 2nd /2019 EGM of the Company for approval of debt to equity conversion 

program. However, if the debt to equity conversion is not success, the Company will pay in 60 

monthly installments at the amount of   Baht 1.79 million each. First installment will be at the end 

of July 2020 onward. 
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And in the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 2/2019 on 11 October 2019, 

the meeting has approved the Debt to Equity Conversion Scheme by the allocation and offering of 

the newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company with the same offering price to other creditors 

totaling 8 creditors in order to repay the debt which will be converted to the equity. The Company 

will complete this within the 4th quarter of 2019.    

 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-

Equity Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with 

Department of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019 (as described 

to the financial statement in Note 1.3 and 28). 
 

Other payable 
 

On 18 April 2019, the Company as receivable per the adjudication has entered into a debt 

repayment agreement with a creditor. The term and condition for the repayment of debt amounted 

to Baht 77.5 million are as follow; 
 
 

- Pay with cheque dated 19 April 2019 amounting Baht 2 million 

- Pay within May 2019 amounting Baht 8 million 

- The remaining Baht 67.5 million will pay in 25 monthly installments at the amount of Baht 2.7 

million each. First installment will be at the end of June 2019 until final installment at the end 

of June 2021. 
 

It the Company paid all above instalments, without events of default the creditor agree to release 

all debts in the court case to the Company. 
 

From the above agreement, the Company recorded a reversal of provision of Baht 24.24 million. 

 
Gain from compromise debt 

 

During year 2019 the company enter into compromise agreement with various creditors while the 

company has to pay only principal then has to reverse accrued interest to gain from compromise 

debt at that to agreement date 

 

G J Steel  

In 1998 the Company faced the financial problems from financial crisis causing the Company to 

be unable to repay the existing debt. And in April 2000 the Company entered into the business 

rehabilitation process administered by the Central Bankruptcy Court. In 2002 the Central 

Bankruptcy Court approved the business rehabilitation plan. Later on 28 November 2008 the 

Company filed a petition to terminate the business rehabilitation with the Central Bankruptcy 

Court and on 2 March 2009 the Central Bankruptcy Court issued an order to terminate the 

rehabilitation proceeding of the Company. 
 

G J Steel’s rehabilitation plan liabilities were duly on 31 October 2011 but fell into default. G J 

Steel entered into negotiations with the creditors to extend the payment period. Accordingly, G J 

Steel presented the outstanding liabilities under rehabilitation plan as at 30 September 2019 and 

2018 as current liabilities in G J Steel’s statement of financial position. As a consequence of this 

default, the outstanding balances are payable on demand and accrue interest at a rate of 7.5% per 

annum from the date of default.  
 

Since year 2018 to the date of the report, 1 supplier filed a complaint against G J Steel for breach 

of the rehabilitation plan,1 supplier with the litigation amount of Baht 1 million together with 

interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum from the date of filing the complaint until the date of full 

repayment. Currently, it is pending at the Court.  
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27 Employee benefit obligations 
 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

Statement of financial position         

  obligations for:        

Post-employment benefits 184  143  78  63 

 184  143  78  63 

 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 

Year ended 31 December 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

Statement of comprehensive income:         

  Recognised in profit or loss:        

Post-employment benefits 54  13  24  5 

 54  13  24  5 

 

An unfunded plan based on Thai labor law 

The Group and the Company operate defined benefit plans based on the requirement of Thai Labour 

Protection Act B.E. 2541 (1998) to provide retirement benefits to employees based on pensionable 

remuneration and length of service. 

 

The statement of financial position obligation was determined as follows: 

 

 Consolidated   Separate  

 financial statements  financial statements 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

  

Present value of unfunded obligations 184  143  78  63 

Statement of financial position obligation 184  143  78  63 

 

  



 

G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries                  

Notes for the financial statements                            

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

 

101 

Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations:  

 

 Consolidated  

financial statements  

 Separate  

financial statements  

 2019  2018  2017  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

  

Defined benefit obligations at 1 January 143  130  63  58 

Benefit paid (13)  -  (9)  - 
Current service costs and interest  17  13  7  5 

Past service cost 37  -  17  - 
Defined benefit obligations         

as at 31 December 184  143  78  63 

 

Expense recognised in profit or loss: 

 

 Consolidated  

financial statements  

 Separate  

financial statements  

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

  

Current service costs 15  12  5  4 

Past service costs 37  -  17  - 
Interest on obligation 2  1  2  1 

Total 54  13  24  5 
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The expense is recognized in the following line items in the statement of income: 

 

 Consolidated  

financial statements  

 Separate  

financial statements  

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

  

Cost of sales and administrative expenses 54  13  24  5 

Total 54  13  24  5 

 

No actuarial gains and losses were recognized in the other comprehensive income in the consolidate and 

Separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.  
 

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date: 

 

 

Consolidated 

financial statements  

Separate 

financial statements 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 (%) 

Discount rate 2.80 p.a  2.80 p.a  2.80 p.a  2.80 p.a 

Future salary increases rate 3.0-7.0  3.0-7.0  3.0-7.0  3.0-7.0 

Employee turnover rate 4.0-15.0*  4.0-15.0*  4.0-15.0*  4.0-15.0* 

Mortality rate TMO17**  TMO17**  TMO17**  TMO17** 

 

* Based on the weighted average by age group of employees 

** Reference from TMO17 : Thai Mortality Ordinary Table 2017 

 

Sensitivity analysis of significant actuarial assumptions 

 

Significant actuarial assumptions for sensitivity analysis are discount rate, salary increase rate and 

employee turnover, while holding all other assumptions constant. The sensitivity analysis of change in the 

relevant actuarial assumption that were reasonably possible as of December 31, 2019 as follows: 

 

- If the discount rate increases ( decreases)  by 1%, the employee benefit obligation in Consolidated 

financial statements would decrease Baht 17.68 million (increase Baht 20.66 million) and Separate 

financial statements would decrease Baht 6.92 million (increase Baht 7.97 million). 
 

- If the salary increase rate increases (decreases) by 1%, the employee benefit obligation in Consolidated 

financial statements would increase Baht 20.12 million (decrease Baht 17.59 million)  and Separate 

financial statements would increase Baht 7.85 million (decrease Baht 6.96 million).   
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- If the employee turnover rate increases ( decreases)  by 10.0%, the employee benefit obligation in 

Consolidated financial statements would decrease Baht 9.63 million ( increase Baht 10.38 million) 

and Separate financial statements would decrease Baht 3.55 million (increase Baht 3.80 million). 

 

-If the life expectancy increases by one year for all employees, the employee benefit obligation in 

Consolidated financial statements would increase Baht 0.48 million and Separate financial statements 

would increase Baht 0.33 million. 

 

In presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the employee benefit obligation has 

been calculated by using the same method that applied in calculating the employee benefit obligation 

recognized in the statement of financial position. 

 

Labour Protection Act has announced in the Government Gazette on April 5, 2019, which is effective 

dated May 5, 2019. The main point is increasing the rate of benefit of an employee who has past 

service 20 years or more from 300 days to 400 days. The provisions for employee benefits of the 

Group and the Company which calculated up to 31 December 2019 will be increased in approximately 

amount of Baht 38.96 million and Baht 17.82 million respectively. The Group and the Company has 

recorded the whole amount as expense in the statement of income in for the year ended 31 December 

2019. 

 

28  Share capital 

 
The movements of share capital for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 

 

  Consolidated and Separate 

  financial statements 

 Par value 2019  2018 
 per share Number  Baht  Number  Baht 

 (in Baht) (million shares / million Baht) 

Authorised         

 As at 1 January          

- ordinary shares 5.00 9,755  48,776  9,755  48,776 

- Decrease share capital 5.00 (1,405)  (7,025)  -  - 
- Increase share capital 5.00 23,262  116,309  -  - 

As at 31 December         

- ordinary shares 5.00 31,612  158,060  9,755  48,776 

         

Issued and paid up         

 As at 1 January          

- ordinary shares 5.00 6,850  34,251  6,850  34,251 

- Increase from debt to equity 

conversion  
 

5.00 22,079  110,393 

 

-  - 

As at 31 December         

- ordinary shares 5.00 28,929  144,644  6,850  34,251 
 

  



 

G Steel Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries                  

Notes for the financial statements                            

For the year ended 31 December 2019 

 

104 

Discount ordinary shares 

Movement of discount ordinary shares during the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 as follow : 

    

 2019  2018 

 (in million Baht) 

Discount ordinary shares    
As at 1 January (10,163)  (10,163)

))) 10,163) 

(10,163) 
Debt to equity conversion       (106,198)   -  

As at 31 December      (116,361)  (10,163) 

 

28.1 The allocation and offering of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under to the 

debt-to-equity conversion scheme 
 

The Company 
 

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders No.2/2019 on 11 October 2019, the meeting 

has important resolution as follows; 

 

1. Approved the decrease of registered capital of the Company of Baht 7,024,838,910 from the 

existing registered capital of Baht 48,775,743,730 to Baht 41,750,904,820 by decreasing the 

number of unissued shares of the Company which were issued to accommodate GSTEEL-W1 

in the number of 1,135,237,165 shares and GSTEEL-W2 in the number of 269,730,617 shares, 

totalling 1,404,967,782 shares at a par value of Baht 5. 
 

On 18 October 2019, the Company approved the decrease of the Company’s registered capital 

with The Ministry of Commerce 

 

2. Approved the Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme by allocating and offering 22,078,584,468 

ordinary shares of the Company at a par value of Baht 5 to Group 1 Creditors who were the 

judgment creditors consisting of (1) M-Power TT Limited (“M-Power”) (2) D-Sinchai Steel 

Company Limited (“D-Sinchai”) (3) Mrs. Vanida Yomjinda (“Mrs. Vanida”) (4) Mrs. Benjamas 

Phitaktham (“Mrs. Benjamas”) (5) New World Intermetal Company Limited (“New World 

Intermetal”) (6) Mr. Thanuchai Vesarutchanon (“Mr. Thanuchai”) (7) Superior Oversea 

(Thailand) Company Limited (“Superior”) and Group 2 Creditor who was a commercial creditor 

according to the Memorandum of Understanding, i.e. Asia Credit Opportunities I (Mauritius) 

Limited (“ACO I”) by way of debt to equity conversion. The total number of M-Power’s debt, 

D-Sinchai’s debt, Mrs.Vanida’s debt, Mrs. Benjamas’s debt, New World Intermetal’s debt, Mr. 

Thanuchai’s debt, Superio’s’s debt and ACO I’s debt which shall be converted to equity (“Debts 

to be Converted to Equity”) was Baht 4,194,931,048.92 (the “Amount of Debts to be Converted 

to Equity”).  

The Company intended to repay Debts to be Converted to Equity in the total amount of Baht 

4,194,931,048.92 by the ordinary shares of the Company, by which the Company shall 

determine the Debt-to-Equity price at Baht 0.19 per share, totalling up to Baht 110,392,922,340 

in order to repay the Amount of Debts to be Converted to Equity. 
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. 

 

3. Approved the increase of the Company’s registered capital in the amount up to Baht 

116,308,850,320 from the existing registered capital of Baht 41,750,904,820 to Baht 

158,059,755,140, by issuing up to 23,261,770,064 new ordinary shares at a par value of Baht 5 

per share to (1) accommodate the allocation and the offering of the newly issued shares of the 

Company under the Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme in the number of 22,078,584,468 

shares and (2) accommodate the right adjustment to exercise the right to purchase the newly 

issued ordinary shares of the Company for GSTEEL-W3 in the number up to 1,183,185,596 

shares. 
 

On 2 December 2019, the Company approved the increase of the Company’s registered capital 

with The Ministry of Commerce 
 

4. Approved the allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company in the number of 

22,078,584,468 shares at a par value of Baht 5 per share in order to offer to specific persons 

(Private Placement) under the Deb-to-Equity Conversion Scheme as follows: 
 

4.1  Approved the allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company in the amount of 

4,571,096,822 shares, at the par value of Baht 5 per share, to M-Power under the Debt-to-

Equity Conversion Scheme, where the Company shall determine the Debt-to-Equity price at 

Baht 0.19 per share, totalling Baht 868,508,396.18, to repay M-Power’s principal debt in the 

amount of Baht 868,508,396.18 under the Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme. 
 

4.2  Approved the allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company in the amount of 

566,056,684 shares, at the par value of Baht 5 per share, to D-Sinchai under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme, where the Company shall determine the Debt-to-Equity price at Baht 0.19 

per share, totalling Baht 107,550,769.96, to repay D-Sinchai’s principal debt in the amount of 

Baht 107,550,769.96 under the Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme. 
 

4.3  Approved the allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company in the amount of 

52,631,578 shares, at the par value of Baht 5 per share, to Mrs. Vanida under the Debt-to-

Equity Conversion Scheme, where the Company shall determine the Debt-to-Equity price at 

Baht 0.19 per share, totalling Baht 9,999,999.82 under the Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme, 

to repay Mrs. Vanida’s Debt in the amount of Baht 9,999,999.82 under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme. 
 

4.4 Approved the allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company in the amount of 

78,947,368 shares, at the par value of Baht 5 per share, to Mrs. Benjamas under the Debt-to-

Equity Conversion Scheme, where the Company shall determine the Debt-to-Equity price at 

Baht 0.19 per share, totalling Baht 14,999,999.92, to repay Mrs. Benjamas’s principal debt in 

the amount of Baht 14,999,999.92 under the Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme. 
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4.5 Approved the allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company in the amount of 

567,312,699 shares, at the par value of Baht 5 per share, to New World Intermetal Company 

Limited under the Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme, where the Company shall determine the 

Debt-to-Equity price at Baht 0.19 per share, totalling Baht 107,789,412.81 to repay New World 

Intermetal’s Debt in the amount of Baht 107,789,412.81 under the Debt-to-Equity Conversion 

Scheme. 
 

4.6 Approved the allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company in the amount of 

31,578,947 shares, at the par value of Baht 5 per share, to Mr. Thanuchai under the Debt-to-

Equity Conversion Scheme, where the Company shall determine the Debt-to-Equity price at 

Baht 0.19 per share, totalling Baht 5,999,999.93, to repay Mr. Thanuchai’s principal debt in the 

amount of Baht 5,999,999.93 under the Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme. 
 

4.7 Approved the allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company in the amount of 

1,749,470,897 shares, at the par value of Baht 5 per share, to Superior under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme, where the Company shall determine the Debt-to-Equity price at Baht 0.19 

per share, totalling Baht 332,399,470.43, to repay Superior’s principal debt of Baht 

332,399,470.43. 
 

4.8 Approved the allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company in the amount of 

14,461,489,473 shares, at the par value of Baht 5 per share, to ACO I under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme, where the Company shall determine the Debt-to-Equity conversion price 

at price of Baht 0.19 per share, totalling Baht 2,747,682,999.87, to repay the ACO I’s principal 

debt in the total amount of Baht 2,747,682,999.87. 

 

5 Approved the allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company up to 

1,183,185,596 shares, at the par value of Baht 5 per share to accommodate the right adjustment 

of GSTEEL-W3 up to 1,183,185,596 shares according to conditions of the right adjustment 

specified in the Terms and Conditions Governing the Rights and Obligations of the Issuer of 

GSTEEL-W3. 

 

28.2  Conversion debt-to-equity 

 

The Company 

 

On 2 December 2019 the Company has registered increase share capital by conversion debt of 

USD 90.39 million or equivalent to Baht 2,747.68 million and share capital by conversion debt 

of Baht 1,447.25 million to share capital of Baht 110,392.92 million (ordinary shares of 

22,078,584,468 shares at par value Baht 6.90 per share) to new creditor as described to the 

financial statement in Note 1.3. 

 

Under conversion debt-to-equity, the Company fix the price at Baht 0.19 per share as the fair 

value for conversion debt-to-equity which this price is agreed by both parties together. 

Resulting to the Company has a discounted on ordinary share amounted to Baht 106,198 

million and has loss from conversion debt-to-equity of Baht 5,169 million. (as described to the 

financial statement in Note 32). 
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G J Steel 

The capital restructuring of G J Steel 

 

On 14 January 2019, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting No. 1/2019 had approved as the 

following issues: 

 

1 Approved the transfer of legal reserve in the amount of Baht 18,507,421.67 to compensate the 

retained losses. 

 

In 1st quarter of year 2019, G J Steel has transfer of legal reserve to compensate the retained 

losses. 

 

2 Approved the reduction of G J Steel registered capital from Baht 6.90 to Baht 0.96 to 

compensate G J Steel retained losses resulting to G J Steel registered capital decreased from the 

original amount Baht 129,298,350,418.50 to Baht 17,989,335,710.40 and G J Steel paid-up 

capital shall reduce from Baht 96,104,091,707.70 to Baht 13,371,004,063.68, in which G J 

Steel shall apply the reduced paid-up capital to clear the discount on share capital of Baht 

61,757,357,060.14 and the retained losses of Baht 20,975,730,583.88, respectively. And 

approved the amendment of clause 4 of G J Steel memorandum of association to be in line 

with the reduction of registered capital by reducing the par value to compensate G J Steel 

retained losses. 

 

On 18 March 2019, G J Steel had reduced the registered share capital with Ministry of 

Commerce from Baht 6.90 to Baht 0.96 resulting to G J Steel registered capital decreased 

from the original amount Baht 129,298,350,418.50 to Baht 17,989,335,710.40 and G J Steel 

paid-up capital shall reduce from Baht 96,104,091,707. 70 to Baht 13,371,004,063. 68, in 

which on 1st quarter of year 2019 G J Steel has apply the reduced paid-up capital to clear the 

discount on share capital of Baht 61,757,357,060. 14 and the retained losses of Baht 

20,975,730,583.88, respectively. 

 

3 Approved the reduction in the registered capital of G J Steel in the amount of 1,957,748,965 

shares, with a par value of Baht 0.96 per share, from the existing registered capital of Baht 

17,989,335,710.40 to Baht 16,109,896,704 by cancelling G J Steel authorized but unissued 

shares, prior to the increase of G J Steel registered capital, and approve the amendment clause 4 

of G J Steel memorandum of association to be in line with the reduction of registered capital by 

cancelling G J Steel authorized but unissued shares. 

 

Such cancelling of authorized but unissued shares does not include the ordinary 

shares of G J Steel allocated to accommodate the exercise of the warrants to purchase 

the ordinary share no. 3 (“GJS-W3”), in the amount of 1,606,677,915 shares which 

was approved by the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 1/2017 

which was held on 30 August 2017 and the warrants to purchase the ordinary share 

no. 4 (“GJS-W4”), in the amount of 1,246,335,252 shares which was approved by the 

Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders no. 1/2017 which was held on 30 

August 2017. 

 

On 19 March 2019, G J Steel had reduced the registered share capital with Ministry of 

Commerce by cancelling G J Steel authorized but unissued shares, in the amount of 

1,957,748,965 shares, with a par value of Baht 0.96 per share, from the existing registered 

capital of Baht 17,989,335,710.40 to Baht 16,109,896,704. 
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4 Approved the increase in registered capital by the amount of Baht 11,490,928,047.36 from 

the existing registered capital of Baht 16,109,896,704 to Baht 27,600,824,751.36 by issuing 

11,969,716,716 newly issued ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 0.96 per share to 

accommodate the allocation and offering of newly-issued shares to existing shareholders of 

G J Steel in proportion to their respective shareholding (Right Offering) and accommodate 

the adjustment of right under GJS-W3 and GJS-W4 and approve the amendment of clause 4 

of G J Steel memorandum of association to be in line with the increase in G J Steel 

registered capital. 

 

On 20 March 2019, G J Steel had increased the registered share capital with the Ministry of 

Commerce by the amount of Baht 11,490,928,047.36 from the existing registered capital of 

Baht 16,109,896,704 to Baht 27,600,824,751.36 by issuing 11,969,716,716 newly issued 

ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 0.96 per share. 

 

5 Approved the allocation of G J Steel newly-issued shares in the amount of not exceeding 

11,969,716,716 shares, at a par value of Baht 0.96 per share to accommodate: 

 

5.1 The allocation of the newly-issued ordinary shares of G J Steel in the amount of not 

exceeding 11,560,347,263 shares, with a par value of Baht 0.96 per share to the 

existing shareholders of G J Steel in proportion to their respective shareholding (Right 

Offering) with the price of Baht 0.13 per share, in the allocation ratio of 1 existing 

shares per 0.83 new shares where the fraction of shares shall be discarded. 

 

 In this regard, since G J Steel has accumulated losses in the statement of financial 

position and the profit and loss statements for the three-month and nine-month 

periods ended 30 September 2018, G J Steel is able to determine the offering price 

of newly-issued ordinary share with the price of Baht 0.13 per share, at a price lower 

than the par value, and as such require G J Steel to comply with Section 52 of the 

PLC Act (as amended). This issuance and offering of newly-issued ordinary shares 

of G J Steel will be the offering of newly-issued ordinary shares in proportion to the 

respective shareholding. In case there are decimals arisen from the calculation, such 

decimals shall be rounded down. The existing shareholders are entitled to subscribe 

for the shares exceeding their shareholding proportion.  In case there are ordinary 

shares left from the allocation to the existing shareholders in accordance with their 

shareholding proportion, G J Steel will allocate such remaining shares to the 

shareholders who intend to subscribe for the newly-issued ordinary shares in excess 

of their shareholding proportion, at the same price. Such allocation of shares shall be 

proceeded until there is no ordinary shares left or there is no more shareholder who 

intends to subscribe for the newly-issued ordinary shares. In case there are ordinary 

shares left from this increase of capital, such remaining ordinary shares will be 

cancelled. 
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 In case any shareholder intends to subscribe the newly-issued ordinary shares in the 

amount exceeding his shareholding proportion and such subscription causes the total 

holding of G J Steel’s shares by such a shareholder and his related persons under 

Section 258 of the PLC Act to exceed 25 percent of the total voting shares of G J 

Steel, such a shareholder is obliged to proceed the tender offer of the total securities 

of G J Steel according to the Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board 

No. ThorJor. 12/2554 Re: Rules, Conditions and Procedures for the Acquisition of 

Securities for Business Takeovers (the “Notification on Acquisition of Securities for 

Business Takeovers”), unless such a shareholder is granted the exception to proceed 

the tender offer of all the securities of G J Steel, as prescribed in the Notification on 

Acquisition of Securities for Business Takeovers. 

 

 In this regard, the date specified for determining the names of shareholders entitled to 

the allocation of newly-issued ordinary shares to existing shareholders in proportion to 

their respective shareholding (Right Offering) (Record Date) shall be 27 March 2019. 

 

 On 3 May 2019, G J Steel has registered additional paid-up capital with the Ministry of 

Commerce from the allocation of new ordinary shares to the existing shareholders of G 

J Steel in the proportion to their respective shareholdings (Rights Offering) of 

11,559,004,163 shares combines with the existing paid-up capital shall be 

25,487,133,396 shares, at the par value of Baht 0.96 per share. In this regard,  such 

capital increase will result in the Company having an increasing in discount on ordinary 

shares in amount of Baht 9,594 million with  the cost of issuing new shares in amount 

of Baht 73.50 million which record under discount on ordinary shares. 

 

 The allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares as mentioned above, Asia Credit 

Opportunities I (Mauritius) Limited (“ACO I”) which is a company in SSG Group 

exercises the right to purchase 7,499,978,175 shares in excess of rights offering, 

resulting that the shareholding structure of ACO I in G J Steel increase from 24 percent 

to 42.54 percent of total voting shares of G J Steel. Therefore, ACO I is obliged to 

conduct a tender offer to acquire all remaining securities of G J Steel pursuant to the 

Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board No. Tor Jor 12/2554 Re: Rules, 

Conditions and Procedures for the Acquisition of Securities for Business Takeovers 

dated 13 May 2011 (as amended). 

 

 The Offer Price of the ordinary shares has been determined by ACO I to be equal to 

Baht 0.13 per share. ACO I is not obliged to make an offer to purchase GJS-W3 and 

GJS-W4 since these warrants have exercise price of Baht 0.1668 per share and Baht 

0.1668 per share respectively, which are higher than the Offer Price of Baht 0.13 per 

share and ACO I has not acquired any such warrants for consideration during a 

period of 90 days prior to the date on which tender offer document is submitted to 

the SEC. Therefore, the Offeror is not obliged to make an offer to purchase these 

warrants in pursuant with Clause 7(2) of the Notification of Capital Market 

Supervisory Board No. TorJor 12/2554. 

 

 In addition, ACO I does not have an intention to delist the Business from the Stock 

Exchange of Thailand (SET) during the 12 months period after the end of Offer 

Period. In addition, Tender Offer for the Securities (Form 247-4) shall be submitted 

by 15 May 2019. 
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 In this regard, G J Steel has been informed by ACO I that ACO I does not have plan 

to change the business objectives of G J Steel and will maintain current business 

direction and operation as a producer of various grades of hot rolled coil (HRC). In 

addition, ACO I does not have plan to change the board of structures of G J Steel, 

such as Board of Directors, Audit Committee and Executive Committee and others. 

Also, ACO I does not have intention to change the organization structure, 

management or staff members of G J Steel. 

 

 However, if necessary, ACO I, may, together with G J Steel, consider to have mutual 

discussion and revision of the business and operation policies, organization structure, 

human resources, sales and marketing strategy, dividend policy, financial structure or 

any other necessary change as appropriate under future business operation and industry 

situation at that time with an objective to enhance the efficiency of the business and 

ensure growth of the business to create the joint benefit for G J Steel and shareholder of 

G J Steel. 

 

5.2 The allocation of newly-issued shares from capital increase to accommodate the rights 

adjustment of GJS-W3 Warrant and GJS-W4 Warrant as follows: 

 

 1) The allocation of newly-issued shares from capital increase to accommodate the rights 

adjustment of GJS-W3 Warrant in the amount of 230,536,917 shares at the par value of Baht 

0.96. 

 

 2) The allocation of newly-issued shares from capital increase to accommodate the rights 

adjustment of GJS-W4 Warrant in the amount of 178,832,536 shares at the par value of Baht 0.96. 

 

29 Reserves 

 

 Appropriations of profit and/or retained earnings 

 

 Legal reserve 

 

Section 116 of the Public Companies Act B.E. 2535 requires that a company shall allocate not less than 5% of 

its annual net profit, less any accumulated losses brought forward, to a reserve account until this account 

reaches an amount not less than 10% of the registered authorized capital. The Legal Reserve is not available 

for dividend distribution. 

 

Other components of equity 

 

The movements of other components of equity for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 were 

as follows: 

 Note 2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

Other components     

Cash received from expired warrants      

At 1 January  -  - 

- First Warrants (GSTEL-W1) 30 11  - 

- Second Warrants (GSTEL-W2) 30 3  - 

At 31 December  14  - 
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30  Warrants  
 

Transactions of the warrants during the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

 
 

 Offering Consolidated and Separate 

 price of financial statements 

 warrant 2019  2018 
 per unit Unit  Amount  Unit  Amount 

 (in Baht) (million units / in million Baht) 

Warrants         

At 1 January (audited)         

- First Warrants (GSTEL-W1) 0.002 5,676  11  5,676  11 

- Second Warrants (GSTEL-W2) 0.002 1,349  3  1,349  3 

- Third Warrants (GSTEL-W3) 0.000 7,500  -  7,500  - 

  14,525  14  14,525  14 
         

Movement in the year         
Warrants expired  (7,025)  (14)  -  - 

  (7,025)  (14)  -  - 
         

At 31 December         

- First Warrants (GSTEL-W1) 0.002 -  -  5,676  11 

- Second Warrants (GSTEL-W2) 0.002 -  -  1,349  3 

- Third Warrants (GSTEL-W3) 0.000 7,500  -  7,500  - 

Total  7,500  -  14,525  14 

The Company  
 

Detail of warrants were as follows :  
 

 GSTEL - W1 (a) and (C) GSTEL - W2 (a) and (C) GSTEL - W3 (b) 

Exercise ratio (Unit : Share) 1 : 0.200 1 : 0.200 1 : 0.200 

Price of exercise to                       

one Common Share (Baht) 

 

2.75 

 

2.75 

 

2.15 

    

The first day of exercise December 28, 2012 June 28, 2013 May 17, 2015 

The last day of exercise  September 26, 2019 September 26, 2019 May 17, 2020 

    

 

(a) Listed in The Stock Exchange of Thailand     

(b) Non-listed in The Stock Exchange of Thailand     

(c) On 26 September 2019, warrants amounted to 7,025 million units has not been exercised by the 

holders and this was cancelled from the Stock Exchange of Thailand on the next day. 
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From the cancellation on 26 September 2019 of warrants amounted to 7,025 million units which has 

book value of Baht 0.002 per unit, this was transferred from warrants to be other component of equity 

amounted to Baht 14 million. 

 

G J Steel 

 

The Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting No. 1/2019 which was held on 14 January 2019 had 

approved the adjustment of exercise price and exercise ratio of the warrant to purchase an ordinary 

share GJS-W3 and GJS-W4 details are as follow: 

 

30.1 Approved the rights adjustment of GJS-W3 Warrant and GJS-W4 Warrant according to the rate 

and price of rights adjustment are as follows:  

 

30.1.1 Adjustment of rights in case there is a change in the par value of G J Steel ordinary 

shares. 

 

 Before adjustment Adjustment from 

capital reduction  

GJS-W3And GJS-W4 Warrants   

-  Exercise Price  1.3722 Baht/Share 0.1909 Baht/Share 

-  Exercise Ratio 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 

 

30.1.2 Adjustment of rights in case G J Steel allocates the newly-issued ordinary shares of     

G J Steel share to the existing shareholders of G J Steel in proportion to their respective 

shareholding (Right Offering) at the calculated net price for newly issued stock below 

90 percent of the Market Price for Ordinary Share of G J Steel. 

 

 Adjustment from 

capital reduction 

Adjustment from 

issued newly shares to 

existing shareholders  

GJS- W3And GJS-W4 Warrants   

- Exercise Ratio 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 1 Unit : 0.500 Share 

- Exercise Price  0.1909 Baht/Share 0.1668 Baht/Share 

 

Detail of warrants as at 31 December 2019 is as follow: 

 

 GJS- W3 (a) and (c) GJS- W4 (b) and (d) 

Exercise ratio (Unit : Share) 1 : 0.500 1 : 0.500 

Price of exercise to    

one Common Share (Baht) 0.1668 0.1668 

The first day of exercise 28 June 2013 28 June 2013 

The last day of exercise 7 February 2020 11 February 2020 
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(a)  Listed in The Stock Exchange of Thailand 

(b)  Non-listed in The Stock Exchange of Thailand 

(c)  On 7 February 2020 third warrants of 3,674 million units there was only 3,000 warrants 

were exercised and the remaining warrants are canceled by the Stock Exchange of Thailand the 

following day.  

(d)  On 11 February 2020 fourth warrants of 2,754 million units there was no warrant holders 

exercise and it was canceled the following day. 
 

31  Segment information  
 

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business segments and geographic 

segments based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure. 
 

Business segments 
 

Management considers that the Group operates in a single line of business, namely the production and 

distribution of hot rolled coils, and has, therefore, only one major business segment. 
 

Geographic segments  
 

In presenting information on the basis of geographic segments, segment revenue is based on the 

geographic location of customers.  
 

The followings are the main geographic locations: 
 

Segment 1 Domestic 

Segment 2 Export 
 

Revenue and results, based on business segments and geographic segments of the Group for the years 

ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:: 
 

                      Consolidated financial statements 

     2019  2018 

                              (in million Baht) 

Segment revenue        
Domestic     17,416  28,942 

Export     -  1,023 

Total     17,416  29,965 

        

Segment result - gross profit (loss)     (1,861)  (230) 

 

Information about major customers 
 

.For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group’s revenues from domestic sales 3 customer 

and 1 customers, respectively is amount Baht 7,360 million and Baht 4,291 million, respectively. 
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32  Gain from debt restructuring  
 

  Consolidated financial 

statements 

 Separate financial 

statements 

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

Gain from creditor reducing debt  337  -  337  - 

Gain from debt to equity 

conversion 1.3,28 

 

5,169 

  

- 

  

5,169 

  

- 

Total  5,506  -  5,506  - 

 

33  Selling expenses 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

   

Domestic shipping expenses 
 234  360  64  4 

Packing expenses 
 4  5  -  - 

Total 
 238  365  64  4 

 

34  Administrative expenses 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

   

Idle cost - Depreciation and         

  amortisation expenses 39 65  52  -  - 

Depreciation and         

  amortisation expenses  39 40  38  1  2 

Employee benefit expenses 39 474  440  166  5 

Professional and consultant fees 82  102  50  19 

Others  279  211  161  129 

Total  940  843  378  155 
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35  Employee benefit expenses 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

  2019  2018  2019  2018 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Management         

Wages and salaries 
 43  46  16  17 

Welfare 
 7  7  4  4 

Contribution to provident fund 
 1  1  -  - 

 
5 51  54  20  21 

         

Other employees         

Wages and salaries 
 740  736  335  354 

Welfare 
 223  204  68  49 

Contribution to provident fund 
 41  40  17  18 

 
 1,004  980  420  421 

Total 
39 1,055  1,034  440  442 

 

Defined benefit plans 
 

Details of the defined benefit plans are given in Note 27 Employee benefit obligations. 

 

Defined contribution plans 
 

The defined contribution plan comprises a provident fund established by the Group for its employees. 

Membership in the fund is on a voluntary basis. Contributions are made monthly by the employees at 

rates ranging from 2% to 10% of their basic salaries and by the Group at rates ranging from 3% to 10% 

of the employees’ basic salaries. The provident fund is registered with the Ministry of Finance as a 

juristic entity and is managed by a licensed Fund Manager.  

 

 

36  (Reversal of) bad and doubtful debt expenses 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

Amount receivable from         

  related parties 
5 -  -  (76)  (8) 

Trade account receivable 
8 (7)  (1)  (7)  (1) 

Other current assets 
11 (7)  11  (7)  - 

Total 
 (14)  10  (90)  (9) 
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37  Losses on impairment of assets 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

   

Investment in subsidiaries 12 -  -  898  126 

Property, Plant and equipment 12 -  42  -  42 

Total 38 -  42  898  168 

 
 

38  Other expenses 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 
         

         

Provision for guarantee subsidiary 24 -  1  -        1  

Provision for court case claim 24 45  100  45  100 

Loss on impairment of assets 37 -  42  898  168 

Others  6  1  15  9 

Total  51  144  958  278 
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39  Expenses by nature 
 

The statements of income include an analysis of expenses by function. Expenses by nature disclosed in 

accordance with the requirements of various TFRS were as follows: 

 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

Included in cost of sales of goods and 

cost of service-tolling: 

 

       

Raw material and consumable used  13,632  14,217  4,059  1,310 

Changes in inventories of finished goods         

decrease (increase)  253  409  (533)  30 

Depreciation and amortization  1,059  1,723  811  814 

Employee benefit expenses 35 581  594  274  437 

Utility expenses  1,938  2,840  103  1,281 

Natural gas expense  543  740  248  372 

         

Included in administrative expenses:         

Depreciation and amortization 34 105  90  1  2 

Employee benefit expenses 34, 35 474  440  166  5 

Operating lease expense  24  22  6  10 

Utility expenses  5  7  2  4 

 

40  Finance costs 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

  ( in million Baht) 
   

Finance costs:         

Related parties 5 1,012  954  753  574 

Bonds  18  18  18  18 

Financial institutions  20  35  20  35 

Other parties  89  95  46  55 

Total  1,139  1,102  837  682 
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41  Income tax expense 
 

The Group and the Company did not record income tax expense in the statement of comprehensive 

income because the Company incurred losses in the current year and has significant losses brought 

forward from prior years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as 

disclosed in Note 16. 

 

The Group has applied the tax rate of 20% in measuring deferred tax assets and liabilities as at  

31 December 2019 and 2018. 

 

42 Profit (loss) per share 
 

Basic Profit (loss) per share 
 

The calculation of basic profit (loss) per share for year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 were based 

on the profit (loss) for the period attributable to equity holders of the Company and the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period as follows: 
 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 financial statements  financial statements 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 (in million Baht /million shares) 

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to         

   equity holders of the Company (basic)  2,646  (1,621)  3,345  (1,810) 

        

Number of ordinary shares         

  outstanding at 1 January  6,850  6,850  6,850  6,850 

        

Effect of change debt-to-equity conversion 1,815  -  1,815  - 

Weighted average number of        

  ordinary shares outstanding (basic) 8,665  6,850  8,665  6,850 

        

Earnings (loss) per share (basic) (in Baht) 0.31  (0.24)  0.39  (0.26) 

 

 

The company has not presented diluted profit(loss) per share for the year end 31 December 2019 and 

2018 because the exercise price of the Company’s warrants was higher than the market price of the 

Company’s ordinary shares. 
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43  Financial instruments 
 

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had not entered into any derivative contracts to hedge   

its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk.  

 

Financial risk management policies 
 

The Group is exposed to normal business risks from changes in market interest rates and currency 

exchange rates and from non-performance of contractual obligations by counterparties. The Group 

does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. 
 

Capital management 
 

The Board’s intention is to return to a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 

market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board is presently seeking 

additional capital investment in order to secure the on-going viability of the Group and the Company. 

 

Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the uncertainty in value of financial assets and liabilities or net interest income as  

a result of the fluctuation of the market interest rate. Most of the interest rates of financial assets and 

liabilities of the Group and the Company are fixed rates, which are based on contract rates.   
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The effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 

and the periods to maturity or re-pricing were as follows: 

 

 

  Consolidated financial statements 

 

 

Effective  

Interest rate 

Within 1 

year 

 After 1 year 

but within 5 

years 

 After 5 

years 

 Total  

 

 (% per annum) (in million Baht) 

2019         

Financial assets :         

Cash and cash equivalents 0.25-0.625 464  -  -  464 

Deposits at financial         

  institution 1.375 46  -  -  46 

Total  510  -  -  510 

         

Financial liabilities:         

Short-term loans from           

  related party 12.0 811  -  -  811 

Long-term loans from         

  related party 12.0 314  1,934  -  2,248 

Bonds 3.0 471  -  -  471 

Trade accounts payable 1.0 - 8 409  -  -  409 

Other payables and          

  accrued expense 5-8 , MLR+3,MLR+5 348  1,137  -  1,485 

Liabilities from terminated 

rehabilitation plan and 

compromise 

 

 

0.5-7.5 

 

 

455 

  

 

146 

 

- 

  

 

601 

Finance lease obligations 5.28 -  1  -  1 

Other current liabilities 7.5,12 3  -  -  3 

Total  2,811  3,218  -  6,029 
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  Consolidated financial statements 

 

 

Effective  

Interest rate 

Within 1 

year 

 After 1 year 

but within 5 

years 

 After 5 

years 

 Total  

 

 (% per annum) (in million Baht) 

2018         

Financial assets :         

Cash and cash equivalents 0.25-0.625 258  -  -  258 

Deposits at financial         

  institution 1.375 1  -  -  1 

Total  259  -  -  259 

         

Financial liabilities:         

Short term loans from         

  financial institutions MLR  213  -  -  213 

Short-term loans from           

  related party 12.0 1,269  -  -  1,269 

Short-term loans from           

  other parties 7.75 - 15.0 107  -  -  107 

Long-term loans from         

         

  related party 12.0 314  1,118  -  1,432 

Bonds 3.0 506  -  -  506 

Trade accounts payable 1.0 - 7.5 445  -  -  445 

Other payables and          

  accrued expense 7.5 , MLR+3,MLR+5 5,935  -  -  5,935 

Liabilities from terminated 

rehabilitation plan and 

compromise 

 

 

0.5 – 7.5  

 

 

234 

  

 

- 

 

- 

  

 

234 

Other current liabilities 7.5 3      3 

Total  9,026  1,118  -  10,144 
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  Separate financial statements 

 

 

Effective  

Interest rate 

Within 1 

year 

 After 1 year 

but within 5 

years 

 After 5 

years 

 Total  

 

 (% per annum) (in million Baht) 

2019         

Financial assets :         

Cash and cash equivalents 0.25-0.625 40  -  -  40 

Total  40  -  -  40 

         

Financial liabilities :         

Short-term loans from          

  related parties 1.25,12.00,18.00 1,124  -  -  1,124 

Long-term loans from          

  related party 12.00,15.00 314  885  -  1,199 

Bonds 3.0 471  -  -  471 

Trade accounts payable  7.5,15.00 238  -  -  238 

Other payables and          

  accrued expense 7.0,7.5,12.0 239  1,137  -  1,376 
Liabilities from terminated 

rehabilitation plan and 

compromise 

 

 

0.5,MLR - 2 285  146  -  431 

Other current liabilities 7.5 3  -  -  3 

Total  2,674  2,168  -  4,842   
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  Separate financial statements 

 

 

Effective  

Interest rate 

Within 1 

year 

 After 1 year 

but within 5 

years 

 After 5 

years 

 Total  

 

 (% per annum) (in million Baht) 

2018         

Financial assets :         

Cash and cash equivalents 0.25-0.625 57  -  -  57 

Total  57  -  -  57 

         

Financial liabilities :         

Short-term loans from          

  financial institutions MLR 213  -  -  213 

Short-term loans from          

  related parties 1.25-12.00 1,151  -  -  1,151 

Short-term loans from          

  other parties 7.75 - 15.0 107  -  -  107 

Long-term loans from          

  related party 3.0 - 12.0 314  1,086  -  1,400 

Bonds 3.0 506  -  -  506 

Trade accounts payable 5.0 - 7.5 251  -  -  251 

Other payables and          

  accrued expense 7.5,MLR+3,MLR+5 5,922  -  -  5,922 

Liabilities from terminated 

rehabilitation plan and 

compromise 

 

 

0.5 – 7.5 234  -  -  234 

Other current liabilities 7.5 3  -  -  3 

Total  8,701  1,086  -  9,787 
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Foreign currency risk 

 

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk relating to purchases and sales which are denominated 

in foreign currencies. 
 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group was exposed to foreign currency risk in respect of financial 

assets and liabilities denominated in the following currencies: 
 

  Consolidated   Separate  

  financial statements  financial statements 

 Note 2019  2018  2019  2018 

  (in million Baht) 

United States Dollars         

Cash and cash equivalents 7 19  5  1  1 

Trade accounts receivable 8 94  101  94  101 

Other current assets 10 105  116  96  80 

Bonds 18 (471)  (506)  (471)  (506) 

Trade accounts payable 20 (671)  (1,078)  (444)  (108) 

Loan from related parties 19 (2,789)  -  (1,727)  - 

Other payables and accrued expenses 21 (1,250)  (4,327)  (1,230)  (4,255) 

Accrued interest expenses 23 (321)  (4,760)  (242)  (4,679) 

Other current liabilities 25 (32)  (34)  (23)  (24) 

Liabilities from terminated 

rehabilitation plan and compromise 26 (84)  (90)  -  - 

Gross exposure in statements of          

  financial position  (5,400)  (10,573)  (3,946)  9,390 

Estimated forecast purchases  (1,062)  (1,192)  (841)  - 

Gross exposure   (6,462)  (11,765)  (4,787)  (9,390) 

         

Others         

Other current assets 10 51  26  16  8 

Trade accounts payable 20 (47)  (34)  (33)  (34) 

Other payables and accrued expenses 21 (3)  (11)  -  - 

Accrued interest expenses 23 (38)  (30)  (24)  (24) 

Other current liabilities 25 (2)  (3)  -  - 

Liabilities from terminated 

rehabilitation plan and compromise 26 (11)  (12)  -  - 

Gross exposure in statements of          

financial position  (50)  (64)  (41)  (43) 

Estimated forecast purchases  (1,239)  (330)  -  - 

Gross exposure  (1,289)  (394)  (41)  (43) 

 

Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or counterparty to 

settle its financial and contractual obligations to the Group as and when they fall due. 
 

At the reporting date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. Due to the normal credit 

term granted by the Group and the Company are by cash and not over 5-7 working date (as described 

in note 8 to the financial statements) 
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carry amount of each financial asset in the 

statement of financial position. 
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Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk arises from the difficulty in mobilising funds for timely and adequately meeting of 

commitments under financial obligations. Liquidity risk may arise from failure to sell financial assets 

at a price close to the fair value.  
 

The Group and the Company have liquidity risk as the Group and Company need to generate sufficient 

operating cash flows to meet both their working capital requirements and their operating obligations, 

including obligations under negotiated compromise agreements and the rehabilitation plan. 

 

Determination of fair values 
 

A number of the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the 

determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.  The fair value 

is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 

willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  Fair values have been determined for measurement 

and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods.  When applicable, further information 

about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or 

liability. 
 

The fair value of trade and other short-term receivables is taken to approximate the carrying value. 
 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is close to the carrying value in the statements of 

financial positions as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. 

 

Maturities of financial assets and liabilities 
 

Details of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities have been provided in the relevant notes to 

the financial statements. 

 

 

44  Commitments with non-related parties  
 

44.1 Commitments 
 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 financial statements  financial statements 

        

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

        

 (in million Baht) 

Capital commitment        
        

Purchase Assets 135  133  26  26 
        

Lease and service agreement        

  commitments        

Within one year 13  9  6  3 

After one year but within five years 14  4  9  - 

Total 27  13  15  3 
        

Other commitments        
        

Bank guarantees 170  179  -  - 
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44.2 Lease and service agreements commitments 
 

  The Company 
 

a) The Company has entered into agreements for the provision of raw materials, raw water 

and water supply management. The Company is to pay service fees related to raw materials 

management, raw water and water supply management based on the quantity used. 
 

b) The Company has entered into agreements to purchase natural gas. The Company is 

required to pay service fees under these agreements at variable rates based on the quantity 

of gas consumed. 
 

c) On 1 January 1999, the Company entered into a twenty-year take-or-pay agreement to 

purchase oxygen, argon and nitrogen. Minimum payments under the agreement amount to 

approximately Baht 9.5 million per month. 

 

 Consolidated  Separate 

 financial statements  financial statements 

        

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

        

 (in million Baht) 

Long-term agreement        

  commitments of the Company        

Within one year 71  99  -  28 

After one year but within five years 271  282  -  - 
After five years 6  59  -  - 
Total 342  440  -  28 

        
 

d) On 26 October 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the Company’s entry 

into the “Energy Service Agreement” with an electricity supply company, and later 

amended and restated the contract on 19 August 2008, in order to have an alternate source 

of electricity supply.  Electricity is the primary utility input in the Company’s flat rolled 

coil production process. Details of the Energy Service Agreement are as follows: 
 

• The term of the agreement is 25 years from the substantial completion date. The 

Company started commercial use of electricity from this supply company in 

January 2011. 

• The capacity for the electricity supply under the agreement is 70 MW at 230KV. 

• The purchase price, computed from the combined factors of the capacity charge 

and the energy charge, is directly proportionate to the Thai Baht - USD exchange 

rate and market price of natural gas. 

• The contract contains a minimum “Take or Pay” clause. 

• The Company is subject to a substation and transmission facilities fee of Baht 0.8 

million each month for 120 months starting from the substantial completion date. 

• The Company needs to provide payment security of at least Baht 270 million. 
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On 1 April 2014, the Company enters into the Interim Power Purchase Agreement with the 

electricity supply company to temporary replace the 19 August 2008 contract. Summary of 

the contract are as follow: 

• Agreement shall continue in force and effect for a period of six months and may be 

extended for one additional period of six months 

• All expenses referring to the previous contract will be suspended and temporarily 

cease to have effect and all electricity charges that may be imposed by PEA will be 

charged by the electricity supply company 

• The Company shall make a deposit with the electricity supply company a payment 

security in the amount of Baht 40 million 

The company has to comply with the temporary Power Purchase Agreement date April 1, 

2014 . 

On 16 July 2015, the Company enters into an amended and restated energy services 

agreement (“ESA”) with the electricity supply company in order to replace the previous 

ESA dated 19 August 2008. Details of the Energy Service Agreement are summarize as 

follows: 

the agreement shall continue in effect until the earliest of 29 December 2035 and a 

termination of the agreement by mutual agreement 

• all electricity charges that may be imposed by PEA will be charged by the 

electricity supply company 

• the contract contains a minimum “Take or Pay” clause 

• the Company needs to provide payment security of Baht 60 million 

• “Take or Pay” and payment security shall not apply during the period of one year 

from the effective date 

 

On 16 September 2016, the Company has a memorandum that “Take or pay” and payment 

security shall not apply is extended for a further period from 17 July 2016 to 31 December 

2016. This extension shall be extended automatically on a rolling 3 months basis for a 

maximum of 3 extensions and is automatically terminated immediately upon any default of 

payment. 

e) On 3 April 2019, the Company entered into Financial Advisory Services Agreement with 

SSG Capital Management (Mauritius) Limited (the Advisor), the Advisor shall make 

available to the Company an experienced advisory team to review the Company’s financial 

and business performance on a monthly basis or more regularly as the Advisor may deem 

appropriate. The Advisor shall ensure that the advisory team will deal with and advise on 

any major issues or crises that may arise concerning the management and financial 

performance of the Business and recommend any steps needed to be taken by the Company 

to rectify any instances of cash or credit liquidity shortfall. The Company shall pay to 

Advisor a recurring fee equal to 1.5% of its operating revenues. This agreement shall 

expire on the earlier to occur of (i) the fifth anniversary of the commencement date, or (ii) 

the date upon which the Company has first paid down its indebtedness in an amount, in 

aggregate, at least equal to USD 30 million. 
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f)  On 12 May 2017, the Company entered into agreement for business advisory and review 

with the foreign company for consultancy service in aspect of the capacity utilization 

efficiency, EBITDA and maximized the cash flow with a monthly service fee of USD 

41,667. This agreement has not specified the termination period but the Company can 

cancel this agreement with the prior written consent from the lender, or the Company can 

terminate this agreement with immediate effect if requested by the lender in writing to the 

Company and the Advisor, or this agreement can be terminated upon the discharge of all 

the obligations of the Company under the Credit Agreement to be satisfaction of the lender. 
 

On 8 January 2020, the Company has made a letter of termination of the business advisory 

and review agreement to the lender and business advisory company, which will be effective 

on 1 January 2020 onwards. 

 

g)  On 1 June 2019, the Company entered into a Service Agreement with a company to render 

service for Slag Handling and Processed Scrap. Contract period is 5 years. The service fee 

is as follow; 

1.  Processed Scrap from Slag Baht 2,700 per ton of Scrap 

2.  Slag Handling Fee Baht 84 per ton of Hot Rolled Coil production 
 

The price of Slag Handling services and Processed Scrap are reviewed and adjusted every 

twelve months.  

 

Slag waste management services from such agreement for the year ended 31 December 

2019 in amount of Baht 29 million was included in the statement of income. 

 

 

G J Steel 
 

a) G J Steel entered into agreement to purchase natural gas. This agreement is effective on 1 

July 2006 and is terminated after the Company has purchased natural gas for ten years 

since supplier has already transferred and the Company has already received natural gas. 

Natural gas rate depend on monthly charges based on consumption. Subsequently, on    

1 February 2017, it was renewed for another 2 years. it has been renewed for another 2 

years. On 1 July 2019, it is extend for another 5 years.  

 

b) On 1 November 2004, G J Steel entered into a twenty-years take-or-pay agreement to 

purchase oxygen, argon and nitrogen. Minimum payments under the agreement amount to 

approximately Baht 6 million per month. 
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 Consolidated 

 financial statements 

    

 2019  2018 

    

 (in million Baht) 

Long-term agreement commitments of G J Steel  

Within one year 71  71 

After one year but within five years 271  282 

After five years -  59 

Total 342  412 

 

c) On 20 January 2017, G J Steel entered into agreement for business advisory and review 

with the foreign company for consultancy service in aspect of the capacity utilization 

efficiency, EBITDA and maximized the cash flow with a monthly service fee of USD 

41,667. This agreement has not specified the termination period but G J Steel can cancel 

this agreement with immediate effect if given in a written. 
 

On 8 January 2020, G J Steel has made a letter of termination of the business advisory and 

review agreement to the lender and business advisory company, which will be effective on 

1 January 2020 onwards. 
 

d) On 1 May 2018, G J Steel entered into a service agreement for the transportation in the 

country from the company's factory to deliver products to customers, with two domestic 

companies, in a term of agreement for 3 years starting from May 2018, whereby the freight 

charge will be paid as specified in the contract  

 

Service fee from such agreements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 in the 

amount of Baht 152 million and 187 million, respectively, which have been included in the 

income statement. 

 

e) On 1 August 2018, G J Steel entered into agreement for slag waste management service 

arising which resulting from steelmaking and casting to recover ferrous scrap with the local 

company with term of agreement for 7 years commencing from August 2018 and shall be 

automatically renewed for further periods of one year unless written notice of its intention 

not to renew this agreement at least 6 months prior to the expiry of this agreement which 

must pay the waste management service fee as specified in the contract. 
 

Slag waste management services from such agreement for the year ended 31 December 

2019 and 2018 in amount of Baht 73 million and Baht 48 million was included in the 

statement of income. 
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44.3 Raw material purchase orders 
 

The Company 
 

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had outstanding purchase orders for raw materials that 

have not been delivered to the Company totaling Baht 953 million (31 December 2018 : Baht 

211 million ).  
 

Formerly the Company has estimated the provision for loss in respect of outstanding purchase 

orders for raw materials that have not been delivered based on comparison with the economic 

benefits expected to be received in the form of estimated sales prices and the conversion costs 

of finished products and estimated (as described in note 24 to the financial statements). 
 

 

Formerly the Company has agreements to purchase raw materials from various suppliers by 

utilize the credit facility of the Supporting Customer 1 under consignment agreements, which 

the ownership of unreleased raw material belongs to the suppliers. G J Steel has to pay 

interest at the rate that the bank, charges to the Supporting Customer 1 at the rate of 3.12 - 

3.38 per annum on the accrual balance on the credit facility (LC) (31 December 2018 : 1.5 - 

3.0 per annum). 
 

G J Steel 
 

As at 31 December 2019, G J STEEL had outstanding purchase orders for raw materials that 

have not been delivered to G J STEEL totalling Baht 819 million (31 December 2018: Baht 

1,333 million). G J STEEL has recorded the provision for loss in respect of outstanding 

purchase orders for raw materials that have not been delivered amount of Baht 19 million  

(31 December 2018: Baht 40 million) based on comparison with the economic benefits 

expected to be received in the form of estimated sales prices and the conversion costs of 

finished products, there was loss to be recognized in the statement of income for the year 

ended 31 December 2018 amount of Baht 40 million and loss amount of Baht 21 million had 

been reversed in the statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2019 (as described 

in note 24 to the financial statements). 
 

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had agreements to purchase raw materials with 

various suppliers under consignment agreements, under which the ownership of unreleased 

raw material belongs to the suppliers. The Company has to pay interest of 3 - 6% per annum 

on the unreleased raw materials in addition to the payables balance (31 December 2018: 3 - 

6% per annum). 
 

44.4 Customer advances 
 

As of 31 December 2019, the Company had advances received from customers totaling Baht 

111 million (31 December 2018: Baht 10 million) and had the obligation to deliver goods to 

the customers in the future. G J Steel had similar advances received totaling Baht 20 million 

as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: Baht 33 million).  

 

44.5 Financial advisory agreement 

The Company 

 The Company entered into an agreement with an advisor for debt refinancing and fund-raising 

process. The fees paid by the Company are payable based on the rate specified in the 

agreement 
  

G J Steel 
 

G J Steel has entered into a financial advisory agreement with third party for advice on 

sourcing additional credit facilities and refinancing existing debt from financial institutions. 

The fees paid by G J Steel are payable based on the rate specified in the agreement. 
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45  Litigation 
 

The Company and G J Steel have complaint cases as follows : 
 

The Company 
 

Case No. 1 
 

On 3 November 2017, a debt creditor has filed a case to the Bangkok South Civil Court requests the 

Company to repay outstanding debts totaling Baht 988.06 Million; divided into principal of Baht 

868.51 Million, and interest rate at 8.0% per annum of principal from default date till the filling date 

of Baht 119.55 Million. Currently, it is pending at South Civil Court. 
 

Subsequently, on 5 February 2018, the court ordered to suspend the trial and appoint litigant to hear 

the result of rehabilitation case of the Company. 
 

On 4 February 2019, defensive lawyer proclaim to the Court that the case which defendant submit for 

rehabilitation plan to the Central Bankruptcy Court, the Court hereby ordered the petition to be 

dismissed. Therefore, this case has to be processed at the preceding court as it was.  
 

And on 14 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which define the 

Company to pay only principal Baht 868.51 million by way of debt to equity conversion within 31 

December 2019. If the Company cannot convert debt to equity, the Company has to pay in 108 

monthly installments at the amount of Baht 8.04 million each. First installment will be at the end of 

July 2020 until final installment at the end of June 2029. 
 

And in the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 2/2019 on 11 October 2019, the 

meeting has approved the Debt to Equity Conversion Scheme by the allocation and offering of the 

newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company with the same offering price to other creditors totaling 8 

creditors in order to repay the debt which will be converted to the equity. The Company will complete 

this within the 4th quarter of 2019.    
 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with Department of 

Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019. (as described in note 28 to the 

financial statements) 

 

Case No. 2 
 

On 26 February 2019, a creditor filed petition to the Bangkok South Civil Court requesting the 

Company to pay outstanding debt amounted to Baht 8.06 million with the principal amount of Baht 6 

million together with interest at the rate of 8.0% per annum from the default date until the date of 

filing amounted to Baht 2.06 million. 
 

Subsequently, on 5 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which 

define the Company to pay only principal Baht 6 million in 36 monthly installments at the amount of 

Baht 0.17 million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 until final installment at the 

end of April 2024. 
 

On 31 July 2019, the Company entered into a compromise agreement to convert principal Baht 6 

million into ordinary share of the Company with the same price for major creditors and the Company 

will propose to the 2nd /2019 EGM of the Company for approval of debt to equity conversion 

program. However, if the debt to equity conversion is not success, the Company will pay in 36 

monthly installments at the amount of   Baht 0.17 million each. First installment will be at the end of 

May 2021 until final installment at the end of April 2024. 
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And in the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 2/2019 on 11 October 2019, the 

meeting has approved the Debt to Equity Conversion Scheme by the allocation and offering of the 

newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company with the same offering price to other creditors totaling 8 

creditors in order to repay the debt which will be converted to the equity. The Company will complete 

this within the 4th quarter of 2019.    
 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with Department of 

Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019. (as described in note 28 to the 

financial statements) 

 

Case No.3 
 

On 6 March 2019, a debt creditor has filed a case to the South Civil Court requests the Company to 

repay outstanding debts totaling Baht 41.79 Million; divided into principal of Baht 30 Million, and 

interest rate at 12.0% per annum of principal till the filing date of Baht 12 Million from the default 

date until the date of filing amounted to Baht 11.79 million.   
 

Subsequently, on 6 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which 

define the Company to pay principal Baht 30 million and interest Baht 5 million in 36 monthly 

installments at the amount of Baht 0.83 million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 

until final installment at the end of April 2024. 
 

Case No.4 
 

On 6 March 2019, a debt creditor has filed a case to the South Civil Court requests the Company to 

repay outstanding debts totaling Baht 33.55 Million; divided into principal of Baht 15 Million, and 

interest rate at 15.00% per annum of principal from the default date until the date of filing amounted to 

Baht 18.55 million.    
 

Subsequently, on 6 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which 

define the Company to pay only principal Baht 15 million in 36 monthly installments at the amount of 

Baht 0.42 million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 until final installment at the 

end of April 2024. 
 

On 31 July 2019, the Company entered into a compromise agreement to convert principal Baht 15 

million into ordinary share of the Company with the same price for major creditors and the Company 

will propose to the 2nd /2019 EGM of the Company for approval of debt to equity conversion 

program. However, if the debt to equity conversion is not success, the Company will pay in 36 

monthly installments at the amount of   Baht 0.42 million each. First installment will be at the end of 

May 2021 until final installment at the end of April 2024. 

  
And in the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 2/2019 on 11 October 2019, the 

meeting has approved the Debt to Equity Conversion Scheme by the allocation and offering of the 

newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company with the same offering price to other creditors totaling 8 

creditors in order to repay the debt which will be converted to the equity. The Company will complete 

this within the 4th quarter of 2019.    
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The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with Department of 

Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019. (as described in note 28 to the 

financial statements) 

 

Case No.5 
 

On 26 February 2019, a debt creditor has filed a case to the South Civil Court requests the Company 

to repay outstanding debts totaling Baht 13.57 Million; divided into principal of Baht 10 Million, and 

interest rate at 8.0% per annum of principal from the default date until the date of filing amounted to 

Baht 3.57 million.  
 

Subsequently, on 5 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which 

define the Company to pay only principal Baht 10 million in 36 monthly installments at the amount of 

Baht 0.28 million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 until final installment at the 

end of April 2024. 

 

On 31 July 2019, the Company entered into a compromise agreement to convert principal Baht 10 

million into ordinary share of the Company with the same price for major creditors and the Company 

will propose to the 2nd /2019 EGM of the Company for approval of debt to equity conversion 

program. However, if the debt to equity conversion is not success, the Company will pay in 36 

monthly installments at the amount of   Baht 0.28 million each. First installment will be at the end of 

May 2021 until final installment at the end of April 2024. 

 

And in the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 2/2019 on 11 October 2019, the 

meeting has approved the Debt to Equity Conversion Scheme by the allocation and offering of the 

newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company with the same offering price to other creditors totaling 8 

creditors in order to repay the debt which will be converted to the equity. The Company will complete 

this within the 4th quarter of 2019.    
 

The Company allocates the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under the Debt-to-Equity 

Conversion Scheme to the creditor and registered the additional paid-up capital with Department of 

Business Development, Ministry of Commerce on 2 December 2019. (as described in note 28 to the 

financial statements) 

 

Case No.6 
 

On 12 March 2019, a debt creditor has filed a case to the South Civil Court requests the Company to 

repay outstanding debts totaling Baht 27.78 Million; divided into principal of Baht 25.52 Million, and 

interest rate at 7.75% per annum of principal from the default date until the date of filing amounted to 

Baht 2.26 million Which during consider of the South Bangkok Civil Court. 
 

Subsequently, on 4 June 2019, the Court has the judgment as per the compromise agreement which 

define the Company to pay only principal Baht 25.52 million in 36 monthly installments at the amount 

of Baht 0.71 million each. First installment will be at the end of May 2021 until final installment at the 

end of April 2024. 
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Case No.7 

 

On 24 July 2019, Provincial Electricity Authority, a payable, files a civil lawsuit in connection with 

bankruptcy case to the Central Bankruptcy Court requesting the court to have a judgment for the 

Company to repay the debt as per the rehabilitation plan. The Company shall pay the 16th installment 

amounted to Baht 207.84 million which was due on 18 June 2018 and the defaulted interest 0.5% as 

stipulate in the rehabilitation plan of the outstanding debt from the date 19 June 2018 until the filing 

date 24 July 2019 amounted to Baht 1.14 million, totaling Baht 208.98 million together with defaulted 

interest 0.5% from the filing date until the payment was made in full. 

 

On 25 February 2020, the court issued a judgment allowing the compromise agreement to deduct the 

remaining electricity deposit in the amount of Baht 23.89 million. from the principal amount of 209.59 

million baht on the date of this agreement Outstanding balance of 185.70 million baht agreed  to pay 

back 36 installments. Each installment is paid at 5.19 million baht and the 36th installment is the last 

installment, with 5.16 million baht being paid. The first installment payment starts at the end of July 

2020 onwards and the next installment is paid at the end of every month until the last installment at the 

end of June 2023. 

 

G J Steel 
 

45.1 One supplier filed a complaint against G J Steel for breach of the rehabilitation plan, with the 

litigation amount of Baht 1 million together with interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum from the date 

of filing G J Steel until the date of full repayment are on the Court process. 

 

45.2 A former employee filed a G J Steel to the Central Labour Court against G J Steel for the unfair lay-

off effective from 10 December 2019 and requested the Company to pay him Baht 23 million. The 

Court ordered G J Steel of the defendant's witness examination and the plaintiff witness on 1 and 2 

April 2020, respectively. 
  

46  Contingent liabilities 
 

OAC 
 

On 28 June 2016, OAC received the notice to pay tax liabilities from the Revenue Department. Then 

OAC has issued a requested letter dated 12 July 2016, to the Revenue Department for attenuation of 

tax payment. 
 

Later, on 23 August 2016, the Revenue Department reply that OAC cannot extend for tax payment. 
 

On 7 January 2019, Area Revenue issued notice letter reminding OAC to pay overdue tax liabilities. 

OAC has meeting with the officer at the Area Revenue but not yet has final conclusion. 
 

On 17 October 2019, Revenue Department files a bankruptcy case of OAC, as a defendant, to the 

Central Bankruptcy Court according to the outstanding tax liabilities as per the plaint totaling Baht 

174.92 million. The trial at the Central Bankruptcy Court will be held on 13 January 2020.   

 

On January 13, 2020, the Central Bankruptcy Court ordered absolute receivership. In Oriental Access 

Company Limited. 
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47  Events after the reporting period 
 

47.1  As described in note 44 to the financial statements, on 8 January 2020, the Company and G J 

Steel have made a letter of termination of the business advisory and review agreement to the 

lender and business advisory company, which will be effective on 1 January 2020 onwards. As 

present, the contract is waiting for signing. 
 

47.2  As described in note 21 to the financial statements, on 10 January 2020, the Company entered 

into Memorandum of temporary suspension of installment payment with an electricity supply 

company of which a temporary extension of time to make the 1st installment payment and the 

rest of them for 7 months commencing from 15 December 2019. The first installment Baht 3 

million will be divided into 2 amounts for Baht 1.5 million each and will be repay on 15 June 

and 15 July 2020. The rest of installments will be repaid as follow; 
 

 2nd - 12th at the amount of Baht 3 million each from July to December 2020   

 13th - 26th at the amount of Baht 5 million each from January to July 2021 

 27th - 32nd at the amount of Baht 7 million each from August to October 2021  

 33th  at the amount of Baht 8.14 million in November 2021 
 

47.3  As described in note 45 to the financial statements Case no.7, on 25 February 2020, the Court 

issued a judgment allowing the compromise agreement to deduct the remaining electricity 

deposit in the amount of Baht 23.89 million. from the principal amount of 209.59 million baht 

on the date of this agreement Outstanding balance of 185.70 million baht agreed to pay back 36 

installments. Each installment is paid at 5.19 million baht and the 36th installment is the last 

installment, with 5.16 million baht being paid. The first installment payment starts at the end of 

July 2020 onwards and the next installment is paid at the end of every month until the last 

installment at the end of June 2023. 
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